
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Scrutiny Commission  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Monday, 27 January 2020 at 10.30 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mrs R Whitelaw (Tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: rosemary.whitelaw@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. S. J. Galton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 

Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2020/21 - 2023/24.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 15 - 54) 

 Mr. N. J. Rushton CC, the Leader of the Council, and Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC, the 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Lead Member for Finance and Resources, have been 
invited to attend for the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) items. 
 

 

9.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 
2023/24 - Chief Executive's Department.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 55 - 68) 

10.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 
2023/24 - Corporate Resources Department.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 69 - 86) 

11.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 
2023/24 - Consideration of Responses from 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  
 

 
 

 

 The purpose of this item is to enable consideration of the responses of the following 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees to their respective areas of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy: 
  
 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 15 January) 
 Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 16 

January) 
 Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 20 January) 
 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 21 January). 
 

 

12.  
  

Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 
2019 - 2020.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 87 - 140) 

13.  
  

HS2 through Leicestershire.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 141 - 
160) 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Commission is scheduled to take place on 
11 March 2020 at 10.30am. 
 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny Commission held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Wednesday, 6 November 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. S. J. Galton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
 

 
43. Question Time.  

 
The Chief Executive reported that questions had been received under Standing Order 35. 
 
Mr Stott asked the following question of the Chairman of the Commission:- 
 

‘Given the significant effect that proposals in the Strategic Growth Plan will have on 
climate change, will the County Council and its partners review this plan urgently in the 
light of the declaration of a Climate Change Emergency by the County, City and 
Leicestershire Local Authorities and the UK wide commitment to achieve zero emissions 
by 2050? What steps will the County Council undertake to put such a review in place?’ 
 
The Chairman replied as follows:- 
 
‘Although a climate emergency has recently been declared, climate change is not a new 
issue to spatial planning.  It has been embedded at the heart of national planning policy 
and spatial planning for many years and was fully considered and taken into account 
during the preparation of the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP).  The Sustainability Appraisal 
that informs the strategy identified climate change as a key issue and assessed 
alternative growth options from a climate change perspective. 
 
In preparing the SGP partners have sought to address the climate change challenge.  
The SGP is predicted to have a minor positive effect overall, reflecting a potential 
reduction in emissions by directing growth away from rural areas, and a continued focus 
on accessible locations such as the City and market towns, and locating housing in close 
proximity to major economic growth opportunities.  However, though trip lengths may be 
shortened, the private car would be likely to remain the dominant mode of travel, and so 
the benefits would be offset somewhat. 
 
The Members’ Advisory Group (MAG) will decide in due course when the SGP needs to 
be reviewed.’ 
 
Mr Stott asked the following supplementary question:- 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

2 

Given that the Council has declared a Climate Emergency could I be advised when a 
review of the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) will be undertaken and will there be 
consultation? 
 
The Chairman and officers replied to the effect that the County Council was one of ten 
constituent authorities on the Member Advisory Group (MAG) and as the answer stated 
the decision to review the SGP is a matter for the MAG. The SGP had only recently been 
approved some ten months ago and the focus is currently on delivery. It was also pointed 
out that climate change impacts and mitigations will feature in local development plans. 
The County Council is in the process of reviewing its Strategic Plan and Environment 
Strategy in the light of the climate change declaration and reports will be submitted to the 
Cabinet and Scrutiny bodies in the new year. 
 

44. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

45. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

46. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
All members of the Commission who were also members of a district or parish council 
declared a personal interest in Item 13 on the agenda – A Vision for Local Government in 
Leicestershire (minute 55 refers). 
 
Mrs R Page CC declared a personal interest in Item 7 on the agenda as the proposed 
Lutterworth SDA was in her electoral division (minute 49 refers). 
 
Mr T Richardson CC declared a personal interest in Item 8 – Potential Strategic 
Development Area – M69 Junction 2 as he was on the Member Advisory Group (MAG) in 
his capacity as Leader of Blaby District Council (minute 50 refers). 
 
Mr G A Boulter CC and Mr D Harrison CC declared a personal interest in Item 12 - 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Services Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 -2024 
as they were both members of the Combined Fire Authority (minute 54 refers). 
 
 

47. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

48. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

6



 
 

 

3 

49. Delivering Growth in Leicestershire - East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area and 
other Development Projects.  
 
The Commission considered a joint report of the Director of Corporate Resources and 
Chief Executive concerning the outcome of work undertaken to identify the Council’s 
objectives for the East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area (SDA) and assess the 
potential options available for the delivery of the scheme which could also be applied to 
other development projects on County Council sites. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Mr N J Rushton CC, Leader of the Council, Jon 
Bennett Head of Strategic Property, Simon Lawrence Head of the Growth Unit and Major 
Programmes along with Andy Pack and Saheeda Bowmer for 31ten Consulting and 
Matthew Watters for Bevan Brittan. 
 
The Leader and Jon Bennett introduced the report and advised members that the County 
Council had now acquired all of the land. The aim was to ensure that the County Council 
could have a major influence on the type of development, the aim being to have an 
exemplar development which was aspirational in terms of housing type and design whilst 
still delivering a return on investment.  
 
Andy Pack of 31ten Consulting updated members on the work his team had undertaken 
both in terms of defining the objectives of the development but also considering the best 
means of delivering. He and his team had assisted a number of other authorities with 
similar schemes and stated given that the County Council was the sole owner of all the 
land it put the Council in a strong position in terms of engaging with the market and 
retaining a significant influence of the design of the development. 
 
With regard to the delivery options appraisal, members were advised that the preferred 
model was a 50/50 Joint Venture partnership with a strategic partner.  This partnership 
would operate the development over the long term. A 50/50 partnership was suggested 
so that the Council could ensure, through its involvement, that the development had 
regard to the aims and objectives, which were in line with the Council’s strategic 
objectives, over the life of the development. 
 
In response to questions members were advised: 
 

(i) The 40% affordable housing would be of mixed tenure. Through the Joint Venture 
Partnership, the Council would be able to ensure that this objective was continued 
through the life of the Scheme. As part of the procurement and delivery approach, 
consideration would be given to a range of housing options and to the 
establishment of a housing company to manage the social housing to overcome 
issues with right to buy. 
 

(ii) The need for social care housing was being looked at in terms of sheltered 
housing and designing homes for life, as well as other initiatives. 

 
(iii) The Local Authority Accelerated (LAAC) Fund had provided £8million for the 

development and a part of the conditions for this fund was that the first 650 houses 
had to be built using new design and construction methods. As part of this there 
would be an exploration of modular builds and other design and construction 
techniques. 

 

7



 
 

 

4 

(iv) Community engagement had been a key consideration and there had been 
extensive consultation with the parish council and local groups in the area. There 
was no requirement to build a new secondary school in the development.  This 
would strengthen the interaction between the new Strategic Development Area 
and the existing town. 

 
(v) The location of warehousing close to the M1 had been determined at the Local 

Plan stage and was was aimed at ensuring that logistics freight would not 
adversely impact on the development or the existing town centre. 

 
(vi) Green infrastructure would be owned and maintained by the Joint Venture and this 

could involve use of Community Land Trusts. With regard to low carbon living 
there would be no mains gas to the site and options such as solar energy and 
ground source heating were being explored. 

 
(vii) The Council was still waiting to hear the outcome of the HIF bid which, if 

successful, would contribute £31 million towards the cost of the spine road. The 
announcement on this was not expected until January/February 2020. Even 
without the HIF money the development would be viable but there would be a 
lower return and could necessitate some changes in the weighting of the 
objectives. The development would also take longer to complete. 

 
(viii) The Council would need to use the OJEU procurement process. As part of this 

process there would be a dialogue with potential partners when their track record 
to deliver would be explored. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted and the Cabinet be advised that the Commission: 
 

a) Supports the proposed approach now outlined; 
 

b) Welcomes the proposals for 40% affordable housing and for the ambition of the 
development being carbon friendly; 

 
c) Supports the outcome of the Options Appraisal and Soft Market Testing which had 

concluded that a Joint Venture with a strategic partner to enable, develop and 
operate the site offered the best chance of delivering to the objectives of the 
Scheme; 

 
d) Notes that the proposed approach is a departure from previous practice and 

therefore carries additional financial risks but is of the view that these additional 
risks will be outweighed by the rewards particularly to the reputation of the Council 
from delivering a successful exemplar project. 

 
50. Potential Strategic Development Area - M69 Junction 2.  

 
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources concerning 
the potential development of a Strategic Development Area (SDA) adjoining junction 2 of 
the M69 to the west of Sapcote and Stoney Stanton and to consider the Council’s 
involvement in the delivery of the SDA. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is 
filed with these minutes. 
 

8



 
 

 

5 

Members were advised that the proposed SDA involved some 900 acres and the County 
Council owned approximately 150 acres of land. The County Council had also applied for 
HIF funding of £19 million to help with infrastructure. 
 
With regard to the role of the Council in the SDA, members were advised that the report 
to the Cabinet in January 2020 would seek a view on the approach to be adopted. The 
County Council was aware of significant developer interest in this area and as such 
would look at a range of options from working with other developers to develop the site 
through to seeking to buy out other landowners and developing the site through a Joint 
Venture, similar to the Lutterworth East development. No decision had yet been made. 
 
Arising from questions and concerns raised members were advised as follows: 
 

(i) The County Council was not the promoter of the SDA, rather it was responding to 
the call by Blaby District Council for potential sites to be identified as part of their 
local plan process. 
 

(ii) The promoters of the Hinckley Strategic Rail Freight Interchange were undertaking 
consultation as they were in the process of applying for planning permission.  

 
(iii) Blaby District Council, as part of the process of developing its local plan, would 

undertake extensive consultation on this and other potential development sites. 
The Blaby Local Plan was not due for adoption until 2022 so such consultation 
was some way away. The County Council had engaged with the local member and 
local parish councils. 

 
(iv) Future reports would note the ambition in the Blaby Local Plan for Garden 

Villages/Towns. In this regard the County Council owned land could be useful in 
protecting and providing a green space between any new development and the 
villages of Sapcote and Stoney Stanton. 
 

(v) The concern about local employment opportunities and the fit with the type and 
cost of housing involved would need to be taken into account in the local plan 
process. 

 
(vi) The County Council actively managed all of its property assets. Given the different 

timescales for district local plans it was not possible to take a holistic view of how 
the Council’s property assets could contribute to the strategic growth, a task which 
would be much easier if there was a Unitary Council with a Countywide Structure 
Plan. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the potential development of a Strategic Development Area (SDA) adjoining 
junction 2 of the M69 to the west of Sapcote and Stoney Stanton be noted; 
 

(b) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at its 
meeting on 14 January 2020. 

 
 

51. Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Monitoring - Period 6.  
 

9



 
 

 

6 

The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided an update on the key issues impacting on the revenue budget, the capital 
programme and on earmarked funds. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
The Director of Corporate Resources highlighted the following as the key pressures and 
the implications for the Council budget: 
 

(i) Placement costs were increasing due to increasing complexity of the cases 

involved. There were also inflationary and staffing pressures on the residential 

care sector. This had resulted in an overspend of £6million and the indications 

were that this would likely continue. 

 

(ii) There were on-going discussions with the Schools Forum seeking agreement for 

the potential transfer of £2 million from school budgets to the High Needs Block. If 

agreement was not forthcoming, given the pressures, the High Needs Block would 

continue to overspend. 

 

(iii) Whilst there had been a modest increase in the resources made available to 

Councils to support Asylum Seekers this fell well short of actual expenditure 

incurred.  

 

(iv) The commitments being made by various political parties about raising the 

minimum wage could add funding pressures of between £6 to £20 million over the 

next four years. 

 

(v) Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) transport demands were 

increasing. The County Council capital investment of £30 million to increase SEND 

capacity in schools would help ease the pressure but the budget was forecast to 

overspend. The County Council had a statutory responsibility to provide SEND 

transport for those aged 5 – 16 and could not insist on parents who had vehicles 

provided under the Motability scheme to use their vehicles to transport their 

children to school. 

 

(vi) The shortfall in capital receipts in the current year would mean some slippage in 

the capital programme. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That 2019/20 revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position be noted. 
 

52. Leicestershire Community Safety Strategy 2019 - 2021.  
 
The Commission considered a report from the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the duties placed on the County Council and other named statutory bodies in 
relation to crime and disorder and seeking views on a draft Leicestershire Community 
Safety Strategy. A copy of the report marked Agenda Item 10 is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members welcomed the information provided in the report on the roles and 
responsibilities of the various bodies involved. Arising from the discussion and question 
raised the following points were made: 
 

10



 
 

 

7 

(i) The Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Family Services was the County 
Council representative on the Police and Crime Panel and was able to take up 
issues at the Panel meeting with the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). The 
Panel could not scrutinise the work of the Chief Constable as that was the 
responsibility of the PCC. 
 

(ii) Since 2012 the funding for District Council Community Safety Partnership activity 
had been with the PCC who was responsible for allocating resources and 
establishing priorities. 

 
(iii) The district-based Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) were independent of 

the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB) but there was 
good co-operation between organisations. The LSCSB had its own responsibilities 
and its priorities were set out on page 106 of the document pack. The LSCSB also 
had specific responsibilities relating to Child Sexual Exploitation and Serious 
Organised Crime. 
 

(iv) The knife crime project had only recently commenced and it was too early to draw 
conclusions. A report on the impact of the project would be made in twelve 
months’ time. 
 

With regard to the consultation on the Community Safety Strategy, members were 
advised that their comments were being sought and that the outcome of the consultation 
and revised Strategy would be reported to the Cabinet in December. Some members 
expressed concern that the Commission would not have the opportunity to consider the 
outcome of the consultation before it was considered by the Cabinet. The Chairman 
stated that it was not always possible to consider every matter going to the Cabinet and 
advised that a copy of the report to be submitted to the Cabinet would be circulated to all 
members of the Commission and they would then have the opportunity to submit their 
views to the Cabinet. In relation to the draft Strategy no comments were made. The 
Chairman requested members to access the website if they wished to comment on the 
draft strategy. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the report be noted; 
 

(b) That members be asked to access the County Council’s website and submit 
comments on the draft Community Safety Strategy; 

 
(c) That the report to the Cabinet on the outcome of the consultation and refreshed 

Community Safety Strategy be circulated to all members of the Commission to 
enable members to respond directly to the Cabinet. 

 
53. Recommissioning of Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services.  

 
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services and 
Director of Public Health concerning the recommissioning work being undertaken for the 
future provision of Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 

The Director of Public Health explained that, given the paucity of performance 
information, there was a concurrent process being undertaken to obtain data to assess 
effectiveness whilst at the same time undertaking a needs assessment to inform the 

11



 
 

 

8 

recommissioning of the service. This was not an ideal position and the new contract 
would seek to ensure that appropriate key performance indicators were set and 
monitored by the County Council.  
 
Student Services at the three universities were not directly involved in the 
recommissioning but there was on-going dialogue with them so that they were aware of 
the new services available. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted and that a further report be submitted on the outcome of the 
consultation and the proposed model of service. 
 
[The meeting adjourned at 1.25pm and reconvened at 2.15pm] 
 

54. Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 - 2024.  
 
The Commission considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning the 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service draft Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020-24 
and a proposed response thereto. A copy of the report marked Agenda Item 12 is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed Callum Faint, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, to the meeting. 
 
In response to questions and concerns raised the Commission was advised as follows: 
 
(i) The work undertaken by Firefighters as First Responders was done on a voluntary 

basis in support of the Ambulance Service and should not be seen as a 
replacement for the Ambulance Service. 

 
(ii) Where a firefighter assisted or supported a member of the public with an emergency 

which was not directly related to the work of the Service they would be covered for 
insurance purposes so long as they had notified ‘Control’. 

 
(iii) Negotiations were underway with recognised Trade Unions on moving away from 

the current Day Crewing Plus duty system. The Fire Brigades Union was insisting 
that negotiations should be conducted at national and not at local level and the 
issue had now been referred to the Joint Secretaries. There were a significant 
number of firefighters who were working or willing to work to new arrangements and 
it was hoped agreement could be reached on a new duty system. 

 
(iv) Some firefighters and Unions remain concerned about the use of Tactical Fire 

Vehicles. These vehicles were introduced to supplement the existing fleet of Fire 
Engines and the current IRMP did not propose any reduction in the number of Fire 
Engines. Since the introduction of Tactical Fire Vehicles there had been an 
improvement in response times particularly in rural areas. 

 
(v) The recent estates review concluded that the current Fire Stations were in the right 

locations to serve the needs of the area. The estate was reviewed on a regular 
basis; these reviews took proposed developments into account. A number of Fire 
Stations required works to be undertaken and a new location was being sought for 
the training centre. It should be noted that the Estates review was separate to the 
IRMP. 

12



 
 

 

9 

 
(vi) Whilst there was no legal requirement to attend flooding incidents the Service would 

continue to do so. 
 
(vii) When fire engines were involved in an incident the Control room would redeploy 

resources based on a risk assessment to ensure cover. 
 
(viii) The Home Office was conducting a review of the specialist vehicles currently 

located at Southern Fire Station. These vehicles were part of the National 
Resilience Asset. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the report and information now provided be noted; 
 

b) That the Cabinet be advised that the Commission supports the proposed response 
to the draft Integrated Risk Management Plan as set out in the report. 

 
55. A Vision for Local Government in Leicestershire.  

 
The Commission considered a draft minute from the meeting held on 30 October which 
summarised its discussion on this matter. A copy of the draft minute is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
The members present at the meeting concurred that the draft minute was an accurate 
reflection of the discussion. 
 
Mr Richardson commented that the statement made by the Leader concerning the views 
of the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing and Local Government should reflect 
in full what was said. This was noted and the following was agreed for inclusion in the 
note to the Cabinet: 
 
‘Two tier local government does not feel like it has a long-term future and the mayoral 
model in conjunction with unitary councils is strongly preferred by government when 
considering devolution deals, the housing, communities and local government secretary 
has said’. 
 
In reply to a question the Leader stated that the letter sent to him by MPs was marked 
private and confidential and as such he would not be releasing the letter. He pointed out 
that the draft minute recorded the fact that the MPs opposed the proposals. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the comments made by the Commission be forwarded to the Cabinet for 
consideration. 
 

56. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Commission would be held on Monday 27 
January 2020 at 10.30am. 
 

13



 
 

 

10 

 
 

10.00 am - 3.17 pm CHAIRMAN 
06 November 2019 

14



 
 

  
SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 27 JANUARY 2020 

 
PROVISIONAL MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  

2020/21 - 2023/24 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 
 

a) Provide information on the proposed 2020/21 to 2023/24 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to Corporate and Central Items; 

 
b) Provide an update on changes to funding and other issues, arising since the 

publication of the draft MTFS; 
 
c) Provide details of the following strategies and policies: Capital Strategy, 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy, Earmarked Funds Policy, and 
Insurance Policy; 

 
d) Ask members of the Commission to consider any issues as part of the 

consultation process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet 
accordingly. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
2. On 17th December 2019 the Cabinet agreed the proposed MTFS, including the 

2020/21 revenue budget and 2020/21 to 2023/24 capital programme, for 
consultation.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny 
Commission will consider the proposals during January 2020. 

 
3. An update of the MTFS will be reported to the Cabinet 7 February 2020, and then 

to the County Council on 19th February 2020 to approve the MTFS including the 
2020/21 revenue budget and capital programme.  This will enable the 2020/21 
budget to be set before the statutory deadline of the end of February 2020. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

  
4. The MTFS is a rolling financial plan that is updated annually.  The current MTFS 

was approved by the County Council on 20th February 2019.  The County 
Council’s Strategic Plan (agreed by the Council on 6th December 2017) outlines 
the Council’s long-term vision for the organisation and the people and place of 

 

 

15 Agenda Item 8



 
 

Leicestershire.  The MTFS, along with other plans and strategies such as the 
Transformation Programme, aligns with and underpins the Strategic Plan. 
 

MTFS Summary – Cabinet 17 December 2019 
  

5. The draft MTFS was approved by the Cabinet on 17 December 2019. 
 

6. The key revenue budget details were: 
 

 One year Local Government Settlement 

 No Revenue Support Grant 

 Council Tax increase of 3.99% for 2020/21 - includes an additional 2% on 
the adult social care precept. Increases of 1.99% are assumed regarding 
2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 

 Growth of £59m is required, primarily to meet the forecast increase in 
demand for social care.  

 Provision for pay and price inflation, £58m, driven by the National Living 
Wage 

 Savings required of £80m - of which £24m are identified, £17m relate to 
Special Education Needs, leaving a shortfall of £39m to be found.   

 Comprehensive Spending Review expected later in 2020 
 

7. The key capital programme details were:  
 

 The draft four-year capital programme totals £603m. 

 Capital funding available totals £386m 

 Balance of £217m, temporarily funded from the County Council’s internal 
cash balances in advance of section 106 contributions and other funding 
being received in the future, e.g. increased capital receipts or new grants. 

  
8. An extensive public consultation exercise took place from 12 June to 10 

September 2019 on the Authority’s priorities, the outcome of which was reported 
to the Scrutiny Commission on 30 October and the Cabinet on 22 November 
2019. 
 

9. The MTFS as presented represents a good fit with the outcome of the 
consultation.  Changes to growth and savings and capital allocations have been 
reviewed in light of the results.  

 
Changes to the Revenue Budget 2020-24 
  
10. Since the report to the Cabinet, the Local Government Settlement was 

announced which was broadly in line with the assumptions made with the draft 
MTFS.  Changes from the settlement and other known issues since then are 
summarised below.   
 

11. Social Care Grant – the £1bn new grant announced in the September 2019 
Spending Round for 2020/21 is to be extended to cover the later years of the 
MTFS. The annual allocation for the County Council is £8.9m. 

 

16



 
 

12. Council Tax Base – The initial forecast of 1.6% has been increased to 1.8% 
following updated tax base information received from the District Councils. This 
generates £0.7m more council tax income in 2020/21 than previously forecast.  

 
13. Business Rates.  Values for 2020/21 “baseline” and Section 31 grants have been 

updated to reflect the latest forecasts from MHCLG. the assumption remains that 
a “reset” in 2020/21 could remove the benefit of £3m growth under the current 
phase of the Business Rates Retention Scheme. This will be reflected explicitly in 
the updated MTFS 

 
14. New Homes Bonus – updated estimates per the 2020/21 Local Government 

Finance Settlement. There will be no “legacy” payments in subsequent years 
regarding the 2020/21 part of the grant and the remaining legacy amounts, in 
respect of 2018/19 and 2019/20, will be phased out by 2023/24.  This amounts to 
reductions of £1.8m in 2021/22, £2.9m in 2022/23 and £3.7m in 2023/24. No 
information is available regarding a replacement scheme 

 
15. The draft MTFS included a £3m p.a. contingency for potential future grant 

reductions. Two such reductions, described in paragraphs 13 and 14, will be 
reflected explicitly in the updated MTFS, hence the contingency has reduced to 
£2m p.a. from 2021/22. 

 
16. The inflation contingency has been increased following the government’s 

announcement to increase the National Living Wage in 2020/21 to £8.72 per hour 
(6% increase) compared with an assumption in the original MTFS of £8.62 per 
hour (5% increase).  This is estimated to cost an additional £1.5m per year from 
2020/21.  

 
17. General Fund – there are increasing pressures on the High Needs element of the 

Dedicated Support Grant (DSG) – see the General Fund section later in the 
report.  Increases will be needed to the General Fund to reflect the increasing 
uncertainty and risks, which are still being assessed. 

 
18. There are other changes that may also affect the position -   

 Forecast overspend in the 2019/20 (non-DSG) revenue budget. £1m 
overspend forecast at period 6. The figures will be updated based upon 
period 9 information. 

 Collection Funds’ surplus – this could be a potential minor change. 
Estimates are awaited from the billing authorities.  An estimate of £1.5m is 
already included in the draft MTFS.   

 Any other changes as a result of the Scrutiny process. 
 

19. The overall net change in resources will be adjusted against the Revenue 
Funding of Capital budget. 

 
20. A summary of the latest overall MTFS revenue position is shown in Appendix A. 
 
 
 
 

17



 
 

Corporate and Central Items 
  
21. Details of the corporate and central items elements of the MTFS are shown in 

Appendix B.  
 
DSG (Central Dept Recharges) 
 
22. A total of £2.4m is set aside from the DSG to fund central department costs of 

Schools.   
 
Other Corporate Growth and Savings 
 
23. £0.4m saving in 2020/21, £6.1m growth in 2021/22 rising to £17.3m in 2023/24.   

  
24. This includes the following three areas: 

 
Review of Key Supplier Contracts - £250,000 saving (2019/20 saving). 

The Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) is working with departments to review 
contract spend and identify means of delivering this required saving target. This 
includes contract renegotiation, service specification, discounts applied for early 
payment and the potential for rebates. The CSU will also look at existing 
frameworks and tender opportunities to ensure Value for Money is achieved.   

  

CS1 ICT Implementation of Digital Initiatives – savings of £50,000 in 2020/21 
£100,000 in 2021/22, rising to £150,000 by 2022/23.  ICT are working with 
departments across the Council to identify areas in which digital innovation and 
technology can be used as an enabler to generate efficiencies and promote 
change.  ICT will look to promote many of the measures identified in the Digital 
Strategy, including delivering easy-to-use digital services which help both staff 
and customers to self-serve and enabling better ways of working.    
 

G30 Corporate Growth contingency - £0m in 2020/21, £6.5m in 2021/22, 
£12.2m in 2022/23 rising to £17.8m in 2023/24.   
This has been included to act as a contingency for potential further cost 
pressures in the later years of the MTFS – the value has been set based upon 
historic levels of growth incurred. 
 

MTFS Risks Contingency 
  

25. The proposed MTFS also includes a contingency of £8m in 2021/22 and later 
years for other specific key risks that could affect the financial position on an 
ongoing basis. Examples include: 

 

 The non-achievement of savings. 

 Certainty of partner funding, for example services provided through the 
BCF. 

 Pressure on demand led-budgets particularly in social care. 

 Maintaining the level of investment required to deliver savings. 

 New service pressures that arise (a recent example is Ash Dieback). 
 

18



 
 

26. The contingency included for 2020/21 is £4m due to greater certainty of 
expenditure plans and funding.  When the contingency is released ‘free’ 
resources are directed toward the Future Developments earmarked fund to 
reduce the shortfall in capital funding discussed later in this report. 
 

Contingency for Inflation / Living Wage 
 

27. A total of £16.1m has been included in the latest MTFS for 2020/21, rising to 
£30.2m in 2021/22, £44.6m in 2022/23, and £59.3m in 2023/24.  This includes 
the proposed changes mentioned earlier in the report. This contingency will be 
allocated to services as necessary. 
 

28. The Government’s preferred measure of inflation is the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI), which the Bank of England is tasked with targeting a 2% rate. 
 

29. However, the Council’s cost base does not always reflect these household 
inflation measures.  Energy and fuel increases, for example, have a much more 
significant impact.  To compensate the draft MTFS assumes 3% per annum 
inflation over the period 2020/21 to 2023/24. 

 
30. The MTFS provides for annual pay awards of 2%, with an allowance for higher 

increases in the lower Grades to reflect the impact of the NLW.  
 
31. The central inflation contingency includes provision for an increase of 1% each 

year in the employer’s pension contribution rate, in line with the requirements of 
the actuarial assessment.  

 
Financing of Capital 
 
32. Capital financing costs are expected to decrease to £19.2m in 2020/21 (from 

£22.6m in 2019/20) and then to rise to £24.6m in 2023/24, mainly as a result of 
increasing financing requirements for the capital programme, partly offset by the 
proposed change to the minimum revenue provision outlined below. 
 

33. Based on the average remaining economic life of assets held it is proposed to 
revise the MRP calculation to a period of 40 years, which would reduce the MRP 
charge to around £6m per annum.  It should be noted that the revised approach 
does not change the overall amount of MRP payable; the same amount is simply 
repaid over a longer period of time.  A saving of £3.5m has been included in the 
MTFS from 2020/21 

 
Revenue Funding of Capital 

 
34. The budget includes revenue funding of capital expenditure, mainly for the 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund and for Future Developments, as described 
under the capital section later in the report.  The latest position includes a total of 
£25.3m in 2020/21, £1.8m in 2021/22, £1.2m in 2022/23 and £1.2m in 2023/24.  

 
  

19



 
 

Central Expenditure  
 
35. The budget includes (figures are for 2020/21):  

 

 Pensions (£1.7m) - contributions for added years agreed before and as part 
of Local Government Reorganisation in 1997; 

 Members’ Expenses and support (£1.2m); 

 Flood Defence Levies (£0.3m) payable to the Environment Agency; 

 Elections (£0.2m) annual contribution to an earmarked fund to fund County 
Council elections; 

 Financial Arrangements (-£0.7m) – including income from Eastern Shire 
Purchasing Organisation surpluses and external audit fee costs. This 
includes a saving of £40,000 (rising to £120,000 by 2022/23) from growth in 
ESPO’s net income. 

 
Central Grants and Other Income  
  
36. The budget includes the following (figures are for 2020/21): 

 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) grant income (-£11.4m) 

 Social Care Grant (new) (-£8.9m) 

 Adult and Children's Social Care Support Grant (-£4.1m) 

 Adult Social Care - Winter Pressures Grant (-£1.4m) 

 “Spring Budget” iBCF (-£0.9m) – one year continuation of the 2019/20 grant 

 New Homes Bonus Grant (-£3.7m)  

 Bank and Other Interest (-£2.8m) - Interest income relating to Treasury 
Management investments.  The forecast reduces in later years as balances 
are forecast to be used to fund the capital programme. The levels of interest 
are based on the expectation that Bank of England base rates will remain at 
a low level for the foreseeable future. 
 

Adequacy of Earmarked Funds and Robustness of Estimates 
 
37. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Director of Corporate Resources to 

report on: 
 
a) The adequacy of reserves, and 
b) The robustness of the estimates included in the budget. 

 
38. The financial environment continues to be challenging with a number of known 

major risks over the next few years.  These include:  
 

 Non-achievement of savings and income targets.  The requirement for 
savings and additional income totals £73.4m over the next four years of 
which £32.7m is unidentified.  Successful delivery of savings is dependent 
upon a range of factors, not all of which are in the control of the County 
Council. 

 The financial positions of Health and Social Care are intrinsically linked and 
of growing importance.  In common with the County Council, the Clinical 

20



 
 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are struggling to produce a balanced 
budget, although their problems may be more pressing.  The implications 
for the County Council could be reductions in the funding received through 
the BCF (£30m+) and additional costs as a result of changes in the NHS, 
such as the Transforming Care programme that will move more care into 
the community.   

 Service pressures resulting in an overspend, including demand-led 
children’s and adult social care, particularly on the children’s social care and 
SEN placements budget.  

 Continued increase in the National Living Wage, only notified a few months 
in advance of each financial year. 

 The strength of the economy dictates the funding of the public sector, both 
directly through council tax and business rate income and indirectly through 
the influence on Government funding decisions.  

 The increasing reliance on income generated from services in other parts of 
the public sector.  Given the much tighter financial environment for the 
sector it will be challenging to maintain or keep increasing income. 

 2021 is a year which could see the biggest changes to local government for 
a generation.  The following initiatives are all now planned or anticipated to 
be implemented in that year: 
 

 75% Business Rate retention, including significant new responsibilities 
and a “reset” of the system’s baselines. 

 Fair Funding Review, covering redistribution of funding nationally.  

 Health Integration plans implemented. 

 Review of Social Care. 

 Review of SEND reforms - the SEND review will report during 2020, 
and has been tasked with looking at how to arrive at a fair and 
sustainable system of high needs support for the future. 

  
39. There are a number of ways that risks will be mitigated and reduced.  These are 

summarised below and explained in more detail in the following paragraphs: 
 

• General Fund  
• MTFS Contingencies 
• Earmarked funds 
• Effective risk management arrangements. 

 
General Fund 
 

The General Fund balance is available for unforeseen risks that require short 
term funding.  A copy of the earmarked funds policy is included in Appendix C. 
These risks come in a variety of forms: 
 

 Legal challenges such as judicial reviews that require a change in savings 
approach.  

 Legislative changes that come with a financial penalty, for example general 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

21



 
 

 Service provision issues that require investment, for example the capital 
investment to support the High Needs Block Development Plan – see 
below. 

 Variability in income, particularly from asset investments 
 
40. Nationally concern over the impact of SEND reform on High Needs expenditure 

and the financial difficulties this places on local authorities is growing.  The 
position in Leicestershire reflects the national picture.  Following confirmation of 
pupil destinations for the 2019/20 academic year demand for packages to 
support pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP’s) was found to 
have exceeded that assumed within the High Needs Development Plan and the 
average unit cost increased. A deficit of £8.2m is forecast for 2019/20, an 
increase of £2.8m on the original budget plans. 

 
41. For 2020/21 it is estimated that the expenditure in excess of the grant will be 

£11m assuming that current demand trends continue.  The accumulated high 
needs deficit is then expected to total £19m at the end of 2020/21.  The 
Department are investigating a number of actions that could over the course of 
the MTFS reduce demand and therefore the overall deficit.  

 
Earmarked Funds 
 
42. The estimated balance for revenue earmarked funds (excluding schools and 

partnerships) as at 31st March 2020 is £21.7m and for capital funding purposes 
£46.6m., based on forecasts made in the Autumn 2019 review. Forecasts are 
currently under review and will be updated as part of the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet on 7th February 2020.  The final level of earmarked funds will be subject 
to the actual expenditure and any partner contributions, e.g. health funding 
arrangements and specific grants. 

 
43. Earmarked funds and balances are held for specific purposes.  The main 

earmarked funds and balances projected at 31st March 2020 are: 
 
(a) Capital Financing (£27.0m).  This fund is used to hold MTFS revenue 

contributions to match the timing of capital expenditure in the capital 
programme.  

(b) Future Developments (£19.6m). This fund holds the balance of 
contributions that will be used to fund future developments, mainly capital 
projects, as they are approved. 

(c) Transformation (£7.7m).  The fund is used to invest in transformation 
projects to achieve efficiency savings and also to fund severance costs.   

(d) Insurance (£13.9m).  Funds are held to meet the estimated cost of future 
claims to enable the County Council to meet excesses not covered by 
insurance policies.  The levels are informed by recommendations by 
independent advisors.  The earmarked funds also include funding for 
uninsured losses (£5.3m).  This is mainly held to meet additional liabilities 
arising from Municipal Mutual Insurance Ltd (MMI) that is subject to a run-
off of claims following liquidation in 1992 and also of other failed insurers 
such as The Independent Insurance Company.  

 

22



 
 

44. Grant Thornton, the County Council’s external auditor, has reviewed the level of 
earmarked funds held by the County Council as part of its Value for Money 
review of the 2019-23 MTFS and reported no issues: ‘Based on the work carried 
out we are satisfied that the Council had proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.’ 
 

45. CIPFA has also recently released results of its Financial Resilience Index, which 
uses key indicators of the financial position of local authorities, including the level 
of earmarked and unallocated funds, reserves depletion time, and comparisons 
of children’s and adult social care budgets and council tax and business rates 
income to the net revenue budget. When compared with County Councils, 
Leicestershire is in the lower risk range across the board. 
 

School Balances   
 

46. Balances are also held by schools.  They are held for two main reasons.  Firstly, 
as a contingency against financial risks and secondly, to save to meet planned 
commitments in future years.  The balance at 31st March 2019 was £8.7m.  The 
balance at 31st March 2020 has not been estimated but is expected to have 
reduced as a result of spending pressure. It is also affected by the number of 
schools converting to Academies.    

 
Insurance Policy 

 
47. The Council’s Insurance programme is arranged in conjunction with its appointed 

Insurance Brokers.  The approach is outlined in the Insurance policy, which is 
attached as Appendix D. 

 
Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2023/24 
  
48. The programme has been updated for the latest programme of deliverability and 

resources. The latest draft capital programme totals £603m over the four years 
2020 to 2024. 

  
49. The expenditure profiles on schemes within the programme have been reviewed 

for the latest estimates and deliverability in the programme year, particularly in 
the first year, 2020/21.  Overall, the changes balance out across the MTFS.  The 
major profile changes are: 
 
• A&C – Specialist Dementia Facility, £5m reprofiled to later years. The entire 

funding was originally included in 2020/21 which has now been revised 
following a detailed project plan. 

• E&T – Lutterworth Development Infrastructure, £43m reprofiled to later 
years as a result of the latest project and planning requirements. 

• E&T – Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – North and East Sections, £19m 
reprofiled to later years, for latest programme dates. 

• Corporate – Quorn Solar Farm and Barrow Road Industrial Units - £7m 
reprofiled to later years.  A revision to the programme, as advised by project 
consultants.   

23



 
 

50. There have also been some funding changes to revenue /earmarked fund 
contributions to the programme to reflect the revenue changes mentioned earlier 
and the latest capital spend profiles.  The latest overall position shows overall 
funding of £382m across the four years, leaving a revised funding required of 
£221m. 
 

51. The overall approach to developing the capital programme is set out in the capital 
strategy (Appendix F) and is based on the following key principles:  
 

 To invest in priority areas including roads, infrastructure, economic growth 
and projects that generate a positive revenue return.  

 Passport Government capital grants received for key priorities for highways 
and education to those departments. 

 Maximise the achievement of capital receipts.  

 Maximise other sources of income such as bids to the Department for 
Education, LLEP, section106 developer contributions and other external 
funding agencies. 

 No or limited prudential borrowing (only if the returns exceed the borrowing 
costs). 

 
52. Where capital projects are not yet fully developed or plans agreed these have 

been included under the heading of ‘Future Developments’ under each 
departmental programme.  It is intended that as these schemes are developed 
during the year, they will be assessed against the balance of available resources 
and included in the capital programme as appropriate.  A fund of £60m is included 
in the draft capital programme.  The balance on the existing fund has been added 
to the new capital programme.   
 

Funding and Affordability 
 
Forward Funding 
  
53. The County Council recognises the need to forward fund investment in 

infrastructure projects to enable new schools and roads to be built and unlock 
growth in Leicestershire before funding, mainly from section 106 developer 
contributions, is received.  Forward funding of £28m for schools and £73m for 
highways has been included within the capital programme.  When the expected 
developer contributions are received, they will be earmarked to the capital 
programme, to reduce the dependency on internal cash balances in the future.   
 

54. Forward funding presents a significant financial commitment for the County 
Council, but should ensure: 

 

 External funding is maximised, through successful bids. 

 The final cost of infrastructure investment is reduced (compared with what it 
would be if construction was delivered incrementally as and when smaller 
developments come forward). 

 The design is optimised, to benefit of the local community. 
  

24



 
 

55. The MTFS also includes additional revenue income from district councils from a 
share of the estimated increase in council tax and business rates generated as a 
result of the investment. 

 
56. There are risks involved in managing and financing a programme of this size. 

There is reduced scope for funding additional schemes that are identified in the 
future.  And an increased reliance on developer contributions through section 106 
agreements means that it may take many years for investment to be repaid. This 
could be further compounded in the event of an economic slowdown.  To this 
end, support of district councils is essential to ensure the agreements reached 
with developers mitigate these risks.   

 
57. The risk with forward funding is that the impact of insufficient or delayed 

contributions, from developers, will fall upon the County Council.  A key 
determinant in generating sufficient developer contributions is the approach taken 
by the district council, as the planning authority.  The district council will set the 
local planning context against which section 106 agreements will be agreed and 
ultimately decide on planning permission.  The agreement will ensure the County 
Council and district council work together effectively, for mutual benefit.   

 
58. Given the benefits to Leicestershire that the increased investment will bring it is 

considered that district councils should share in these risks in a proportionate 
way.  The County will look to develop risk-sharing agreements with districts in 
relation to major infrastructure schemes being progressed in their areas; district 
councils will benefit directly through additional tax revenues and increases in 
government grants.  However, the circumstances around individual projects vary 
hence unique agreements will be required for each district council.   

 
59. Given the overall level of forward funding, over £100m, it is imperative that these 

agreements provide some protection to the County Council. 
 
Capital Receipts 

 
60. The generation of capital receipts is a key priority for the County Council.  The 

draft capital programme includes an estimate of £16m across the four years to 
2023/24.  This position includes the delay of £9m in capital receipts from 
2019/20. 
    

Revenue / Earmarked Funds/ Contributions 
 
61. The capital strategy recognises the need to limit the need for prudential 

(unsupported by Government) borrowing and the associated financing costs.  A 
total of £76m has been included in the draft programme funded from: 

 

One-off MTFS 2020-24 revenue contributions £31m 

Departmental earmarked funds  £4m 

Capital Financing earmarked fund  £28m 

Future Developments fund £13m 

Total £76m 

 

25



 
 

External Contributions and Earmarked Capital Funds 
 
62. A total of £43m is included in the funding of the capital programme 2020-24.  This 

includes £32m from section 106 developer contributions.  
 

Funding from Internal Balances 
 
63. A total of £221m in funding required is included within the capital programme to 

fund the programme and enable investment in schools and highway 
infrastructure to be made.  Over the next 10 to 15 years it is anticipated that circa 
£100m of this funding will be repaid through the associated section 106 
developer contributions.   
  

64. Due to the strength of the County Council’s balance sheet, it is possible to use 
internal balances (cash balances) to fund the capital programme on a temporary 
basis instead of raising new loans.  Levels of cash balances held by the Council, 
currently £260m, comprise the amounts held for earmarked funds, provisions, 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) set aside for the repayment of debt, and 
working capital of the Council.  The cost of raising of external loans currently 
exceeds the cost of interest lost on cash balances by circa 2.5%. 
  

65. The overall cost of using internal balances to fund £221m of investment is 
estimated to be £8m per annum by 2024/25, comprising MRP of £6m and 
reduced interest from investments of £2m.  This is a prudent assessment as the 
impact will reduce in future years as the funding is repaid. 

 
Departmental Programmes 
 
66. The details of departmental programmes, except the corporate programme, have 

been reported to the relevant scrutiny committees in January. The corporate 
programme (Appendix E) is covered below:  
  

Corporate Programme 

67. The corporate programme totals £145m for 2020-24.  The main area is the 
investment in the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF), totalling £85m, of 
property and land assets to improve economic development, replace assets sold 
to generate capital receipts, and generate ongoing revenue returns.  The CAIF 
programme includes allocations for Industrial Properties and County Farms for 
general improvements (£2m).  
  

68. The latest CAIF strategy reported to Scrutiny commission in September 2019 
includes investment opportunities that would increase the overall CAIF 
programme to £260m.  Current holdings plus schemes in the 2019/20 and draft 
2020-2024 capital programme will result in a total holding of £203m.  A balance 
of £57m has been included for new asset investments.  The strategy will be 
appended to the MTFS report to the Cabinet, with minor updates. 

 
69. The corporate programme also includes additional funding of £60m for the Future 

Developments fund.  The Fund is held to contribute towards schemes that have 

26



 
 

been identified but are not sufficiently detailed for inclusion in the capital 
programme at this time.  There is a long list of projects that may require funding 
over the next 4 years.  These include investment in infrastructure for schools and 
roads arising from increases in population, investment in health and social care 
service user accommodation, highways match funding of capital bids, and 
investment in the efficiency and productivity programme.  The list of future 
developments is continually refreshed.  Bids from the fund will managed through 
prioritisation and where possible the identification of alternative funding sources. 
This approach forms part of the wider strategy to ensure that the capital 
programme is deliverable, affordable and the risks are understood, in line with 
CIPFA’s requirements. 
   

Budget Consultation 

70. The Cabinet at its meeting in December 2019 approved the MTFS proposals for 
consultation. The consultation asked for views on the savings plan and the 
appetite for Council Tax increases.  The consultation closes on 19th January 
2020 and a report on the outcome will be included within the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet on 7th February 2020.  
 

Results of Scrutiny Process 
 
71. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission have 

received detailed reports on the revenue budget and capital programme 
proposals, which can be viewed via the County Council’s website 
(www.leicestershire.gov.uk).   A summary of the comments arising from the 
meetings of Scrutiny bodies will be presented with the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet on 7th February 2020. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
72. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; and  

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not. 

 
73. Many aspects of the County Council's MTFS may affect service users who have 

a protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the 
impact of the proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a 
formative stage prior to any final decisions being made.  Such assessments will 
be undertaken in light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any 
proposed changes. Those assessments will be revised as the proposals are 
developed to ensure that decision-makers have information to understand the 
effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a protected 
characteristic.  

27



 
 

74. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject 
to the County Council’s Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken as part of the Action Plan.   

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
75. Some aspects of the County Council’s MTFS are directed towards providing 

services which will support the reduction of crime and disorder.   
 
Environmental Implications 
  
76. The MTFS will include schemes to support the Council’s response to climate 

change and to make environmental improvements. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
77. As part of the efficiency programme and improvements to services, working with 

partners and service users will be considered along with any impact issues, and 
they will be consulted on any proposals which affect them. 

 
Risk Assessments   
 
78. As this report states, risks and uncertainties surrounding the financial outlook are 

significant.  The risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which is 
regularly updated and reported to the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the County Council on 20th February 2019: Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20-2022/23 - http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125 

 
County Council Strategic Plan – 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 17th December 2019: Provisional Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2020/21 – 2023/24 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-
%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Four Year Revenue Budget 2020/21 to 2023/24 
Appendix B: Corporate and Central Items Revenue Budget 2020/21 
Appendix C:  Earmarked Funds Policy 
Appendix D:  Insurance Policy 
Appendix E: Corporate Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2023/24 
Appendix F: Capital Strategy 
 

 
 

28

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf


 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources, 
Corporate Resources Department, 
Tel: 0116 305 6199  E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property) 
Corporate Resources Department, 
Tel: 0116 305 7668  E-mail: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk 

29

mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A
2020/21 - 2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET *

TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL

2019/20 Contingencies 2020/21 Contingencies 2021/22 Contingencies 2022/23 Contingencies 2023/24

/Transfers /Transfers /Transfers /Transfers

Spending £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Services :

Children & Family Services 73,918 1,126 7,795 -1,925 80,914 4,200 -670 84,444 4,350 -700 88,094 4,550 -700 91,944

Adults & Communities 137,713 9,775 2,845 -7,250 143,083 1,735 -1,195 143,623 2,290 -170 145,743 2,350 -100 147,993

Public Health ** -486 706 20 -905 -665 20 -100 -745 -65 -810 -810

Environment & Transport 67,016 2,176 11,700 -345 80,547 -3,150 -390 77,007 800 -440 77,367 600 -290 77,677

Chief Executives 10,623 347 800 -135 11,635 75 11,710 11,710 11,710

Corporate Resources 32,930 1,905 565 -2,595 32,805 1,000 -100 -1,190 32,515 -100 -290 32,125 -100 -530 31,495

321,714 16,035 23,725 -13,155 348,319 1,000 2,780 -3,545 348,554 0 7,340 -1,665 354,229 0 7,400 -1,620 360,009

DSG (Central Dept recharges) -922 -1,363 -2,285 -2,285 -2,285 -2,285

Other corporate growth & savings -300 -50 -350 6,520 -50 6,120 5,660 -50 11,730 5,600 17,330

MTFS Risks Contingency 0 4,000 4,000 4,000 8,000 8,000 8,000

Contingency for inflation/ Living Wage 13,900 2,200 16,100 14,050 30,150 14,400 44,550 14,700 59,250

334,392 20,872 23,725 -13,205 365,784 19,050 9,300 -3,595 390,539 14,400 13,000 -1,715 416,224 14,700 13,000 -1,620 442,304

Central Items:

Financing of capital 22,600 100 -3,500 19,200 300 19,500 2,100 21,600 3,000 24,600

Revenue funding of capital 31,360 -6,043 25,317 -23,525 1,792 -633 1,159 1,159

Revenue funding of capital - BR Pilot 6,600 -6,600 0 0 0 0

Central expenditure 2,832 -72 -40 2,720 -50 -40 2,630 -50 -40 2,540 -50 2,490

Central grants and other income -26,375 -6,866 -33,241 8,755 -24,486 1,538 -22,948 1,495 -21,453

Total Spending 371,410 1,390 23,725 -16,745 379,780 4,530 9,300 -3,635 389,975 17,355 13,000 -1,755 418,575 19,145 13,000 -1,620 449,100

Contributions to General Fund 6,000 9,500 6,000 3,000 1,000

Budget Requirement 377,410 389,280 395,975 421,575 450,100

Funding

Business Rates - Top Up -39,674 -40,346 -38,680 -37,500 -36,350

Business Rates Baseline/Retained -23,455 -23,928 -21,475 -21,960 -22,460

S31 grants - Business Rates -3,585 -4,156 -4,230 -4,300 -4,370

Business Rates - Levy surplus -934 0 0 0 0

Business Rates Pilot - one off adduitional income -6,600 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Collection Fund net deficit / (surplus) -1,539 -1,500 -1,000 0 0

Council Tax -301,623 -319,350 -330,590 -342,230 -354,270

Total Funding -377,410 -389,280 -395,975 -405,990 -417,450

VARIANCE 0 0 0 15,585 32,650

Band D Council Tax £1,292.18 £1,343.73 £1,370.48 £1,397.74 £1,425.56

Increase 3.99% 3.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%

*   provisional for 2021/22 and later years

** preventative expenditure within other Deparments' budgets to be identified and absorbed into the ring fenced budget

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21

Net Budget

2019/20 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income

Net Budget 

2020/21

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

CORPORATE

-2,285,000 DSG (Central Dept recharges) 0 0 0 0 -2,285,000 -2,285,000 

CORPORATE SAVINGS

-250,000 Review of key supplier contracts 0 -250,000 0 -250,000 0 -250,000 

-50,000 ICT implementation of digital initiatives 0 -100,000 0 -100,000 0 -100,000 

-300,000 0 -350,000 0 -350,000 0 -350,000 

0 MTFS RISKS CONTINGENCY 0 4,000,000 0 4,000,000 0 4,000,000

-2,500,000 

CONTINGENCY FOR INFLATION/ LIVING 

WAGE * 5,500,000 10,600,000 0 16,100,000 0 16,100,000

-5,085,000 TOTAL CORPORATE BUDGETS 5,500,000 14,250,000 0 19,750,000 -2,285,000 17,465,000

CENTRAL ITEMS

22,600,000 FINANCING OF CAPITAL 0 22,299,000 -54,000 22,245,000 -3,045,000 19,200,000

31,360,000 REVENUE FUNDING OF CAPITAL 0 25,317,000 0 25,317,000 0 25,317,000

REVENUE FUNDING OF CAPITAL - use of 

6,600,000 Business Rates Pilot additional income 0 0 0 0 0 0

CENTRAL EXPENDITURE

1,750,000 Pensions (pre LGR /LGR) 0 1,700,000 0 1,700,000 0 1,700,000

1,192,000 Members Expenses & Support etc 87,700 1,104,300 0 1,192,000 0 1,192,000

296,000 Flood Defence Levies 0 296,000 0 296,000 0 296,000

200,000 Elections 0 200,000 0 200,000 0 200,000

-627,000 Financial Arrangements 0 225,000 -228,000 -3,000 -665,000 -668,000 

2,811,000 87,700 3,525,300 -228,000 3,385,000 -665,000 2,720,000

CENTRAL GRANTS AND OTHER INCOME

-2,800,000 Bank & Other Interest 0 0 0 0 -2,800,000 -2,800,000 

-3,746,000 New Homes Bonus Grant 0 0 0 0 -3,747,000 -3,747,000 

-2,414,000 

Adult Social Care - Winter Pressures Grant 

(2020/21 net of £1m used for A&C exp.) 0 0 0 0 -1,413,000 -1,413,000 

-4,124,000 Adult and Chidren's Social Care Support Grant 0 0 0 0 -4,124,000 -4,124,000 

-11,353,000 Improved Better Care Fund 0 0 0 0 -11,353,000 -11,353,000 

0

Spring Budget - additional IBCF (2019/20 £3.4m 

& 2020/21 £2.5m used for A&C exp.) 0 0 0 0 -904,000 -904,000 

0 Social Care Grant - new 2020/21 0 0 0 0 -8,900,000 -8,900,000 

-24,437,000 0 0 0 0 -33,241,000 -33,241,000 

38,934,000 TOTAL CENTRAL ITEMS 87,700 51,141,300 -282,000 50,947,000 -36,951,000 13,996,000

* 2019/20 contingency overdrawn, following transfers to Departmental budgets

CORPORATE & CENTRAL ITEMS

33



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
EARMARKED FUNDS POLICY 2020/21 

 
 
General Fund 
 
The level of the General Fund will reflect the overall financial environment and 
the key financial risks faced by the County Council.  The amount held will be 
reviewed at least annually. Any funds in excess of the assessed amount will in 
the first instance be used to fund one off expenditure (capital and revenue 
including invest to save and pump priming initiatives) and secondly to support 
recurring revenue expenditure over the medium term, subject to the key 
consideration of sustainability. 
 
Holding non earmarked funds is essential in enabling the County Council to 
manage unforeseen financial events without the need to make immediate 
offsetting savings.  This allows better decisions to be made and reduce the 
impact this could have on users of County Council services.  
 
Based on an assessment of risk, the target level for the General Fund is within 
the range of 5% to 10% of net expenditure (excluding schools).  The forecast 
balance of £44m (9.7%), by the end of the MTFS, is within that range.  In 
reviewing the level of the General Fund the Cabinet will take advice from the 
Director of Corporate Resources. 

 
Earmarked Funds 
 
Earmarked funds are held for six main reasons. The key factors that 
determine their level are set out below:- 
 

 Insurance fund – to meet the estimated cost of future claims not 
covered by insurance policies. 

 Renewals – to enable services to plan and finance an effective 
programme of systems, equipment and vehicle replacement. These 
earmarked funds are a mechanism to smooth expenditure on asset 
replacement so that a sensible replacement programme can be 
achieved without the need to vary budgets.  

 Trading accounts - in some instances surpluses in excess of the 
budgeted level are retained by the traded service for future investment. 

 Other earmarked funds will be set up from time to time to meet 
predicted liabilities or unforeseen issues that arise. 

 To support transformational and departmental change. 

 Meet commitments made that will be incurred in the future. Examples 
include; completion of projects, County Council contributions to 
partnership funding, commitments in the MTFS such as the Capital 
Programme. 

 
The Director of Corporate Resources has the authority to take decisions 
relating to the creation and management of earmarked funds.  
 

35



Schools Earmarked Funds  
 
Schools balances are held for two main reasons. Firstly, as a contingency 
against financial risks and secondly, to save to meet planned commitments in 
future years. Decisions on these funds are taken by individual schools. 
 
Monitoring Policy 
 
The level of earmarked funds and balances are monitored regularly 
throughout the year.  Reports will be taken to members as part of the MTFS, 
an update in the autumn and at year end. 
 

36



APPENDIX D 
 

Insurance Policy 2020-24 
 
 
Leicestershire County Council’s Insurance programme is arranged in conjunction with 
its appointed Insurance Brokers. 
 
Losses are covered by a combination of self-insurance and a range of policies held 
with insurance companies, which are renewed on an annual basis. The process to 
identify the level of self-insured retention against the insurance required is based on 
several factors. These include the reduction in premium to be achieved by altering the 
excess levels weighed up against the County Council’s ability to meet an increased 
exposure, for example by way of a spike in claims received due to external factors like 
the weather and for one off large losses. 
 
Aggregate stop limits are in place which cap the potential exposure to LCC on an 
annual basis by reducing the self-insured retention levels (excess) significantly once 
the limit has been breached. 
 
The Leicestershire County Council Insurance Programme is currently insured via Risk 
Management Partners with Liability and Motor Risks underwritten by QBE and 
Property Risks underwritten by AIG. 
 
The current insurance arrangements have been in place since 2014 following an 
OJEU compliant Tender. The tender was awarded based on a long-term agreement 
covering a maximum 10-year period with various break points during the contract. 
 
The following policies are currently in place as of the 1st October 2019: 
 
Class of Insurance Limit of Indemnity / 

Basis of Cover 

Aggregate Stop 

Limit if 

applicable  

Excess 

Employers’ Liability  £75m – Cover written on 

an any one occurrence 

basis 

£3m £375,000 

Public Liability £50m - Cover written on 

an any one occurrence 

basis 

£3m £375,000 

Officials Indemnity £10m – Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

£3m £250,000 

Professional 

Indemnity 

£10m - Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

£3m £25,000 

Fidelity Guarantee £10m - Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

N/A £100,000 

37



Motor Comprehensive N/A £1,250 (only applying 

to own vehicle 

damage) 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Non-Education) 

Day One Reinstatement  

Business Interruption 

£25m Increased Cost of 

Working (ICOW) (48 

months) 

£1m £500,000 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Education) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

£1m £500,000 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Commercial 

including Industrial 

Units) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

N/A £250 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Farms) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

N/A £500 

Terrorism County Hall Only 

Business Interruption 

£25m (48 months) 

N/A Nil 

 
An annual revenue contribution is required to allow the County Council to fund claims 
within the self-insured retention limits, thus aiming to prevent a detrimental impact on 
service budgets. The level required is assessed annually as part of the MTFS, based 
upon a number of factors including the current claims experience and anticipated 
future changes.  For example, new heads of claims which may emerge. 
 
The amount of funding required from the County Council, can vary significantly each 
year. This can be due to one off catastrophic incidents occurring, such as a large 
building fire, or simply the timing of when claims are reported culminating in an 
increased volume of claims covering one particular period. 
 
For own property damage claims, there is usually a short delay between incident and 
notification. It is therefore a more straightforward process to set aside appropriate 
funding for annual losses but retaining a focus on catastrophic events which occur on 
a less regular basis but which have a greater financial impact.   
 
Assessing liability claim levels are more difficult, due to the nature of claims that the 
County Council receives, claims will have been incurred but not reported within the 

38



financial year of the incident. A number of years can elapse before a liability claim is 
concluded. 
 
Earmarked funds are held to allow for years of exceptionally high claims, both in terms 
of volume and value, to be covered without detriment on the annual revenue budget. 
The earmarked funds for these classes are subject to an annual internal assessment 
and periodic actuarial review to ensure that they are maintained at suitable levels in 
order to meet ongoing financial commitments. In addition, provisions are held for 
claims received that are awaiting settlement, the level being based on an assessment 
of the likely liability. 
 
The Insurance Section employs experienced claims negotiators who handle all liability 
claims brought against Leicestershire County Council up to the delegated authority 
limits as agreed with the insurer. 
 
The claims handling delegated authority extends to cover investigations into 
allegations of negligence and provides authority to take decisions on liability.  County 
Council negotiators and the Legal section work in partnership to defend litigated 
claims.   
 
The Insurance Section is subject to annual audits undertaken on behalf of the 
Insurance Company.  The outcome of these audits could ultimately have implications 
on the agreed delegated authority limits resulting in reduced autonomy over decisions 
of liability and settlement negotiations 
 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 to 2023/24 - Draft APPENDIX E

2020/21       

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

Total

£000

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)

Commercial Office Development at Loughborough University Science & Enterprise Park (LUSEP) 10,750 10,750

Quorn Solar Farm 500 5,900 6,400

Quorn Barrow Road Industrial Units (Carbon Neutral) 500 7,100 7,600

Lutterworth East - Planning and Pre-Highway construction Works 1,120 1,120

County Farms Estate - General Improvements 200 200 200 200 800

Industrial Properties Estate - General Improvements 250 250 250 250 1,000

Asset Acquisitions / New Investments - subject to Business Case 0 7,000 20,000 30,000 57,000

Sub total CAIF 13,320 20,450 20,450 30,450 84,670

Future Developments

Future projects - subject to business cases 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 60,000

Total Corporate Programme 28,320 35,450 35,450 45,450 144,670

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

CAIF - Asset Acquisitions / New Investments

Airfield Business Park Phase 2

Bardon Interlink

Billesdon Employment Units

East of Lutterworth SDA - Phase 2

Leaders Farm Phase 2

Stoney Stanton SDA

Sysonby Farm employment and commercial development

Embankment House Development

Medical Centre, Meynell Road, Quorn

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 
 

1 
 

DRAFT CAPITAL STRATEGY 2020 to 2024 
 
 
Introduction 
 
This strategy sets out the County Council’s approach to compiling the capital programme, 
its priorities, availability of funding and financial management. 
 
The County Council’s capital programme is derived primarily from the Strategic Plan. It 
aligns with departmental commissioning and service plans to ensure a prioritised, joined up 
use of resources to maximise outcomes for all Leicestershire service users, citizens and 
other stakeholders. 
 
This strategy links to the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Corporate Asset Investment 
Fund (CAIF) Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy. The CAIF Strategy sets out 
the Council’s approach to non Treasury Management investments made primarily for the 
purpose of generating an income and supporting economic development. The level of 
funding available for the CAIF is determined by the Capital Strategy. 
 
The overall approach to developing the capital programme is based upon the following key 
principles; 
 

 To invest in priority areas of growth, including roads, infrastructure, economic growth, 
including forward the forward funding of projects; 

 To invest in projects that generate a positive revenue return (spend to save); 

 To invest in ways which support delivery of essential services;  

 Passport Government capital grants received for key priorities for highways and 
education to those departments. 

 Maximise the achievement of capital receipts. 

 Maximise other sources of income such bids to the LLEP, section106 housing 
developer contributions and other external funding agencies. 

 No or limited prudential borrowing (only if the returns exceed the borrowing costs). 
 
Funding Sources 
 
The approach to funding is: 
 
External Funding 

 Central Government Grants – passport grants to the relevant departments, even when 
not ring fenced. 

 External Grants - maximise bids for funding from external sources including providing 
matched funding where appropriate to do so, subject to approval of fulfilment 
conditions and any contingent liabilities. 

 External Contributions – maximise section 106 developer claims/ contributions to 
cover the full capital costs. 

 
Discretionary Programme  

 Capital Receipts – maximise individual receipts and use to fund the discretionary 
capital programme.  

 Earmarked Capital Receipts – only to be used in situations where this is an 
unavoidable requirement of an external party, for example, there is a requirement to 

43



APPENDIX F 
 

2 
 

gain DfE approval for the disposal of education assets, with the related receipts to be 
earmarked to education assets. These will be reviewed on a case by case basis to 
ensure the requirement is met and to consider options for substitution of discretionary 
funding where appropriate. 

 Revenue underspends and surplus earmarked funds – review opportunities as they 
arise to contribute to the discretionary capital programme. 

 Prudential borrowing – only to be used after all other available funding and only then 
where the incremental costs are fully funded from savings from the new investment. 
Internal borrowing (from County Council cash balances) would be prioritised over 
external borrowing.  

 Leasing – Due to the County Council’s ability to access relatively inexpensive funding 
rental/ lease proposals need to be appraised to ensure additional benefits justify the 
financing cost. 

 
Other 

 Renewal Earmarked Funds – held to make an annual contribution reflecting the life 
and replacement cost of the asset. Use when the service is externally funded 
(commercial, partnerships, specific grants) or small scale asset owned by an individual 
service. Larger more significant assets will be funded through the discretionary capital 
programme. 

 Building Maintenance – funded through the Central Maintenance (revenue) Fund 
(CMF). Significant lifecycle replacements to be funded through the discretionary 
capital programme. 

 Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) – investment repaid from additional income 
generated, for example additional Business Rates.  
  

Capital Requirements 
 
Children’s and Family Services 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Meet demand for new school places. 
Meet increasing demand for SEN places 

High 
High 

Central Government grants 
Developer contributions (section 106) 

Maintenance and renewal for: 
 Maintained school estate  

Children’s Centres 

 
High 
Low 

 
Central Government grants 
Discretionary Programme 

Children’s social care (minimal demand as 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save 

 
Adults and Communities 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Records Office 
Adult Accommodation Strategy 

High 
High 

Discretionary programme 
Discretionary programme 

Disabled Facilities Grant Mid Central Government grants 

Maintenance and renewal for: 
 Libraries & Heritage  
 Community Libraries  

 
Low 
Low 

 
Discretionary programme 
Support external funding bids 

Adult Social Care (minimal demand from 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save  

 

44



APPENDIX F 
 

3 
 

Public Health 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Public Health (minimal demand from 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save  

 
Environment and Transport 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Maintenance of the highway infrastructure 
(using asset management principles)  
New Waste Transfer Station 

High 
 

High 

Central Government grants/  
Discretionary programme 
Discretionary programme 

Improvement to the highway infrastructure 
 Major schemes 
 Minor Schemes 

Advanced Design 

 
Mid 
Mid 
Mid 

External Funding 
Central Gov’t grants (inc. LLEP, TIF) 
Central Government grants 
Discretionary programme 

County Council vehicle replacement 
programme 

Mid Discretionary programme 

Maintenance and renewal of waste 
management infrastructure 

Mid Discretionary programme 

 
 
Chief Executives  
 

Demand £ Funding 

Economic Development (e.g. Broadband) Mid Central Government and External grants 
Discretionary programme (inc. TIF) 

Programme of small shire community 
grants 

Low Discretionary programme 

Other Services Low Spend to save, Discretionary programme 

 
Corporate Resources 
 

Demand £ Funding 

ICT Infrastructure 
 Renew and expand the current 
 corporate estate 
 Major ICT upgrades and 
 replacements 

 
Mid 

 
Discretionary programme 
 
Discretionary programme + Spend to 
save 

Property Estate* 
 Regulatory compliance 
 Expansion and replacement 

Mid  
Discretionary programme 
Spend to save 

Commercial Services 
 Replacement 
 Expansion/Improvement 

 
Low 

 
Renewal reserve 
Spend to save 

Transformation/change Low Spend to save 
* maintenance of current properties funded from central maintenance fund (revenue budget) 
 

 
 
 

45



APPENDIX F 
 

4 
 

Corporate Programme 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund High Spend to save 

Deliver energy and water strategy Mid Spend to save 

 
Future Developments Programme 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Including: 
New Area Special School 
Children’s Social Care 
Additional School and Highways 
Infrastructure (from housing growth) 
Adult Accommodation Strategy 
Collections Hub 
New Recycling and Household Waste Site 
Workspace Strategy  
Leics. Traded Servs Commercial Strategy  
Major ICT system replacements 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund 
Efficiency & Productivity Investment 
Fire Safety 
Contingency for major schemes 

High Discretionary Funding 
One off revenue and earmarked fund 
contributions 
Reinvest returns 
Spend to save 
 

 
External Funding 
 
To ensure that funding is at the required level the following approach will be taken.  
 
Children and Family Services 
Maximise DfE capital grant through up to date capacity assessments and school place data. 
Submit bids, where appropriate to do so, for additional DfE capital funding when available. 
Take opportunities to lobby the DfE for additional funding. 
 
Adults and Communities 
Work with District Councils and other partners to ensure that the Disabled Facilities Grant is 
at an appropriate level and how it is spent to reduce the costs of adult social care.  Take 
opportunities to lobby the Department of Health for Social Care infrastructure grants. 
 
Environment and Transport 
Maintain Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Planning Level 3.  Invest in advance 
design and business case development work focused on government priorities to access 
capital grants (which are increasingly being channelled through bidding processes) and 
developer funding. 
 
Section 106 Contributions / Forward Funding 
 
Maximise section 106 contributions through recovery of the total costs of required 
developments and regular review of key assumptions used (at least annually).   

46



APPENDIX F 
 

5 
 

Where funding of capital expenditure is required in advance of the receipt of section 106 
income (usually paid on completion of trigger points) projects may require initial cash flow 
by the County Council or from rescheduling grant expenditure.  
 
The County Council recognises the need to forward fund investment in infrastructure 
projects to enable new schools and roads to be built and unlock growth in Leicestershire 
before funding, mainly from section 106 developer contributions, is received.  Forward 
funding of £28m for schools and £73m for highways has been included within the draft 
2020-24 capital programme.  When the expected developer contributions are received, they 
will be earmarked to the capital programme, to reduce the dependency on internal cash 
balances in the future.   

 
Forward funding presents a significant financial commitment for the County Council, but 
should ensure: 
 

 External funding is maximised, through successful bids. 

 The final cost of infrastructure investment is reduced (compared with what it would be 
if construction was delivered incrementally as and when smaller developments come 
forward). 

 The design is optimised, to benefit of the local community. 
  

There are risks involved in managing and financing a programme of this size. There is 
reduced scope for funding additional schemes that are identified in the future.  And an 
increased reliance on developer contributions through section 106 agreements means that it 
may take many years for investment to be repaid. This could be further compounded in the 
event of an economic slowdown.  To this end, support of district councils is essential to 
ensure the agreements reached with developers mitigate these risks.   
 
Tax Incremental Financing 
The County Council will work with District Councils on construction schemes that unlock 
infrastructure and housing growth and seek agreements to fund the work from linked 
Council Tax, Business Rates growth and additional New Homes Bonus Scheme grant.  
 
Summary 
The 4 year capital programme 2020-24 totals £603m.  External funding from capital grants, 
section 106 agreements and third party contributions totals £293m.  Without this funding 
being available schemes of any significant size would not be affordable by the County 
Council. 
 
Discretionary Funding 

 
Discretionary capital programme totals £309m for the period 2020-24.  Funding is from the 
sale of County Council capital assets (capital receipts), MTFS revenue contributions and 
surplus earmarked funds.  Discretionary funding can also include prudential borrowing, 
which is unsupported by central government with the costs of financing the borrowing 
undertaken falling on the County Council’s revenue budget. 

 
Capital receipts 
Property Services are responsible for identifying additional capital receipts and maximising 
the sale value of surplus assets. Property Services will seek opportunities to maximise the 

47



APPENDIX F 
 

6 
 

value of surplus land, for instance by obtaining planning permission.  The targets for new 
capital receipts to fund the 2020-24 capital programme, are: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The target for 2020/21 has been adjusted by £6.5m to reflect timing delays in previous 
year’s estimates. The estimates are higher in the earlier years reflecting the increased 
confidence in the sale of those assets. 
 
Revenue Funding 
The capital programme 2020-24 includes a total of £72m in revenue funding of capital. 
 
On-going revenue - £1m is allocated in the MTFS. 
One-off revenue - £72m is allocated in the MTFS/ earmarked funds. These have arisen from 
past: 
 

• Opportunities from underspends – cannot be relied upon going forward. 
• MTFS risk contingency 
• Surplus earmarked funds no longer required 

 
Other 
 
For invest to save schemes, a discount rate of 6% will be used, including inflation, (3.5% for 
energy projects) as part of the net present value assessment in the business case. Only 
projects that show a positive return using these rates will be considered for inclusion in the 
capital programme. 
 
Funding from Internal Balances 
 
A total of £221m in funding required is included within the capital programme to fund the 
programme and enable investment in schools and highway infrastructure to be made.  Over 
the next 10 to 15 years it is anticipated that circa £100m of this funding will be repaid 
through the associated section 106 developer contributions.   

  
Due to the strength of the County Council’s balance sheet, it is possible to use internal 
balances (cash balances) to fund the capital programme on a temporary basis instead of 
raising new loans.  Levels of cash balances held by the Council, currently £260m, comprise 
the amounts held for earmarked funds, provisions, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) set 
aside for the repayment of debt, and working capital of the Council.  The cost of raising of 
external loans currently exceeds the cost of interest lost on cash balances by circa 2.5%. 

  
The overall cost of using internal balances to fund £221m of investment is estimated to be 
£8m per annum by 2024/25, comprising MRP of £6m and reduced interest from investments 

 General Earmarked Total 
 £m £m £m 

2020/21 -2.1 5.6 3.5 

2021/22 8.3 - 8.3 

2022/23 1.5 - 1.5 

2023/24 2.5 - 2.5 

Total 10.2 5.6 15.8 

48



APPENDIX F 
 

7 
 

of £2m.  This is a prudent assessment as the impact will reduce in future years as the 
funding is repaid. 

 
The County Council’s current level of external debt is £264m.  As described above this is 
not anticipated to increase during the MTFS.    
 
Affordability 
 
The impact of the discretionary programme on the revenue budget, and forecast at the end 
of the MTFS is: 
  

£m 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2023/24 

Revenue 1.7 0.7 0.7 1.0 

MRP 10.8 10.4 10.0 9.7 

Interest* 12.0 12.1 12.6 14.9 

On-going revenue Total 24.5 23.2 23.3 25.6 

% Revenue budget 7.0% 6.4% 6.2% 6.2% 

Voluntary MRP 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

One-off revenue 16.1 27.8 75.0 1.0 

One-off revenue 16.1 27.8 75.0 1.0 

Total 40.6 51.0 98.3 26.6 

% Revenue budget 11.7% 14.1% 26.1% 6.4% 
*includes reduction in income received from transferred debt and interest cost of internal 
borrowing. 

 
To ensure the discretionary programme remains affordable the following approach is taken 
to manage the MRP and interest charges: 
 

 No new external borrowing to finance capital expenditure. 

 Temporarily use internal balances from the overall council cash balances in advance 
of their designated use. 

 Review opportunities to repay debt. 

 Re-profile MRP in 2020/21 to be commensurate with the average age of assets funded 
from borrowing and delay the impact on the revenue budget.  It should be noted that 
this does not reduce the amount to be set aside but simply delays the period over 
which it is to be paid. 

 
Capital Financing Requirement (Borrowing) 
 
The CFR is the measure of the Council’s historic need to borrow for capital purposes.  As at 
31st March 2020 the CFR is forecast to be £237m compared with actual debt of £264m.  
The difference is a temporary ‘over-borrowed’ position pending future scheduled debt 
repayments and new prudential borrowing requirements.  The forecast cost of borrowing in 
2020/21 is £19m rising to £25m per annum in financing costs (external interest and MRP) 
which is met from the revenue budget.    
 
The planned use of internal cash balances to fund the four year capital programme will add 
£221m to the CFR.  Together with reductions made by MRP, the CFR is forecast to be 
£431m by the end of the MTFS (31 March 2024).  Assuming no new borrowing is 
undertaken in this period, actual debt would by £262m at that time, resulting in an 

49



APPENDIX F 
 

8 
 

underborrowed position of £169m.  This can be managed as interest charges of new debt is 
forecast to continue to be lower than the interest that can be earned on cash balances.  
 
The detailed approach to this is covered in the Treasury Management Strategy, approved 
by the County Council annually in February. 
 
Financial Management of the Capital Programme 
 
Prioritising the Programme 
 
The approach to compiling the capital programme is through a combination of service 
requirements developed by each relevant department, statutory requirements and asset 
management planning.  
 
For land and building assets, Strategic Property, in conjunction with service areas, develops 
all the estate strategies, asset management plans and property elements of the corporate 
capital and revenue programmes.  They seek to ensure that the County Council is making 
full use of all assets, and any under-performing or surplus assets are identified and dealt 
with by either their disposal or investment to improve their usage.  Outcomes from condition 
survey information together with on-going reviews of the property portfolio feed into the 
capital programme and revenue budget.  The Corporate Asset Management Plan, which 
promotes the rationalisation of property assets, reducing running costs and cost effective 
procurement of property and property services is reported annually to the Cabinet. 
 
The County Council operates the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) which invests in 
assets to achieve both economic development and investment returns.  A copy of the CAIF 
strategy is attached to the MTFS report.  The CAIF operates through the Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund Strategy with a view to: 
 

 Generate an income stream which increases the Council’s financial resilience given 
the decrease in government funding 

 Supports the delivery of front line services through increased income generation, or 
through capital investments that will reduce operating costs. 

 Supports the Council’s strategic objective of affordable and quality homes through 
helping to unlock and accelerate developments 

 Manage investment risk by investing in diverse sectors 

 Meet the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan, Strategic 
Plan, its Economic Growth Plan and the County-wide Local Industrial Strategy 

 Maximise returns on Council owned property assets 
 
Current holdings plus schemes in the 2019/20 and draft 2020-2024 capital programme will 
result in a total holding of £203m.  A balance of £57m has been included for new asset 
investments to bring the fund to the notional target of achieving a holding of £260m.  It is 
expected that this will be achieved within the next 5 years. Appraisal includes external due 
diligence performed before each purchase.  
 
The corporate programme also includes additional funding of £60m for the Future 
Developments fund.  The Fund is held to contribute towards schemes that have been 
identified but are not sufficiently detailed for inclusion in the capital programme at this time.  
There is a long list of projects that may require funding over the next 4 years.  These include 
investment in infrastructure for schools and roads arising from increases in population, 

50



APPENDIX F 
 

9 
 

investment in health and social care service user accommodation, highways match funding 
of capital bids, and investment in the efficiency and productivity programme.  The list of 
future developments is continually refreshed.  Bids against the fund will be managed 
through prioritisation and where possible the identification of alternative funding sources. 
This approach forms part of the wider strategy to ensure that the capital programme is 
deliverable, affordable and the risks are understood, in line with CIPFA’s requirements. 
 
For highways and associated infrastructure needs, the Council’s key transport policy 
document is the Local Transport Plan. This provides the long term strategy within which the 
Council manages and maintains its network. In light of the continuing financial challenge the 
Council’s priority is only to add to the highway network where this will help to enable new 
housing and jobs. Furthermore, additions will normally be considered only in circumstances 
where specific external funding can be secured to achieve this. 
 
Further improvements to the highway network will require continued pursuit of external 
resources such as Government grants and developer funding. Government grants include 
bids to funds including Growth Fund (through the LLEP), the Growth and Housing Fund, the 
National Productivity Investment Fund, Local Authorities Majors Fund and the Housing 
Investment Fund. In order to maximise the impact of funding that can be secured for 
improvements, the County Council is doing more to define the roles of the various elements 
of the road network so that it is able to target investment where it will be of most benefit, 
particularly in terms of supporting economic prosperity and growth. 
 
Bids for funding from the discretionary programme require the completion of a capital 
appraisal form for each project. The forms collate detailed information on the proposed 
project including justification against strategic outcomes, service objectives, statutory 
requirements and/or asset management planning, timelines, detailed costings including 
revenue consequences of the capital investment, and risks to delivery.  All bids for land and 
building projects are also supplemented by a Strategic Property scoping and assessment 
form.  Bids are then prioritised and assessed against the discretionary funding available.  
The revenue costs and savings associated with approved capital projects are included in 
the revenue budget. 
  
Where schemes have not yet been fully developed these are included as future 
developments in the capital programme. As schemes are developed they are assessed 
against the available resources and included in the capital programme as appropriate. 
 
Financial Management of Delivery 
 
The key risks to the delivery of the capital programme are overspending against the 
approved budget, delays in the delivery of projects/programmes thereby delaying the 
expected benefits, and delays in or non-receipt of external contributions towards the cost of 
the scheme. 
 
To ensure that capital spending and the delivery of this strategy is effectively managed:  
 

 Programmes being reviewed in light of the most up to date information around funding 
available and latest priorities. 

 All schemes within the programme being monitored regularly, usually monthly. 

51



APPENDIX F 
 

10 
 

 Financial progress being reported on a regular basis throughout the year and at year 
end to the Cabinet and Scrutiny Commission to update them on progress and any 
significant variations in costs.   

 Projects part or wholly funded by external contributions being separately monitored to 
ensure compliance with any funding conditions applicable. 

 All projects are assigned a project manager appropriate to the scale of the scheme. 

 The procurement of projects within the capital programme following the Council’s 
approved contract procedure rules and where applicable the Public Contract’s 
Regulations 2015.  

 
Financial Indicators - CAIF 
 
The Council has developed quantitative indicators to assess the total risk exposure as a 
result of its decisions. The indicators are based on statutory guidance on local government 
investments, and do not take account of Treasury Management investments unless these 
are expected to be held for more than 12 months, for example Private Debt. 
 
The indicators and estimated positions for the current year and final year of the MTFS are 
shown below (the indicators are being updated and will be included in the final version to 
Cabinet 7 February 2020, based on the most up to date information available): 
 
(CAIF Only)  Estimate* 

2019/20 
Estimate 
2023/24 

Debt to net service 
expenditure 
(NSE) ratio 

 

Gross debt as a percentage of net service 
expenditure, where net service 
expenditure is a proxy for the size and 
financial strength of a local authority. 

  

Commercial income 
to NSE ratio 

Dependence on non-fees and charges 
income to deliver core services. Fees and 
charges should be netted off gross 
service expenditure to calculate NSE. 

  

Investment cover 
ratio 

The total net income from property 
investments, compared to the interest 
expense. 

  

Loan to value ratio The amount of debt compared to the 
total asset value. 

  

Target income 
returns 

Net revenue income compared to equity. 
This is a measure of achievement of the 
portfolio of properties. 

  

Benchmarking of 
returns 

As a measure against other investments 
and against other council’s property 
portfolios. 

  

Gross and net 
income 

The income received from the investment 
portfolio at a gross level and net level 
(less costs) over time. 

  

Operating costs The trend in operating costs of the non-
financial investment portfolio over time, 
as the portfolio of non-financial 
investments expands. 

  

Vacancy levels and 
Tenant exposures 
for non-financial 

Monitoring vacancy levels (voids) ensure 
the property portfolio is being managed 
(including marketing and tenant 

  

52



APPENDIX F 
 

11 
 

investments relations) to ensure the portfolio is 
productive as possible. 

Amount of tenanted 
farmland disposed 
of vs acquired 

Monitoring the size of the County Farm 
Estate. 
 

  

Number of tenant 
farmers 

Monitoring how many farmers have 
taken leases on County Farms Properties 
with particular reference to new entrants 
to the farming sector. 

  

*No borrowing has been incurred in respect of CAIF expenditure to 2019/20. 
 
 
 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 27 JANUARY 2020 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21 – 2023/24 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE DIRECTOR OF 

CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to:   
  

a) provide information on the proposed 2020/21 to 2023/24 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Chief Executive’s Department; 
and  
 

b) ask the Commission to consider any issues as part of the consultation 
process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet accordingly.  

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 

2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2019.  This has been 
the subject of a comprehensive review and revision in light of the current economic 
circumstances.  The draft MTFS for 2020/21 – 2023/24 was considered by the 
Cabinet on 17 December 2019.  

  

Background 
 

3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 17 December 2019, a copy of 
which has been circulated to all members of the County Council.  This report 
highlights the implications for the Chief Executive’s Department. 
 

4. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process 
on the 7 February 2020 before recommending an MTFS, including a budget and 
capital programme for 2020/21, to the County Council on the 19 February 2020.   

  

Service Transformation 
 

5. The work of the Chief Executive's Department includes: Legal Services, 
Democratic Services and Civic and Member Support, Strategy and Business 
Intelligence (including Resilience, Communities and Economic Growth), Planning 
and the Historic and Natural Environment and Regulatory Services which includes 
Trading Standards and Registration and Coronial services.  

55 Agenda Item 9



  

 
6. The Council has established a Growth Unit to co-ordinate the Council’s 

contribution to the delivery of major growth projects and to help manage the 
financial and other risks associated with growth-related infrastructure provision.  

 

Proposed Revenue Budget 

 

7. Table 1 below summarises the proposed 2020/21 revenue budget and provisional 
budgets for the next three years thereafter. The proposed 2020/21 revenue budget 
is shown in detail in Appendix A.  
 

Table 1 – Revenue Budget 2020/21 to 2023/24 

 
 2020/21 

£000 

2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 
£000 

Original prior year budget 10,623 11,635 11,710 11,710 

Budget transfers and adjustments 347 0 0 0 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 800 75 0 0 

Less proposed savings (Appendix B) -135 0 0 0 

Proposed/Provisional budget 11,635 11,710 11,710 11,710 

 

8. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price 
inflation, a central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as 
necessary.  

 
9. The central contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in the 

employers’ contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme based upon the 
2019 triennial actuarial revaluation of the pension fund. 

 
10. The total proposed expenditure budget for 2020/21 is £17.9 million with 

contributions from grants, fees and charges and other income sources totalling 
£6.3 million. The proposed net budget for 2020/21 of £11.6 million is distributed as 
shown in Table 2 below: 

 
Table 2 - Net Budget 2020/21 

 £000 % 

Democratic Services and Civic and Member 
Support  

1,638 14.1 

Legal Services 2,357 20.3 

Strategy and Business Intelligence 4,443 38.2 

Emergency Management and Resilience 283 2.4 

Regulatory Services 2,444 21.0 

Planning, Historic and Natural Environment 439 3.7 

56



  

 £000 % 

Departmental Items 31 0.3 

   

Total 11,635 100.0 

 
 
Budget Transfers and Adjustments 
 

11. A number of budget transfers (totalling a net increase of £0.3 million) were made 
during the 2019/20 financial year.  

 

12. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 
classification; 

 * item unchanged from previous MTFS 

 ** item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made 

No stars - new item 
 

13. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings 
below. 

 

14. Savings have also been highlighted as ‘Eff’ or ‘SR’ dependent on whether the 
saving is seen as an efficiency or service reduction or a mixture of both. ‘Inc’ 
denotes those savings that are funding related and/or generate more income. 
 

Growth 
 

15. Details of proposed growth are set out in Appendix B and provide for an additional 
£0.9 million per annum by 2023/24. These are described in the following 
paragraphs.  

 

16. *G30 Hardship and Crisis Support Service; £60,000 in 2020/21 
 
The service comprises a combination of crisis and hardship provision of food, fuel 
and reused furniture and white goods.  The current annual cost of the service is 
£205,000 which is funded in 2019/20 by a combination of the existing budget 
provision of £145,000 topped up by remaining earmarked reserves.  The Service 
is delivered in partnership with all district councils and a range of Voluntary, 
Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) organisations.  The reasons for people 
needing support include benefits sanctions and delayed payments, budgetary and 
debt problems, homelessness, crime and domestic abuse.  The Service supports 
people to leave prison, refuges and other temporary accommodation and to move 
into more secure housing. 
 

 

 

57



  

17. G31: Increased demand on Coroner's Service; £100,000 in 2020/21 
 
Coronial services are funded and administered by the relevant local authority. The 
role of HM Coroner is to investigate and record the causes and circumstances of 
all sudden deaths where the cause is not known, violent or unnatural deaths and 
any death which occurred whilst the deceased was in lawful custody.  There are 
two coronial areas encompassing Leicestershire. The North Leicestershire and 
Rutland Coroner’s Service is administered by the County Council and subject to 
recharge to Rutland Council. The Leicester City and South Leicestershire 
Coroner’s Service is administered by Leicester City Council, although the County 
Council is required to meet 40% of the cost of delivering the service based on an 
approximate pro-rata volume of work with the proportion to be contributed by each 
Council being fixed by the Ministry of Justice.  HM Coroners are judicial 
postholders and expenditure can be difficult to predict, but the overall trend is an 
increase in the volume and complexity of cases as a result of an increase in 
population numbers and a change in the scope of inquests subject to coronial 
inquiry. In previous years Leicester City Council required contributions 
substantially above their forecasted expenditure.      
 

18. G32: Registrar of births and deaths - legislation changes; £25,000 in 2020/21 
 
Changes to the way in which marriages are registered will require the service to 
process marriage registrations and issue certificates from all religious 
establishments. This is predicted to require administration support for an additional 
600 marriages per annum. There will be some income, but it is not sufficient to 
cover the costs. 
 
Additional resources are required to meet the increase in demand for the 
registration of births. There are national performance indicators for registering 90% 
of deaths within five days. 
 
Opposite sex civil partnerships commenced in December 2019, for which demand 
and income is currently unknown.  
 
The growth is required to maintain service levels taking into account the projected 
annual population growth for the county of Leicestershire. (approx. 4,200 per 
annum). 
 

19. G33: Business Intelligence - support C&FS and E&T; £115,000 in 2020/21 rising 
to £190,000 in 2021/22 
 
Increased capacity is required to: 
 

 Provide additional business intelligence support for the Children and Family 
Services Department.  In particular, additional support is required to support 
SEND/High Needs Block intelligence – an area of high expenditure and at 
high risk of costs escalating – hence the need for better quality data, at a 
pupil level, to predict demand and identify opportunities to achieve savings.  
Work is also urgently needed to set up new systems and robust daily 
management information following restructuring in the department and the 
establishment of the Children and Family Wellbeing Service.  This will 

58



  

provide daily insight to enable more efficient planning and delivery of 
frontline services, better decision making and the ability to measure 
interventions more accurately.   

 

 Provide additional business intelligence support for the Environment and 
Transport Department.  This resource will enable the provision of daily 
operational data to enable more efficient deployment of resources in 
highways and data-driven decision making.  It will also provide Business 
Intelligence support to underpin the climate emergency work. 

 

 The resource will also work alongside the Transformation Unit in both 
departments to provide the evidence to drive strategic change. 

 

20. G34: Growth Unit - manage increased infrastructure programme; £500,000 in 
2020/21 
 
The Cabinet at its meeting on 24th May 2019 recognised the significant financial 

risks facing the County Council in delivering the infrastructure necessary to 

support growth in the county. The establishment of a central Growth Unit, based in 

the Chief Executive’s Department, is intended to ensure that essential 

infrastructure and public services are planned over the short, medium and long 

term and that the risks associated with the Council’s financial contribution to large 

scale growth and infrastructure projects are tightly managed. 

 
The Growth Unit, which will report directly to the Assistant Chief Executive, is 
currently being set up and a budget of £0.5 million has been allocated for 2020/21 
onwards.  Once the Growth Manager posts have been appointed to and the full 
structure confirmed, the forecast for 2020/21 can be fully updated. 
 

Savings 

 

21. Details of proposed savings are set out in Appendix B and total £0.1 million in 
2020/21. These are detailed in the following paragraphs.  

 

22. *CE1: Inc Legal Services Income; £40,000 in 2020/21 
 

The rate charged for external legal advice to the Council’s trading partners is being 
reviewed to ensure that it reflects the Council’s commercial strategy.  It is also 
intended to review the charging arrangements for s106 and highway agreements 
following benchmarking which is likely to increase the income to the legal services 
budget. 

 

23. *CE2: SR/Eff Review of grants and contracts across Communities, Policy and 
Resilience services; £85,000 in 2020/21 

 
To deliver the MTFS targets, a review of all grants, contracts and VCSE funding 
arrangements will be undertaken.  A VCSE policy statement has been developed 
setting out the Council’s approach to working with the sector.  The revised 
approach will actively seek to promote joint working and cooperation across the 

59



  

sector, eliminate duplication of effort and costs, and provide a more sustainable, 
transparent and fair approach to funding.   The new VCSE policy statement and 
review of funding arrangements will build on and complement the Communities 
Strategy, Strategic Plan, Leicestershire Compact and Social Value Policy.   

 

24. *CE3: Inc Planning, Historic and Natural Environment Fee Income; £10,000 in 
2020/21 

 
As income has been in excess of the budgeted value in the past, a target for 
additional income generation has been set. 
 
   

Savings Under Development 

 
25. The Department has been requested to identify £500,000 of additional savings 

from 2020/21. The Department will convene a working group to review the 
achievement of this potential additional savings target.   

 
 
External Influences 

 
26. EU Exit 

 
Following the UK’s departure from the EU, both Regulatory Services, Trading 
Standards, and Legal Services will experience a significant increase in the 
demand for their services because of new regulatory frameworks that will come 
into effect, which may impact on the achievement of the MTFS in 2020/21.  
Depending on the nature of the Exit from the EU (e.g. with or without a deal) there 
may also be implications for the work of the Resilience and Business Continuity 
Team and the Economic Growth Team. 

 

27. Demand Led Activity 
 
Many of the services delivered by Legal Services and Regulatory Services, 
Trading Standards, Coroners and Registrars, are demand led.  The expected 
growth in the local population, especially the average age of residents, will 
increase the demand on services.  Consumer fraud is on the increase, which will 
place more demand on Trading Standards to tackle scams and other forms of 
financial crime.      

 

Other Funding Sources 
 

28. For 2020/21, the following government grant is expected: 
 

The Local Reform and Community Voices Grant (£280,000 in 2019/20) provides 
funding to support the local Healthwatch and Independent Complaints Advocacy 
services. Local Healthwatch is the consumer champion for patients and the public 
in health and social care. The Independent Complaints Advocacy Service (ICAS) 
provides support to people who wish to make a complaint about the service they 

60



  

have received from the NHS. The level of funding has yet to be confirmed for 
2020/21. 

 

Capital Programme  
 

29. The Chief Executive’s Department capital programme totals £1.0 million in 
2020/21 and £8.8 million over the next four years. Details are provided at 
Appendix C and in the following paragraphs.  

 
30. Superfast Broadband 

 
The previous Rural Broadband Scheme reported in the 2019 MTFS assumed that 
the programme would deliver universal superfast broadband coverage across the 
county.  The Phase 3 contract was awarded to BT Openreach on 6 August 2019 
and covers the West of the county only. Phase 4, which will extend broadband 
provision in the East of the county, is currently being tendered. 

Phase 1 of the Programme which was formally closed in 2018/19 is expected to 
generate £2m for Leicestershire County Council from the return of Gainshare. This 
is a profit-sharing mechanism that redresses any over public subsidy.   The 
monies will be received between 2018 and 2023 and will be used to repay the 
capital funding.  

 

31. Shire Community Solutions Grants 
 
The funding requested is to continue the capital scheme at the present level of 
funding of £0.1 million per year. There is also an annual revenue budget of £0.25 
million per year in the current MTFS. The Shire Community Grants scheme 
provides funding to voluntary and community sector organisations for projects 
supporting implementation of the Communities Strategy, in particular to support of 
vulnerable and disadvantaged people and communities. Providing support to 
these communities in the form of grant funded projects should also reduce 
demand for Council services in the longer term. 

 

Background Papers 
 
Cabinet 17 December 2019 - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2023/24 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-
%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf 
 

Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact  
 
John Sinnott, Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 6000 
E-mail: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 
 

61

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s150282/MTFS%202020-24%20-%20Cab%20171219%20final.pdf
mailto:john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk


  

Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel: 0116 305 6240 
E-mail: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk  
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 306 7019 
E-mail: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk  
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
List of Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2020/21 

Appendix B – Growth & Savings 2020/21 – 2023/24 

Appendix C – Capital Programme 2020/21 – 2023/24 

Equality and Human Rights implications  

 

32. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; and 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 
those who do not.   
 

33. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 
protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact 
of the proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage 
prior to any final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in 
light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. 
Those assessments will be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure 
decision makers have information to understand the effect of any service change, 
policy or practice on people who have a protected characteristic. 

 

34. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to 
the County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

 

62

mailto:lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk
mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21

Budget

2019/20 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income Net Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES, ADMIN & CIVIC 

AFFAIRS

1,413,983 Democratic Services and Administration 1,310,589 118,227 0 1,428,816 -69,833 1,358,983

114,000 Subscriptions 0 114,000 0 114,000 0 114,000

164,871 Civic Affairs 30,106 140,765 0 170,871 -6,000 164,871

1,692,854 TOTAL 1,340,695 372,992 0 1,713,687 -75,833 1,637,854

2,342,433 LEGAL SERVICES 3,351,404 161,500 -690,471 2,822,433 -465,000 2,357,433

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS 

INTELLIGENCE

1,233,726 Business Intelligence 1,995,705 118,271 -445,300 1,668,676 -319,950 1,348,726

566,070 Economic Growth 554,522 247,000 -111,100 690,422 -124,350 566,072

1,632,010 Policy and Communities 685,076 1,408,594 -87,450 2,006,220 -399,258 1,606,962

421,484 Management and Administration 416,682 4,850 0 421,532 0 421,532

0 Growth Unit 566,384 156,259 -222,643 500,000 0 500,000

3,853,290 TOTAL 4,218,369 1,934,974 -866,493 5,286,850 -843,558 4,443,292

283,118

EMERGENCY MANGEMENT AND 

RESILLIENCE 550,389 44,236 0 594,625 -311,534 283,091

REGULATORY SERVICES

1,486,492 Trading Standards 1,638,989 209,840 -130,000 1,718,829 -230,200 1,488,629

992,772 Coroners 187,561 954,600 0 1,142,161 -51,500 1,090,661

-160,270 Registrars 980,020 84,710 0 1,064,730 -1,200,000 -135,270 

2,318,994 TOTAL 2,806,570 1,249,150 -130,000 3,925,720 -1,481,700 2,444,020

448,879 PLANNING SERVICES 939,252 171,158 -18,301 1,092,109 -653,230 438,879

30,879 DEPARTMENTAL ITEMS 37,293 800,850 -807,264 30,879 0 30,879

10,970,447 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVES 13,243,972 4,734,860 -2,512,529 15,466,303 -3,830,855 11,635,448

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S DEPARTMENT

63



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

References 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

2019 MTFS £000 £000 £000 £000

GROWTH

Demand & cost increases

* G30 Hardship and Crisis Support Service 60 60 60 60

G31 Increased demand on Coroner's Service 100 100 100 100

G32 Registrar of births and deaths - legislation changes 25 25 25 25

G33 Business Intelligence - support C&FS and E&T 115 190 190 190

Other growth

G34 Growth Unit - manage increased infrastructure progamme 500 500 500 500

Total 800 875 875 875

SAVINGS

* CE1 Inc Legal Services - Income -40 -40 -40 -40

* CE2 SR/Eff Review of grants and contracts across Communities, Policy and 

Resilience services -85 -85 -85 -85

* CE3 Inc Planning, Historic and Natural Environment -Fee Income -10 -10 -10 -10

Total -135 -135 -135 -135

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff = Efficiency saving;  SR = Service reduction;  Inc = Income

65



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

CHIEF EXECUTIVES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 to 2023/24 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2020/21       

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-24 400 Leicestershire Grants 100 100 100 100 400

Mar-22 2,900 Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 3 890 1,840 2,730

Mar-23 5,630 Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 3 Extension (tbc) 0 2,000 3,630 5,630

Total Chief Executives 990 3,940 3,730 100 8,760

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Relocation of Hinckley Registry Office

Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 4 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 27 JANUARY 2020 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21–2023/24 

CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Provide information on the proposed 2020/2021 to 2023/24 Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Corporate Resources Department; 
 

b) Ask members of the Scrutiny Commission to consider any issues as part of the 
consultation process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet accordingly.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2019. The draft MTFS for 

2020/21–2023/24 was considered by the Cabinet on 17 December 2019. 
 
Background 
 
3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 17 December 2019, a copy of which has 

been circulated to all members of the County Council. This report highlights the 
implications for the Corporate Resources Department. 

 
4. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process on 8 February 
2020 before recommending a MTFS, including a budget and capital programme for 
2020/21 to the County Council in February 2020. 

 
Service Overview 
 
5. Corporate Resources (CR) provides front line, traded and support services to enable the 

organisation to be efficient and effective through the Digital and Information Technology, 
People, Workplace and Commercial agendas. 

 

6. The CR department is also undergoing significant change through the Fit for the Future 
project which will transform the system (replacing Oracle) and ways of working for the 
functions of Finance, HR, Procurement and East Midlands Shared Services (EMSS).   

 

7. Additionally, programmes such as the Corporate Asset Investment Fund, alongside 
developing work streams around the Workplace Strategy and Wider Commercialism, 

69 Agenda Item 10



 
 

have the potential to fundamentally transform the way the Corporate Services function 
operates and drives efficiencies. 

 

Proposed Revenue Budget 
 
8. The table below summarises the proposed 2020/21 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next three years.     
 

 2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

Original prior year budget 32,930 32,805 32,515 32,125 

Budget Transfers and Adjustments 1,905 1,000 0 0 

Sub total  34,835 33,805 32,515     32,125 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 565 -100 -100 -100 

Less proposed savings (Appendix C) -2595 -1190 -290 -530 

Proposed/Provisional net budget  32,805 32,515 32,125 31,495 

 
 

9. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation, a 
central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary. 

 

10. This contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in the employers’ 
contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme based upon the 2016 triennial 
actuarial revaluation of the pension fund. 

 

11. The total proposed expenditure is £91.9m with a gross budget for 2020/21 of £67.1m 
after accounting for internal income, recharges and contributions from earmarked funds 
of £24.8m. Trading income and other grants are projected at £34.3m resulting in a 
proposed net budget for 2020/21 of £32.8m which is distributed as follows: 

 
 

Net Budget  2020/21 

Strategic Finance & Property, Assurance 
and EMSS  

 
£6.2m 

Corporate Services - People, Information & 
Technology and Transformation 

 
£15.8m 

Customer and Property Services £12.4m 

Commercial Services net contribution  -£1.6m 

Department Total £32.8m 

 
 
Other Changes and Transfers 
 
12. The original 2019/20 Corporate Resources budget has been increased by £1.9m to 

account for the transfers listed below:  
  

a) £1.2m for pay (including increments relating to the National Living Wage) and 
pension inflation transferred from the central inflation contingency 

70



 
 

b) £0.8m of funding transferred from Adults and Communities relating to the 
operating cost of the Adaptations Team transferred to Leicestershire Traded 
Services (LTS) Property from April 2020. 
 

c) (£0.1m) of funding for Central Maintenance Fund (CMF) for Waste transferred 
from LTS Property to Environment and Transport. 

 
13. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 

classification: 
 
*   item unchanged from previous MTFS; 
**   item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made; 
No stars new item. 

 
14. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 
 
15. Savings have also been highlighted as “Eff” or “SR” dependent on whether the saving is 

seen as an efficiency or a service reduction or a mixture of both. “Inc” denotes those 
savings that are funding related or to generate more income. 

 
Growth 
 
16. The total amount of growth requested for 2020/21 is £0.6m, representing 1.7% of the 

existing net Corporate Resources budget.  Details are included below. 
 

17. G36 Customer Service Centre – Temporary Additional Resource - £0.3m 2020/21 
reducing to £0.0m by 2023/24. 
 
The Customer Service Centre (CSC) is the first point of contact for customers of Adult 
Social Care, Highways and Transport enquiries, Waste Management, Regulatory 
Services and School Admissions; answering a half a million customer contacts every 
year across a range of channels. 

 
Additional resources are temporarily required to meet additional demand due to the 
recent extension to the Blue Badge scheme and the delay to realising efficiencies and 
savings from technological improvements to working practices. This additional budget 
will be reduced by £0.1m each subsequent year of the MTFS.  
 

18. G35 Strategic Property Services – Additional resources to manage the increasing asset 
portfolio held by the Authority - £0.12m. 

 
Following the Strategic Property Services action plan, additional resources have been 
identified in the Asset Management Team to manage the increasing asset portfolio held 
by the Authority. It has been necessary to restructure Strategic Property Services to 
address the changing demands for its services and the roles that it undertakes to deliver 
ever increasing demands on staff and resources. The Asset Management Team needs to 
be strengthened to fulfil its role as the Corporate Landlord. 

 
19.  G37 Improved complaints handling – Additional resource to manage complaints to the 

Authority - £0.05m     
 
Additional resource required to manage the increased workload.  

71



 
 

 
  

20. G38 LTS Country Parks – Additional resources to support Country Parks and Open 
Spaces Strategy - £0.1m 
 
Additional management resource required to ensure the implementation and coordination 
of the agreed strategy. 
 

Savings 
 
21. The MTFS proposed savings for Corporate Resources total £2.6m for 2020/21 rising to 

£4.6m by 2023/24. The main savings are detailed below. 
 

22. *CR1 Eff   Review of staff absence - £0.025m in 2020/21 
 

This reflects the intention to meet or exceed the County Council’s target of 7.5 days per 
FTE. Corporate Resources met the sickness target, however in recent months the 
annualised figure has increased due to several long-term illnesses within the department. 
A combination of increased visibility and awareness of absence management policies, 
training for managers and a renewed focus on performance is working to improve the 
position.  

 
23. *CR2 Eff   Workplace Strategy - £0.2m in 2021/22 rising to £0.6m in 2023/24  
 

Following the success of the previous Accommodation Strategy and County Hall Master 
Plan, additional efficiencies are expected from a further review of the Council’s estate.  
 
The Workplace Programme was initiated to bring together key workstreams of IT, 
Property, Transformation, HR/OD and Communications to work collaboratively to drive 
new, more flexible, ways of working.  The Workplace Programme is not simply about how 
the physical workplace is used (desks and buildings), but about successfully delivering 
changes in both culture and infrastructure which will maximise the potential benefits of 
embedding new ways of working within the Council. 
 
Progress on the Workplace Strategy has continued at pace, with a pilot being rolled out to 
look at how LCC staff use ICT systems and to baseline worker styles and costs.  
 

24. **CR3 Eff / Inc Increasing Commercial Services contribution - £0.25m by 2023/24  
 

Between 2016 and 2020 LTS had a target to increase the contribution it makes to 
Leicestershire County Council by a net £2m through a combination of increased sales, 
customers and prices and reducing costs.  
 
In 2018/19 LTS achieved a surplus of £1.6m. This was £0.4m below target in part due to 
additional wage cost pressures resulting from the increased National Living Wage (NLW). 
This pressure will continue with the Government’s commitment to achieve a NLW of 
£10.50 per hour by 2024/25 which is expected to add an additional £0.4m per annum cost 
to School Food Services. 
 
Pressure continues to be applied to increase revenues and reduce costs at every 
opportunity. LTS is increasing contribution each year, the operation is expected to 
achieve its contribution target of £2m in 2023/24.  

72



 
 

 
25. *CR4 Eff   Environment Improvements - Energy & Water Strategy- £0.07m from 2020/21, 

rising to £0.17m by 2023/24 
 
The Energy and Water Strategy 2017-2021 looks to build upon the efficiencies delivered 
in the 2014 Strategy, which drove reductions in annual energy consumption, savings on 
energy bills and investment targeting the use of renewable energy. Schemes such as the 
biomass boiler at County Hall and the installation of Solar Panels across the Council’s 
estate have previously delivered savings in excess of £0.13m annually.  
 
The Water Strategy has been developed to increase water efficiency at County Council 
run properties. The Strategy sets out to reduce annual water consumption by 10%; 
equating to £0.02m annual savings to contribute towards the Energy and Water annual 
savings target. Furthermore, the Strategy sets out to recycle water and source its own 
water through boreholes, rainwater recycling and greywater recycling. 
 
Energy 'Invest to Save' projects will be pursued via capital schemes for which business 
cases are being developed. Projects will target buildings using the most Energy to ensure 
the property estate is fit for purpose.  
 
Property Services will continue to investigate opportunities to ‘trade’ Energy Performance 
upgrades with public sector partners in an approach similar to the Schools Collaboration 
on Reducing Energy (Score+) scheme described in paragraph 26 below. Public sector 
bodies would be able to access the County Council’s experience and knowledge of 
Energy Management while accessing the successful Energy Performance Contract to 
realise asset upgrades to save energy. 

 
26. *CR5 Inc   Environment Improvements – SCORE and Energy efficiency scheme –  

£0.05m from 2020/21 rising to £0.1m 2021/22   
 
The Score+ scheme has been rolled out to targeted schools and further schemes are 
anticipated. Score+ allows schools access to the County Council’s Energy Performance 
Contract to upgrade assets to save energy. This reduces carbon emissions and the 
school’s energy bills. The schools can access County Council funding to finance the 
energy upgrades. Interest and management fees are added to the funding to generate 
income, contributing towards this savings target.  
 
The Score+ scheme is now well established at Hinckley Parks and is generating a regular 
income stream from the repayment of the capital works. An additional scheme has been 
agreed at Countesthorpe College and work will start on this scheme shortly, with a regular 
income stream to the Council anticipated. Energy Assessments are being undertaken in 
partnership with Veolia at Hinckley Academy, Charnwood College and Lutterworth 
College and the Learn Trust, which has ten primary schools which may lead to full 
schemes (and resultant income) in the future. 

 
27. *CR6 Eff   Returns from Corporate Asset Investment Fund - £2.4m from 2020/21 rising to 

£3.0m in 2021/22 
 
Asset investment possibilities are being appraised and, subject to the business case and 
views of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund Advisory Board, approved by the Cabinet 
or Director of Corporate Resources under delegated powers. These investments will 
generate an additional ongoing revenue stream or future capital receipts. A target of £3m 

73



 
 

p.a. additional revenue income by 2021/22 is included in the MTFS. This is based upon 
schemes that are complete or at an advanced stage, making delivery highly likely. The 
target will be increased in later years as further projects reach a sufficiently advanced 
stage. This will be reflected through future MTFS refreshes which will balance the use of 
the income between supporting the overall revenue position for the authority and funding 
further capital investments. 

 
An additional income of £1m in respect of interest returns on pooled property funds is 
included in the central items budget as part of bank interest received.   

 
On-site developments at Apollo Business Park in Coalville and the first phase of Airfield 
Business park at Market Harborough are on time and on budget and will provide 120,000 
sq. ft. of new business floor space and generate additional rental income during 2021/22.  
 
The Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park (LUSEP) 100,000 sq. ft. new 
headquarters for The Access Group is due to complete in July 2020.  

 
28. **CR7 Eff Review Financial Provisions for Future Liabilities - £0.3m from 2020/21  

 
The County Council makes provision from the revenue budget for a range of future 
liabilities and these provisions can be changed in line with expected liabilities and 
regulations. The County Council’s insurance claims experience has improved to the 
extent that the annual contribution exceeds the forecast for claims. To ensure that the 
earmarked fund does not exceed requirements it is proposed to reduce the annual 
contributions from 2020/21.  
 

29. **CR8 Inc Place to Live – Accommodation Income - £0.04m in 2021/22, rising to £0.16m 
by 2023/24 
 
The Social Care Investment Programme (SCIP), led by the Adults and Communities 
Department, involves the County Council acquiring and developing supported 
accommodation for its vulnerable service users. As a result of owning the freehold to 
these buildings, the County Council will generate income from lease agreements with its 
newly chosen strategic landlord for the programme, Nottingham Community Housing 
Association. 
 
Savings Under Development 

 
30. The draft MTFS as presented to Cabinet on the 17th December 2019 shows a balanced 

position in 2020/21 and 2021/22 but shows shortfalls of £19.0m in 2022/23 rising to 
£38.9m in 2023/24. The Corporate Resources Department has been tasked with finding 
an additional £2.0m reduction to the department’s net expenditure within the current 
MTFS window. Several initiatives are under development to meet the department’s 
revised target as set out below.  
 
Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 
 

31. Initiatives to support Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy including visitor 
attractions, park runs, family events and concerts will provide a commercial opportunity to 
offset existing County Park operating cost from ticket sales, car park revenue and café 
turnover.  

74



 
 

This will build on the success of the café at Beacon Hill which opened last summer and 
based on current activity is expected to achieve a full year turnover of £170,000 together 
with additional cark park takings of £45,000.  

  
    Beaumanor Outdoor Activity / Learning Centre 

 
32. Beaumanor annually provides outdoor activities, both on a residential and day visit basis, 

to over 23,000 students from 500 schools based within the East Midlands Region. A 
business case is under development to providing an increase in residential capacity 
through the refurbishment of existing buildings and upgrading of facilities. Initial feasibility 
studies indicate a capital expenditure of £2.8m would be required to provide an additional 
110 beds with an additional annual income expectation of £0.9m and net contribution of 
£0.4m. 

 
 Workplace Strategy     
 
33. In addition to the savings to be delivered through the Workplace Strategy through a 

rationalisation of the Council’s property portfolio, there is the potential for further savings 
to be delivered as a result of increased efficiencies from enhanced working practices, 
upgraded technology, improved wellbeing, as well as potential reductions in travel. These 
are still being investigated by the project team to quantify the exact cashable benefit.  

 
Departmental Operating Costs 
   

34. A review of all significant operating costs will take place with Assistant Directors to 
understand changes in demand and requirement across the period which need to be 
reflected within the MTFS. 

 
Fit for Future 
 

35. Updating the existing Oracle E-Business system with the latest Cloud based solution will 
deliver contract savings at the end of its implementation during 2020/21. Additional 
benefits are expected from self-serve modules allowing new ways of working, savings 
from which will be assessed and quantified in the next stage of the programme. 

  
Digital 

 
36. A digital team has been established in the ICT Service. This team will drive improvement 

and efficiencies across the Council, initially within Corporate Resources.   
 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) 
 

37. There is the potential for additional income to be made from an increase in the overall 
CAIF fund and the delivery of the existing investment programme. Further investment 
opportunities have been identified that could increase the overall CAIF programme to 
£260m, from the original target of £200m. These are at very early stages and have not yet 
been included in the draft 4-year programme.   
 
 
 
 

75



 
 

Corporate Resources Capital Programme  
 

38. The Corporate Resources capital programme totals £12.7m over the next four years 
including £4.3m in 2020/21 and is described in more detail in the following paragraphs. 
 

39. ICT and Digital infrastructure and developments: £1.75m in 2020/21 with £6.7m over the 
MTFS period 
 
Investment in technology and digital capability throughout the organisation is a priority to 
increase efficient and modern ways of working in addition to maintaining security and 
robust systems and infrastructure.  This investment includes replacement, capacity 
growth and upgrade across the corporate estate for 2020/21 including: 
 

 £0.12m is required to replace the Information Technology Service Management 
(ITSM) tool and associated Customer Portal.  
 

 £0.1m investment in a refresh of the Wireless Controllers approaching end of life.  
 

 £0.28m (£1.6m across the MTFS) is required to support the Corporate ICT 
programme, which is to be used to ensure that all existing hardware remains 
supported to provide a stable and constant ICT function to the Authority.   

 

 £0.25m is scheduled to be spent in 2020/21 (£1m across the MTFS) to support 
the Workplace Strategy through the provision of ICT devices in line with identified 
worker styles.    

 

 £1m is required in 2020/21 (£3.7m across the MTFS) to deliver the End User 
Device refresh to support the Workplace Strategy Programme. This will see the 
provision of IT devices in line with worker styles including provision of laptops and 
corporate strategy for device refresh.  

 
40. Property (Major Maintenance and Improvements): £2.19m in 2020/21 with £3.72m over 

the MTFS period 
 
The property capital programme includes: 
 

 £0.2m in year one (£1.4m across the MTFS) to implement the property element of 
the Workplace Strategy, including works to improve offices, costs of dilapidations 
of offices we are exiting and to include costs of churn to accommodate the new 
desk ratios.  
 

 £1.0m to finalise the delivery of the Snibston and Country Park Masterplan, which 
will see the site transformed into a visitor destination, including an improved café 
offering and cycle park alongside a Country Park offering.  

 

 £0.88m to purchase the covenant from the Coal Authority in relation to Snibston 
Country Park on the site of the formal Snibston Discovery Museum. 
 

 £0.11m of a £0.44m scheme across the MTFS to replace the simplex and duplex 
lifts in the Pen Lloyd building at County Hall, which are in need of replacement 
following frequent breakdowns and an increasing cost of maintenance.  

76



 
 

 
41. Climate Change - Environmental Improvements £0.33m in 2020/21 with £2.31m over the 

MTFS period. 
 
The £0.33m comprises: 
 

 0.28m in 20/21 (£1.26m across the MTFS) to support the Energy and Water 
Strategy saving and invest in more energy efficiency schemes, such as improved 
lighting, boiler replacements, heating control enhancements and a further roll out 
of Solar Panels. 
 

 £0.05m for additional investment in Electric Vehicle Car Charging Points, 
following the success of the initial deployment of 30 stations in 2018/19. The 
additional charging points will be targeted at public locations managed by the 
Council, such as Bosworth Battlefield and Beacon Hill, dependant on feasibility 
studies. 

 
 Future Developments 

 
42. Where capital projects are not yet fully developed or plans agreed these have been 

included under the heading of ‘Future Developments’ under the department’s 
programme in Appendix D. It is intended that as these schemes are developed during 
the year and where there is a financial justification, or an investment required to maintain 
delivery of the service, they are included in the capital programme.  
 

43. The potential programmes and schemes that may require capital investment in the 
future include: 

 

 Information and Technology enabling projects and major systems 
replacement, including a potential VDI refresh; 
 

 Commercial investments (including Beaumanor Outdoor Activity Centre) 
which can demonstrate a positive ongoing revenue benefit; 

  

 The next stage of a Workplace Strategy to achieve additional savings 
building on previous County Hall Master Plan and other Accommodation 
Review successes; and 

 

 Additional investment in Energy schemes which would generate energy  
 
Background Papers 

 

 Cabinet : 17 December 2019 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2023/24 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b14938/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy
%20202021%20to%20202324%20-
%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20Tuesday%2017-Dec-2019.pdf?T=9  

 
Circulation under local issues alert procedure 
 
None. 
 

77

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b14938/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202021%20to%20202324%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20Tuesday%2017-Dec-2019.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b14938/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202021%20to%20202324%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20Tuesday%2017-Dec-2019.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b14938/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202021%20to%20202324%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20Tuesday%2017-Dec-2019.pdf?T=9


 
 

 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199  
E-mail chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
Declan Keegan, Director of Finance, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 

E-mail: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2020/21 
Appendix B – Growth  
Appendix C – Savings  
Appendix D – Capital Programme 2020/21 – 2023/24 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
44. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not;  
and 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 
those who do not.   

 
45. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 

protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact of the 
proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 
final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the potential 
impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those assessments will 
be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure decision makers have information 
to understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a 
protected characteristic. 

 
46. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 

County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

 
 
 

78

mailto:lsley.hagger@leics.gov.uk


CORPORATE RESOURCES  APPENDIX A

Budget

2020/21

REVENUE SUMMARY 2020/21 Employees 

Costs

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Exspenditue

External 

Income

Net           

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Strategic Finance, Assurance, Property & EMSS 

2,856,750 Strategic Property 1,871,990 1,879,320 -547,730 3,203,580 -285,950 2,917,630

2,461,210 Strategic Finance 2,971,090 152,640 -498,590 2,625,140 -161,410 2,463,730

1,177,210 Care Finance 919,290 303,650 0 1,222,940 -33,270 1,189,670

391,900 Internal Audit 873,560 15,650 -39,000 850,210 -460,500 389,710

1,834,570 Insurance 269,500 4,303,090 -995,420 3,577,170 -2,064,990 1,512,180

118,000 Corporate Projects 0 23,100 -51,000 -27,900 0 -27,900

-708,860 CAIF Industrial Properties 0 1,377,100 0 1,377,100 -2,086,000 -708,900

10 Corporate Asset Investment Fund 299,890 772,960 -1,130,650 -57,800 -2,342,230 -2,400,030

-485,750 CAIF County Farms 0 727,750 0 727,750 -1,223,500 -495,750

0 Pensions 1,297,870 4,300 -1,302,200 -30 0 -30

1,404,380 EMSS 4,472,740 2,150,410 -1,415,770 5,207,380 -3,803,010 1,404,370

9,049,420 Total Director of Finance 12,975,930 11,709,970 -5,980,360 18,705,540 -12,460,860 6,244,680

People, Information & Technology and Transformation 

1,272,070 Human Resources 1,418,400 55,620 -173,050 1,300,970 -30,000 1,270,970

420,260 Health & Safety 482,410 51,300 -109,710 424,000 0 424,000

199,640 Trade Union 192,450 0 0 192,450 0 192,450

1,365,760 Learning & Development 805,020 872,090 -139,190 1,537,920 -175,000 1,362,920

1,024,240 Commissioning Support Unit 1,178,800 33,950 -130,000 1,082,750 -25,000 1,057,750

10,226,500 Information & Technology 6,927,380 4,233,380 -934,450 10,226,310 -6,000 10,220,310

1,330,820 Transformation Unit 4,154,150 1,123,480 -3,823,710 1,453,920 -151,930 1,301,990

15,839,290 Total Corporate Services 15,158,610 6,369,820 -5,310,110 16,218,320 -387,930 15,830,390

Customer & Property Services (excl trading) 

1,991,340 Customer Service Centre 2,625,840 -95,730 -214,500 2,315,610 -26,850 2,288,760

1,480,460 Business Support 897,770 183,150 -129,660 951,260 -13,600 937,660

0 CR Management 606,600 13,550 -33,000 587,150 0 587,150

955,870 Marketing and Communications 1,163,640 234,370 -409,270 988,740 -9,300 979,440

1,129,970 County Hall 268,190 1,539,010 -38,000 1,769,200 -631,820 1,137,380

739,303 C&F, A&C, R&HW and Other Sites 3,550 795,370 0 798,920 -32,000 766,920

1,062,290 Library & Community Premise Costs 0 1,098,340 0 1,098,340 0 1,098,340

155,000 Vacant properties and unattached land 0 275,320 0 275,320 -122,000 153,320

808,620 Facilities Mgmt Premises Support 949,980 100,630 -156,000 894,610 0 894,610

435,850 Property Services Business Support 423,560 13,010 0 436,570 0 436,570

132,790 Postal Services 102,310 53,710 -28,770 127,250 0 127,250

65,260 Traveller Services 224,670 56,920 -15,000 266,590 -198,360 68,230

579,730 Supported Employment 560,610 20,000 0 580,610 0 580,610

2,300,000 Major Condition Improvement Works 0 3,750,000 -1,450,000 2,300,000 0 2,300,000

11,836,483 Total Customer & Property Services 7,826,720 8,037,650 -2,474,200 13,390,170 -1,033,930 12,356,240

-943,090 LTS Catering & School Food 10,770,680 7,523,350 -7,036,800 11,257,230 -12,166,680 -909,450

-786,390 LTS Professional Services 1,948,790 415,960 -175,370 2,189,380 -2,954,390 -765,010

381,719 LTS Property 2,850,920 2,255,120 -3,578,800 1,527,240 -1,321,050 206,190

-248,020 LTS Beaumanor 1,178,260 582,530 -170,000 1,590,790 -1,790,790 -200,000

30 LTS Music Service 1,274,180 727,820 0 2,002,000 -2,002,000 0

-294,920 LTS Infrastructure 212,230 66,860 -50,000 229,090 -186,640 42,450

-1,890,671 Total Commercial Services 18,235,060 11,571,640 -11,010,970 18,795,730 -20,421,550 -1,625,820

9,945,812 Total Customer & Commercial Services 26,061,780 19,609,290 -13,485,170 32,185,900 -21,455,480 10,730,420

34,834,522 TOTAL CORPORATE RESOURCES 54,196,320 37,689,080 -24,775,640 67,109,760 -34,304,270 32,805,490

79



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE RESOURCES APPENDIX B

GROWTH 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000

Demand & cost increases

G35 Strategic Property Services - support for increased infrastructure 

programme 120 120 120 120

G36 Customer Service Centre - support service levels 300 200 100 0

G37 Improved complaints handling 45 45 45 45

G38 Developing Country Parks 100 100 100 100

TOTAL 565 465 365 265

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

References

81



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE RESOURCES APPENDIX C

References SAVINGS 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000

References used in the following tables

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff - Efficiency saving

SR - Service reduction

Inc - Income

* CR1 Eff Review of staff absence -25 -25 -25 -25

* CR2 Eff Workplace Strategy - optimising building/office use 0 -200 -300 -600

** CR3 Eff/Inc Increasing Commercial Services contribution 250 0 -100 -250

* CR4 Eff Environment improvements - energy & water -70 -120 -170 -170

* CR5 Inc Environment improvements - Score + energy efficiency scheme -50 -100 -100 -100

* CR6 Eff Returns from Corporate Asset Investment Fund -2,400 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000

** CR7 Eff Review financial provision for future liabilities -300 -300 -300 -300

** CR8 Inc Place to Live - Accommodation income 0 -40 -80 -160

TOTAL -2,595 -3,785 -4,075 -4,605

83



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE RESOURCES APPENDIX D

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 to 2023/24 - Draft

2020/21       

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

Total

£000

ICT

Mar-22 900 Local Area Network (LAN) Edge Refresh - County Hall & Remote sites 0 200 200

Mar-21 120 Replacement ITSM toolset and User Portal (Marval replacement project) 120 120

Apr-21 100 Wireless Controller Refresh 100 100

Mar-24 1,580 Corporate ICT Programme 280 300 500 500 1,580

Mar-24 800 Workplace Strategy - ICT Infrastructure 250 250 250 250 1,000

Mar-24 3,700 Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop) 1,000 900 800 1,000 3,700

Sub total ICT 1,750 1,650 1,550 1,750 6,700

Property Services

Mar-24 1,400 Workplace Strategy - property costs, dilapidations and refurbishments 200 400 400 400 1,400

Mar-21 2,600 Snibston & Country Park Future Strategy - Masterplan 1,000 1,000

Mar-21 3,200 Snibston & Country Park Future Strategy - Land remedial works and covenant 880 880

Mar-23 440 County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme 110 220 110 440

Sub total Strategic Property 2,190 620 510 400 3,720

Climate Change - Environmental Improvements

Mar-22 1,000 Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme) 0 1,000 1,000

Mar-24 1,260 Energy & Water Strategy - Invest to save 280 330 330 320 1,260

Mar-21 50 Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points 50 50

Sub total Energy 330 1,330 330 320 2,310

Total Corporate Resources 4,270 3,600 2,390 2,470 12,730

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Commercial Strategy - Beaumanor Outdoor

Romulus Court - Relocation of Data Centre

Major System Replacements, IAS, Mosaic, Capita One, STADS, PAMS, s106 system

Workplace Strategy - Eastern Annexe Reconfiguration, Pen Lloyd Generator, Mobile phone Handset Refresh plus others

85



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

  

SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 27 JANUARY 2020 
 

COUNTRY PARKS AND OPEN SPACES STRATEGY 2019-2029 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES    
 
Purpose of the Report   

 

1. The purpose of this report is to invite members of the committee to comment on 
the draft strategy (Appendix A) which sets out the approach for the management 
of the County Council's Country Parks including the Country Parks Action Plan 
(Appendix B). 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
  

2. The Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-2022 sets out five strategic outcomes deemed 
to be essential for a good quality of life for Leicestershire residents. It establishes 
a clear vision for the place and its people and aspires to have a more joined-up 
approach to service delivery. The Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy will 
contribute towards two of those outcomes:  Wellbeing and Opportunity (ensuring 
that people have the opportunities and support to take control of their health and 
wellbeing) and Great Communities (thriving and integrated places where people 
help and support each other and take pride in their local area).  
 

3. The Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-2021 sets out how, by working 
with partners and local communities the Council can make real improvements, 
including to people’s health, social networks, and the environment.  The 
proposed approach to management of its country parks accords with and 
supports this. 
 

4. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20-2022/23 (MTFS) was approved by 
the Council in February 2019.  It was noted that delivery of the MTFS required 
savings of £74.5m, £19.9m of which remained to be identified. The draft Country 
Parks and Open Spaces Strategy aims to reduce costs and increase income 
where possible, for these assets to support the Council’s objectives. 
 

5. The Council will use the Strategy as an opportunity to promote sustainability and 
help alleviate the impact of climate change and pollution. In the short-term, 
improved access to and across parks for cycleways and walkways will contribute 
to carbon reduction.  

 

6. Set within this context, the underlying principle of the “Country Parks and Open 
Spaces Strategy” will be to use parks and open spaces to provide multiple 

 
87 Agenda Item 12



   
 

   
 

benefits that will support the citizens and communities of both today and 
tomorrow and support the Council in delivering its wider strategic objectives. 

 
7. The draft Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy was presented to Cabinet 

on 22 October 2019 and officers were authorised to progress work on an action 
plan for the six destination parks and for the Strategy and action plans to be 
submitted for consideration by the Scrutiny Commission. 

 
Background 

 
8. The population of Leicestershire is projected to grow by 16 % by 2041 and there  

are ambitious plans to develop new houses and develop the local economy over  
the coming years.  The Council needs also to think how it can continue to 
maintain and sustain green spaces that will support modern lifestyles by having 
safe, interesting and accessible country parks.     

 
9. Although parks and green spaces are enjoyed by many, they are not a statutory 

service; the Authority is not obliged by law to provide and maintain country parks 
and open spaces.  However, the draft Strategy recognises that they are an 
important asset and one that can be positioned to support the Council’s strategic 
outcomes as well as meeting the needs and expectations of communities. 

 
10. Parks and open spaces make a great contribution to maintaining health and 

wellbeing, provide places that can bring people together, act as a focal point for 
community activity and inspire a sense of place and identity. It is also widely 
accepted that they can have a vital role in the regeneration of an area and even 
increase the value of homes.  

 
11. The Council is responsible for a network of country parks and open spaces that 

include wildlife sites, lakes, wetland grasslands, woodlands and other accessible 
countryside spaces.  The sites differ greatly in size and composition, but together 
provide an array of locations that have a diverse range of ecological, cultural, 
recreational and historical significance.  

 
12. Whilst there is a clear commitment to deliver improvements, there are also 

challenges. Parks are not a core service and the infrastructure needs to be 
maintained and improved with the limited funding that is available, and the 
financial pressures on the Authority mean that expectations around investment 
need to be managed. 

 
13. The Strategy distinguishes between the main sites and lesser parks and open 

spaces. The main ‘destination’ parks are those which are generally the reason 
for people’s visit and not only cater for the local community but attract visitors 
from further afield:   

 

 Snibston Country Park – 28.95 ha (hectares) 

 Beacon Hill – 123.83 ha 

 Broombriggs Farm – 70.34 ha 

 Watermead – 99.97 ha 

88



   
 

   
 

 Market Bosworth – 35.43 ha 

 Bosworth Battlefield Country Park – 13.37 ha. 
 
14. Although the provision of country parks is not a statutory service or a council 

priority, it is recognised that they are a key asset that can enhance the place and 
support the delivery of many of the council’s strategic objectives. Whilst the 
action plan focuses on the six main destination parks it does not mean that the 
smaller parks and open spaces will be neglected.  
 

15. Indeed, Leicestershire’s secondary parks and open spaces, whilst not having the 
same scope as the destination parks are still an important part of its green 
infrastructure and will be maintained as such. The appointment of the new Head 
of Country Parks will provide the additional capability and capacity to develop 
further plans and to seek available grant funding. 

 

Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy - Vision 

 

16. The Council’s vision for its parks and open spaces is a simple one: 
 

“To have great parks that improve the quality of life for Leicestershire’s 
communities and visitors”.  

 
Whilst acknowledging that its country parks service is under continued pressure 
as a non-statutory service the Council has ambitions to do more with reduced 
funding and will be looking at more innovative ways to maintain and expand its 
country parks services. 

 
17. The core principles underlying the Strategy’s vision are summarised as: 
 

 Whilst not a statutory service, parks are an asset that can contribute to the 
wider objectives of the Council. 

 The Council is committed to making its country parks and open spaces 
safe and accessible. 

 The Strategy will develop plans that will be shaped with elected members 
(councillors), officers across all key services, partners and communities. 

 Volunteering and community engagement will be integral to the Strategy’s 
delivery  

 The Council’s parks will become sustainable through income generated 
and other funding it will seek to access.  

  
18. As mentioned above, the Strategy makes a distinction between the main sites 

and lesser parks and open spaces, with the former to be developed as a 
network of destinations that not only cater for the local community but will 
attract people from further afield. 

 
19. Adopting a more strategic approach to the development of its country parks and 

open spaces will also enable the Council to think more innovatively and to 
consider ways of encouraging organisations to implement their social value 
through sponsorship and investment.  

89



   
 

   
 

 

Proposals/Options in the draft Strategy 

 

Finances  

 

20. The Strategy establishes a framework within which the Authority can expand 
the facilities within parks to improve people’s quality of life, accepting that 
substantial funding will be required against a backdrop of financial challenge 
and diminished funding. For this reason, a long-term view is adopted, 
recognising that whilst there is a clear direction of travel, the necessary 
changes will be incremental. 

 
21. Alongside other non-statutory services the Council’s parks budget has had to 

bear a share of financial cuts through austerity.  Economic sustainability needs 
to be balanced with ecological considerations and maintaining parks as restful 
places, so the Council will selectively pursue other sources of income including 
thorough increased catering, car park charging, and more events and activities.  

 
22. Work will be undertaken with the Council’s Commercial Services arm to 

encourage commercial organisations to exercise their corporate social 
responsibility through sponsorship and investment, and to secure more funding 
through advertising and marketing. 

 
23. In 2019 the Council opened its first country parks café at Beacon Hill.  This has 

been very successful and received a lot of positive comments from visitors.  It is 
intended to open another café at Snibston in 2020, and thereafter in the other 
destination parks, where possible. 

 
24. Income arising from the Strategy will be reinvested in the Council’s parks and 

open spaces and will be used to preserve, maintain and develop other facilities 
within the parks. 

 
Community Volunteering and Partnerships 

 

25. The Council believes that through volunteering, community engagement and 
partnership working it can preserve, conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 
wildlife and natural heritage of its country parks and open spaces. The best way 
to achieve the desired outcomes is to work in partnership with local 
communities, and other organisations such as the National Forest Company 
and the Leicestershire and Rutland Wildlife Trust. In developing more detailed 
plans, the Authority will aspire to work more closely with residents, elected 
members and parish councils, for example encouraging the creation of more 
“friends” groups and providing more volunteering opportunities. 

 
26. The country parks service has a long-established relationship of working with 

volunteers. The skills, time and expertise of volunteers has made a huge 
contribution, but service cuts have increasingly affected the Council’s ability to 
engage with more volunteers. At a future point, it is intended to appoint a 

90



   
 

   
 

volunteer co-ordinator in order to help develop a more comprehensive and 
focused volunteering capacity.  

 
27. It is intended as work progresses that the Strategy will be utilised as a 

framework within which the Council can develop its volunteering capacity and 
capability further, and to ensure that its plans are aligned with other priorities 
around, education and learning and health and wellbeing. 

 

Safety and Accessibility  

 

28. The Council will continue its commitment to provide a park ranger service to all 
its main country parks to ensure the wellbeing of the site and of its visitors. 
Access to sites is generally good and surfaced routes will continue to be 
extended to improve access and connectivity. 

 
Consultation 
 
29. The “Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2019/ 2029” is a high-level 

document of intent and as such is being referred to the Scrutiny Commission 
and as it underpins other strategic priorities it will be the subject of ongoing 
internal consultation and refinement to ensure that it aligns with other strategic 
plans.  
 

30. There will be ongoing dialogue with officers from the Council’s Public Health 
Department about organising sponsored walks, and park runs, as well as other 
outdoor events involving schools, clubs and local communities; also 
consultation with colleagues from Environment & Transportation Department  to 
ensure that activities align with the County Council’s Environmental Strategy. 

 
Action Plans 
 
31. Whilst opportunities are many and possibilities may appear to be limitless, the 

financial challenges facing the council continue to increase, therefore, the 
action plans need to be based on specific measurable and realistic actions. The 
ambition that underpins these actions will hopefully generate income to fund 
further initiatives and progress will be incremental. A summary of the key 
actions are set out in the paragraphs below. 

 

32. The development of the café at Beacon Hill in 2019 has already increased 
visitor numbers and provided a more attractive venue for families. The key 
actions relating to this park will be the creation of more family friendly activities 
and attractions and the development of more signposted walking trails and the 
establishment of park runs.  There are also plans to enhance Beacon Hill’s Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) status and to further develop the 
management plans with Natural England.  

 

91



   
 

   
 

33. Plans for the development of Snibston have commenced with the developer, 
Fortem, arriving on site in January. These plans include the creation of a café, 
a cycleway which will improve connectivity and link with the National Cycleway 
Route 52, a children’s play area and a mountain bike trail. The site will open by 
August 2020 and will complete phase 1 of the project that will help to 
regenerate the area and reinvigorate the Country Park.  

 
34. Market Bosworth Country Park is a particularly beautiful location which contains 

a mixture of open grassland, parkland and woodland. Improvements to create 
new pathways and resurface existing ones were carried out in 2019. Work was 
also carried out to drain and clear the stew ponds and additional trees were 
planted to expand the arboretum. There are specific actions to further develop 
the arboretum in 2020 and to create a celebration wood to encourage more tree 
planting. Notice has also been given to a tenant farmer and adjacent land has 
been reclaimed and this will be integrated into the parks landscape and 
rewilded. 

 
35. Broombriggs Farm was donated to the County Council by the Freer family in 

1970. The limitations on parking have undoubtedly restricted access to this 
picturesque location. The specific actions relating to this park will focus on 
increasing the car parking facility, expanding the orchard and working with 
partners to develop agroforestry schemes. 

 
36. Watermead Country Park has a northern and a southern area which are 

managed by the County and City Councils respectively. The park has 
significant ecological value but requires investment to improve car parking 
arrangements and provide catering. These are aspirations that will have to wait 
until at least 2021. In the short term the action plan will focus on developing the 
nature reserves and continuing to preserve the habitats.       

 

37. Finally, the appointment of the new Head of Country Parks will provide the 
capacity to work more closely with internal heritage colleagues and external 
stakeholders to develop a programme of events. There are also specific plans 
to upgrade car parking and improve signage and access, including walking 
routes to the Shenton railway line. 

     
Resource Implications   

 
38. In 2018/19 the total expenditure on country parks was £770,000, and the total 

income was £440,000 resulting in an overall net cost of £330,000. 
 
Timetable for Decisions  

 
39. Following feedback from the Scrutiny Commission, the final Strategy and action 

plan will be submitted to the Cabinet for approval in March 2020. 
 
Conclusion 

 
40. Its country parks and open spaces are part of what makes Leicestershire a 

great place to live. These are exciting times and the parks and open spaces are 

92



   
 

   
 

a key part of Leicestershire’s future. The Strategy will provide a framework and 
deliver the impetus for their maintenance and improvement.  

 
41. Green assets can contribute to positive health, social environmental and 

economic improvements. The Council wants its parks and open spaces to 
deliver as many positive outcomes for citizens and communities as possible 
and to do this needs to adopt a strategic approach to their management. 

 
 
Background Papers   
 
Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-2021 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/3/8/Communities-Strategy-2017-21.pdf  

 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-2022 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan  
 
Report to the Council on 20 February 2019: MTFS 2019/20 – 2022/23 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 October 2019: Country Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy 2019-2029 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5606&Ver=4  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  

 
42. None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
   
43. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report. Although the paper acknowledges that any 
future change to the Council’s policies, procedures, functions and services 
because of the strategy or the more detailed plans will be the subject of an 
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA).  

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2019-2029 
 
Appendix B - Action Plans 
 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini 
Director of Corporate Resources 
Chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
0116 305 6199 

Roderick O’Connor 
Assistant Director, Commercial and Customer Services 
Roderick.O’Connor@leics.gov.uk    
0116 305 5846 

 

93

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/3/8/Communities-Strategy-2017-21.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5606&Ver=4
mailto:Chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire County Council 
Country Parks Action Plan

2020 - 2022 

APPENDIX A
95



Watermead 

Beacon Hill

Market Bosworth

Bosworth

Battlefield 

Snibston

Broombriggs

Farm

Our Destination Parks 96

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=&url=https://www.goleicestershire.com/thedms.aspx?dms%3D3%26venue%3D2501246&psig=AOvVaw0cRIw33iNnVWN95wFBKWqA&ust=1573819463563792


Our vision: 

“To have great parks that improve the quality of life for Leicestershire’s communities and visitors”.

Introduction
This Action Plan is part of our Draft Country Parks Strategy and outlines our plans for the management and development 
of our six destination and smaller parks over the next 3 years.

Volunteering 
and 

Community

Culture and 
Heritage 

Education 
and Learning

Ecology and 
Environment

Health and 
wellbeing

Our Action Plan is focused around six key objectives that will drive the development of our country parks and open spaces 
and support the delivery of the Council’s  Strategic Outcomes.  

97



The actions detailed  within this  plan contribute to the successful  delivery of our Strategic 
Priorities, Strategies and Plans

Tree Strategy 

Environment 
Strategy

Biodiversity 
Action Plan 

Wellbeing and 
Opportunity

Great 
communities Providing green infrastructure and open spaces that will be used by all

By managing its land with nature conservation designations in ways that maintain and 
enhance their biodiversity value  

Preserving and maintaining our trees and woodlands and increasing our tree planting 
activity 

Supporting environmentally sustainable practices to conserve and enhance the character, 
heritage and accessibility of the Leicestershire landscape for future generations 

By providing opportunities for the public to access and enjoy green spaces that contribute 
towards their health and well being  

98

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=&url=https://archinect.com/news/article/70886409/melbourne-certified-as-a-carbon-neutral-city&psig=AOvVaw3t5X6RBHfqyZps734lnhQG&ust=1575021559225409


Park Management across all our parks 
Priorities Key actions / Tasks 

Ensure that our parks are safe  and 
secure places for people to visit  

• Routine regular maintenance of park infrastructure 
• Implementation of comprehensive safety and security measures 

Identify new ways of funding • Make applications for countryside stewardship grant and environmental support schemes 
• Seek sponsorship for events and activities by working in partnership with local businesses which have 

connections to the parks 
• Secure funding through Section 106 planning obligations
• Encourage donations and legacies
• Develop a programme of events to maximise income 
• Apply for woodland improvement stewardship grant

Increase our commercial activities • Develop our marketing and communications strategy to encourage more visitors to the parks to increase 
revenue from our car parks, and café facilities

• Consider the introduction of corporate activity days to increase revenue 

Volunteering and community 
engagement

• Increase the number and variety of volunteering to enable people to get involved with all aspects of park 
management 

• Seek additional volunteer support through the council’s existing volunteer network
• Develop strong links with Leicestershire schools and academies to support learning and encourage 

participation in environmental activities 
• Promote volunteering opportunities through the Parks websites and social media

Achieve accreditation and recognition of 
our parks 

• Achieve Green Flag status for each of our destination parks

99



Green 
flag 

Status 

The formation 
“old man of the 

Beacon” is a 
local famous 

landmark

Beacon Hill 

The primitive 
livestock and 
alpacas are a 

popular 
addition to the 

landscape

Areas of interest 
include Wildflower 

meadow, ponds, 
woodlands, native 
tree collection and 

heathland

Woodland walks, 
national forest trail, 

play areas, dog 
walking, cycling, 

horse riding, 
orienteering and 

picnicking 

A Labyrinth 
created within 

an area of 
Rhododendrons 
with board walk 

and sculptures 

Rocks which 
date back 700 
million years, 

with some of the 
oldest fossils 

found within this 
layer

Beacon Hill 
Café and 

visitor 
facilities 

A site of  SSSI 
due to its 
important 

heathland and 
woodland 

species

Leicestershire's 
second highest 
point at 248m.

Ancient 
bronze 
age hill 

fort

100

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjB4__91YzmAhVSLBoKHel5C7kQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=https://www.facebook.com/beaconhillcafe/&psig=AOvVaw3a0Znl0V2iJlggjQcNHrzl&ust=1575022394946930


Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor 
attractions and 
amenities 

Extend and develop the sculpture trail 2021 – 2023

Further develop the Labyrinth as a children’s attraction 2020

Extend the children’s play areas 2021

Develop the new café facilities as a focal point of community engagement  
and events 

2020

Encourage participation 
in Health and wellbeing 
activities 

Organise regular Park run events 2020

Install an all-ages trim trail on West Beacon fields 2021

Improve and develop our “Waymarked” information to encourage outdoor 
activities 

2020

Beacon Hill 
101



Priorities Actions Target 
date 

Increase the biodiversity 
within our parks and 
appreciation of diverse 
habitats for plants, birds 
and other wildlife

• Re– negotiate the Countryside Higher Level Stewardship agreement with  
Natural England to continue and expand on management of SSSI

2020

• Enhance our SSSI status through fulfilling management prescriptions, 
conservation grazing and other programmes of works

2020-2023

• Manage the development of woodlands and grasslands for nature 
conservation

2020-2023

Manage, preserve and 
increase appreciation of our 
heritage assets 

• Improved network of paths to encourage visitors to explore and spread out 
throughout the park

2021

• Improve the interpretation of Bronze age hill fort 2020

• Establish links with schools and agricultural colleges for education visits and 
self-led visits

2020-2021

• Produce an education pack for school self-guided visits 2020-2021

Beacon Hill 
102



Snibston Country Park

Fishing 
available in 

the Carp 
and Match 

Lakes

The Park 
includes The 
Grange local 

Nature 
Reserve

There are a 
network of 

walking trails 
through the 

park, and the 
national  ’Route 
52’ bike route

The pit bank 
is a fantastic 
view point 

overlooking 
the local 

area

Mature 
woodland, 
wildflower 
meadow, 

dipping ponds 
and a 

wildflower 
marshland

The site has 
strong links 

to local 
mining 
history 

103



Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor attractions 
and amenities 

Combine and develop a joint café facility with the Century Theatre 2020-2021

Install improved car parking payment systems 2020-2021

Develop interpretation information 2020

Encourage participation in 
Health and wellbeing activities 

Develop new mountain bike trails 2020-2021

Improve signage for walking trails 2020-2021

Develop a new play area for children 2021

Develop the “Pump track” 2021-2022

Snibston
104



This site also 
benefits from 
a dedicated 

weekly 
volunteer 

group

Market Bosworth

Situated within the 
historic market 

town, with many 
shops, clubs, pubs 

and points of 
interest to visit

During the late 
18th century, 
the park was 
landscaped in 

the style of the 
designer 

Capability 
Brown

The parkland was 
originally 

established by the 
Harcourt family 
who gained the 
land after the 

Norman Conquest

The Bow pool is 
a good place for 

watching 
wildfowl, fishing 
and feeding the 

ducks

The 
arboretum 
contains a 

wide range of 
interesting 
specimen 

trees

The park has 
children's play 

area, boat house, 
wildflower 

meadow, stew 
ponds, bird feeding 

and weather 
stations

Accessible paths for   
walkers, cyclists and 
horse riders. Walking 

routes include  the 
Leicestershire Round. 

and footpaths to  
Bosworth Battlefield

Park has 
Green 

flag 
status

105



Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor attractions 
and amenities 

Provide refreshment outlets for visitors 2022

Develop eco-friendly visitor facilities including a café and educational 
facilities 

2020-2023

Extend visitor access across the park to include access through  the 
current pasture landscape 

2020

Encourage participation in 
Health and wellbeing activities

Develop and re-locate the children's play facilities 2021

Market Bosworth Country Park
106



Market Bosworth Country Park

Priority Action Target Date 

Increase the biodiversity within 
our parks and appreciation of 
diverse habitats for plants, 
birds and other wildlife

Continue to improve and develop the Arboretum by :-
- planting specimen trees to enhance seasonal interest 

- bulb and shrub planting to further enrich this landscape feature 

2020-2023

Further develop and integrate the grass land and parkland habitats 
into the park’s natural landscape 

2021 - 2022

Develop and improve the Bow pool lake and Stew ponds through the 
planting of waterbodies to improve interest and diversity  

2020 – 2023

Identify areas for less intensive management to allow for a wilder 
meadow environment

2020-2023

Enhance the landscape with parkland tree planting 2020-2023

107



Bosworth Battlefield 

Heritage centre 
trail gives 

information 
about the rich 
history of this 

site

This is the site 
of the battle of 

Bosworth 
famous for the 

fall of King 
Richard III

Sundial area 
is a beautiful 
focal point in 
the parkland

Tyth 
barn café 

and 
Heritage 
Centre.

There are a number 
of walking routes 
around the site, 

joining with Shenton 
station and the 

Ashby canal. 

Schools 
visits to this 

site 
organised 

by the 
heritage 

team

There is a small 
local producer of 

pottery, 
glassblower and a 
café at the station

Shenton Station is 
along the battlefield 

line and regularly 
has events and 

trains which brings 
in interest.  

108



Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor attractions 
and amenities 

Work with our heritage partners to jointly develop a programme of 
events 

2020 -2021

Upgrade the car parking facilities with the installation of new pay 
machines 

2020

Improve interpretation on the country park to reflect landscape and 
wildlife area 

2021

Encourage participation in 
Health and wellbeing activities

Improve the tracks and trails development around the Battlefield 
estate 

2021-2022

Improve pedestrian user access including walking routes to Shenton 
railway line 

2021-2022

Market Bosworth Battlefield 
109



Watermead 

Wetlands, 
grass lands 
meadows, 

marshland & 
woodland 

Regular country 
parks volunteers 
meetings to carry 
out conservation 

tasks  

Level grass 
area for 

recreational 
activities & 

family picnics 

Over 200 
species of 
birds have 

been 
recorded here 

The  reedbed 
reserve has bird 

hides a sand 
martin nesting wall 

and views of 
wildlife habitats

Jurassic 
Play trail 

for 
children

Watermead was a 
sand and gravel pit 

which was 
reclaimed in the 

1980’s to form the 
Park 

King Lear’s lake is 
named after the 

legend with statues 
which show the final 

scene from 
Shakespeare’s King 

Lear’s play 

John Merrick’s 
lake, Lily Pond & 
King Lear’s lake 

provide 
opportunities for 
fishing & other 

activities 

Accessible 
tracks for 

families on 
foot or on 
bicycles 

110



Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor attractions and amenities Develop a catering offer for visitors 2020-2021

Rationalise car parking arrangements and improve visitor 
access to the park 

2020

Develop the Children’s maze and improve the dinosaur trail 
and play equipment 

2021

Refurbish  visitor toilets and wash room 2020-2021

Encourage participation in Health and 
wellbeing activities

• Improve the Reedbed nature reserve as a well-being area 2020-2021

• Introduce a programme of park runs and 3 park 
challenge event  

2020

Watermead 
111



Priority Action Target Date 

Increase the biodiversity within our parks and 
appreciation of diverse habitats for plants, 
birds and other wildlife

Develop the nature reserve to support the delivery of the 
Biodiversity Action Plan and the Environment Strategy

2020-2023

Improve nature reserve habitats and develop more 
opportunities for wildlife watching

2020-2023

Working with schools and communities Offer a range of school activity days 2021

Design and build an education/interpretation facility to 
provide a  new focal point for the park

2020

Develop volunteering opportunities Continue to develop and expand the range of volunteering 
opportunities available 

2020-2023

Watermead 
112



Broombriggs farm and Windmill Hill Country Park 

Donated by 
the Freer 

family to LCC 
in 1970

Pathways, 
bridle tracks, 

viewing 
platform with 
countryside 

views 

Broombriggs 
cottage and 

barn is a base 
for rangers and 

volunteers 

Mosaic of small 
fields with drystone 

walls, hedgerows 
and woodlands with 

parkland trees 

Grazing 
cattle and 
sheep with 

arable 
planting 

Windmill Hill, the site 
of the original now 

refurbished windmill 
viewing platform over 
the countryside and 

soar valley 

Bluebells, wood 
anemones and 

celandines carpet 
wooded areas 

throughout spring

113



Broombriggs farm and Windmill Hill Country Park 
Priority Action Target Date 

Develop our visitor attractions and amenities Expand and improve car parking facilities with new solar 
cashless pay and display machines 

2020-2021

Develop an action plan to achieve Green flag status 2022

Encourage participation in Health and 
wellbeing activities

Improve the network of paths to encourage visitors to explore 
the wider park 

2020

Increase the biodiversity within our parks and 
appreciation of diverse habitats for plants, 
birds and other wildlife

Improve farming practices to be more sensitive to local 
environment and wildlife

2020-2022

Extend the orchard and develop agro–forestry schemes 2021

Manage, preserve and increase appreciation 
of our heritage assets 

Weatherproof the windmill viewing platform and stairs 2020

Develop the access and interpretation information of the 
Windmill

2020

Review the farm tenancy to give greater emphasis on 
conservation farming

2020

Review the use of Broombriggs Farm Cottage 2020

Identify new ways of funding Complete the application for the stewardship grant 2020

114



Our Heart of the 
Forest and 

Secondary Parks

115

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=&url=https://www.goleicestershire.com/thedms.aspx?dms%3D3%26venue%3D2501246&psig=AOvVaw0cRIw33iNnVWN95wFBKWqA&ust=1573819463563792


Our Heart of the National Forest Parks

• Leicestershire County Council has 6 small country parks situated within a 10 square mile area within the 
Heart of the National Forest (HoF). 

• The priority for this area has been to develop the parks and green spaces for the enjoyment of local 
residents and to develop the area as a tourist destination and exemplar for the wider 200 square mile 
National Forest. 

• These ex-colliery sites were adopted by LCC during the 1990s and have interesting individual mining 
heritage histories. 

• Following reclamation & re-landscaping from their industrial past, these sites have been designed for visitor 
enjoyment and conservation. 

• Tree cover has grown from approximately 1% to 27% in the last 25 years. 

• The developing woodlands have transformed the area and are now at first thinning stage. 

• The Heart of the Forest parks are extremely valuable to local people and visitors to the area, but due to 
their unique history and conservation management have high levels of biodiversity. 

116



Park Management and Maintenance FREQUENCY 

Develop individual park plans to enhance and meet community needs 2020-2021

Heart of the 
National Forest 
Sites 

All aspects of estate maintenance: installations, repairs, path works, 
interpretation, bin collection, litter picking

Ongoing

Health and safety inspections including: mine, site, equipment, 
workplace, tree inspections and risk assessments

Daily visual inspections, 
formal 6-weekly – 6-monthly 
recorded

Grass cutting regimes: amenity cuts, wildflower meadows, strimming, 
hedge cutting/flailing and spraying

Bi-monthly / annually / when 
required

Woodland & Tree Management: All aspects of silviculture including: 
Planting, pruning, coppicing, thinning.

October – March and when 
required

Wildlife surveys, registered butterfly transects Spring – Autumn 

All other habitat management / conservation work not listed above Ongoing

Our Heart of the Forest and Secondary Parks
117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Published September 2019

Country Parks 
and Open Spaces 
Strategy 2019-2029

119



2  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

 
Foreword by Councillor Byron Rhodes  
Deputy Leader of the County Council

The environment around us is more important than ever. Now, more than at any other time, we are all taking 
more notice of the changes to our climate, the impact of our actions, and what the future may hold.

It’s for this reason that I believe this strategy is a vital document. Country parks and open spaces are not legally 
required and - yes - they cost money to run, when money is tight. But they are so fundamentally important.

Firstly, I believe we must safeguard our green spaces as part of our carbon agenda. Trees and plants are natural 
warriors against the climate emergency which has been recognised globally.

Secondly, our parks are welcome habitats for plants, insects and animals. We must protect and enhance this 
diversity.

And finally, for residents to enjoy – for sport, for mental wellbeing and as part of their community.

I urge you to read on.

Byron Rhodes
September 2019

Contents

1. Executive summary ..................................................................................................................... 3

2. Strategic context - Leicestershire our county ................................................................................. 5

3. Purpose of the strategy ................................................................................................................ 6

4. An integrated approach ............................................................................................................... 7

5. Vision ......................................................................................................................................... 8

6. Core principles ............................................................................................................................ 8

7. Priority themes ............................................................................................................................ 9

8. Our parks ..................................................................................................................................13

9. Communicating the strategy ...................................................................................................... 20

10. Funding our strategy ................................................................................................................ 20

11. Monitoring and review ............................................................................................................. 20

12. Summary ............................................................................................................................... 20

120



3  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

1. Executive Summary
Leicestershire County Council has a wide network of country parks and 
open spaces.
Although the provision of country parks is not a statutory service or a council priority it is recognised that they 
are a key asset that we can use to support the delivery of the many of the council’s strategic objectives.

This strategy sets out our approach to developing our country parks and provides a framework for working 
across departments and engaging with partners, citizens and communities to ensure we continue to provide 
great parks for the residents and visitors of Leicestershire.

The strategy sets out our ambition about what we want to achieve whilst recognising the financial challenges 
the council faces as one of the lowest funded councils in England.

It outlines how we will adopt an innovative approach to increasing our income and working with our national 
partnership organisations; communities and local businesses to explore funding, sponsorship and grant 
opportunities where ever possible to support the development of our parks and open spaces. This is supported 
by our ambitions to adopt a more robust approach to increasing participation and volunteering across all our 
park activities.

In summary our country parks and open spaces are an asset that we are committed to continuing to develop; 
protect and preserve for existing and future generations to enjoy.  We hope that you will participate and support 
us to deliver the strategy and achieve our ambitions.

There is huge scope and  

potential and as the 21st  

Century evolves, there is a  

growing body of evidence  

which demonstrates that parks  

and open spaces can have  

a positive impact that goes  

beyond traditional ecological  

and environmental outcomes

3 Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

There is huge scope and  

potential and as the 21st  

Century evolves, there is a  

growing body of evidence  

which demonstrates that parks  

and open spaces can have  

a positive impact that goes  

beyond traditional ecological  

and environmental outcomes

121



4  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

It is an exciting opportunity. There is huge scope 
and potential and as the 21st Century evolves, 
there is a growing body of evidence which 
demonstrates that parks and open spaces can 
have a positive impact that goes beyond traditional 
ecological and environmental outcomes and that 
they can make a broader contribution towards 
promoting economic and health benefits as well 
as improving quality of life. Moreover, through 
their use, they can further social cohesion and 
engagement, inspire community spirit and even 
provide opportunities for individuals to overcome 
loneliness and regain purpose within their lives.

This strategy aims to provide a framework for 
action that will transform our parks and position 
them to be at the centre of delivering positive 
environmental, ecological, health and social 
outcomes for citizens and communities as well as 
visitors to Leicestershire. Through our parks and 
open spaces strategy the county council has an opportunity to develop facilities that will enable greater social 
interaction and more active recreation as well as providing peaceful space for quiet reflection. The wide range 
of direct and indirect benefits could be far reaching.

Over the next decade, our plans will progress 
incrementally and adapt to the challenges 
presented by an ever-changing world and to 
accommodate the changing expectations of 
citizens. Our ambition is great but needs to be 
focused within the resources we have available. 
Nonetheless, we believe that through volunteering, 
community engagement and partnership working, 
we can create welcoming, safe, inclusive and 
accessible parks for the citizens and communities 
of Leicestershire and visitors. 

122



5  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

2. Strategic Context – Leicestershire our county
Set in the heart of England, Leicestershire is a mainly rural county with 
picturesque villages, rolling farmland and wonderful examples of historic and 
natural environment.

With a population of over 650,000, the area is 
generally affluent, unemployment is below the 
national average and Leicestershire ranks amongst 
the top places to bring up a family as the cost of 
living is comparatively low and house prices are 
below the national average.

Leicestershire also has the largest economy in the 
East Midlands and is home to major international 
businesses including: Next, Caterpillar, Santander, 
and DHL. With strong creative industries, food 
manufacturing and health sectors, Leicestershire is 
a great place to do business.

Further growth is anticipated and the Leicester 
and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) 
has strategic economic plans which aim to create 
45,000 jobs, support the expansion of 15,000 
businesses and the creation of over 1,000 

startups. Furthermore, around 187,000 homes are set to be built in the city and county over the next 30 years 
as the population of Leicestershire is projected to increase by 15.8% to 787,500 by 2041, an increase of 
107,100 people from 2016.

Balanced with these developing opportunities there are emerging social challenges. It has been estimated that 
by 2030 the number of people aged 85 and over will increase from 17,700 (2015 estimate) to 33,100 - an 
increase of 87%, and the number of people with complex disabilities will increase by 30%. It is also projected 
that 56,000 men and 58,000 women are living in the ‘age gap’ between healthy life expectancy and life 
expectancy potentially in poor health. This accounts for 17% of the population in the county. Around two-
thirds of deaths among the under 75s are caused by diseases and illness that are largely avoidable, and there 
are increasing numbers of health-related issues due to sedentary lifestyles and obesity.

Climate change is also an ongoing and evolving threat and we are all experiencing 
extreme fluctuations of weather such as heatwaves and downpours. Our parks and 
open spaces are already being affected by these changes but also play a crucial role 
in reducing the negative effects of climate change. As climate change intensifies so 
our parks and open spaces will have a more significant role to play and so too will the 
trees within our parks.

123



6  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

3. Purpose of the strategy
Set within this context, the underlying principle of our strategy will be to use 
our parks and open spaces to provide multiple benefits that will support the 
citizens and communities of today and tomorrow.
Our approach will be influenced by consultation and engagement and the detail of specific park plans will 
support the delivery of integrated health, socio-economic and environmental priorities.

There is now an opportunity to use our green space to tackle a wide range of ecological and environmental 
benefits and beyond. Undeniably, many of the solutions for preserving and protecting the natural environment 
are also potential enablers to support health and wellbeing and develop local communities and the local 
economy.

In a nutshell, the aim of our strategy is to explore 
a sustainable way to manage and fund our parks 
and open spaces across Leicestershire so that 
they can be utilised to support broader strategic 
priorities and align with the needs of our citizens 
and communities as well as national, regional and 
local policy priorities.

The strategy sets out our long-term approach 
up until 2029. The specific detail will later be 
developed in more comprehensive plans for our 
primary and secondary sites, which will then be 
reviewed annually in tandem with light touch 
consultation and ongoing engagement.

124



7  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

4. An integrated approach
Underpinning this strategy is a desire to utilise the asset of our parks and open spaces to work seamlessly 
across departments and more joined up with partners and communities to deliver integrated strategic 
objectives. In achieving this, we also want to capture the voice of the citizen and communities and also to 
enable user greater participation in shaping the plans of individual parks. 

Health and 
Wellbeing

Maximise opportunities  
for activities that  

support physical and 
mental health and 

wellbeing

Finance  
and Funding

Increase our opportunities 
for investment in our parks 
by actively seeking funding; 
working in partnership with 

local businesses and 
increasing revenue

Culture and 
Heritage

Preserve the parks historic 
heritage and enhance 
visitor experience and 

participation

Education  
and Learning
Provide a safe and 

secure environment for play, 
learning, social interaction 

sport and recreation
Ecology and 
Environment

Work to improve and 
enhance our local biodiversity 
and ecological systems and 
increase the sustainability 
of our open spaces and 
aspiring to be carbon 

neutral

Volunteering 
and Community

Increase our volunteering 
opportunities and seek ways 

to encorage community 
engagement in the 

development and use 
of our parks

In our parks 
we will...

125



8  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

6. Core principles
Underpinning our vision are a set of core principles:
• Country parks and open spaces are not a statutory service, but they are a county council asset that 

can contribute to the wider objectives of the council including health, education, biodiversity and the 
environment

• Parks and open spaces will be safe and accessible for citizens and visitors and central to everyday 
community life

• The strategy will develop a vision that will be shaped with elected members, officers across all key services, 
partners and communities

• Volunteering, community engagement and partnership participation are integral to delivery of the strategy

• Our parks will become sustainable through the income that we generate through them and funding that we 
access

5. Our vision 

The Council’s Vision:
To have great parks that 
improve the quality of 
life for Leicestershire’s 
communities and visitors

126



9  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

7. Priority themes

1. Provide a network of safe and accessible parks

We will ensure that high quality, safe and accessible parks and open spaces are provided, maintained 
and improved to support our existing and future communities, with greater connectivity linked by 
pedestrian and cycle routes and improved green corridors.

Goals:
• Enhance the visitor facilities within our parks and develop a plan for proactive maintenance
• Ensure good access to our park areas and improved paths to enable all residents to enjoy our parks
• Maximise opportunities for physical activity and supporting mental health well being
• Each of our primary parks will have a five-year action plan

Actions - how we will do this:
• Developing our café, picnic, seating and toilet facilities
• Developing more cost-effective, multipurpose pathways and providing accessible trails for all levels of ability
• Improving signage and site interpretation and developing route maps
• Developing our outdoor recreational activities and play equipment for children in specific parks

127



10  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

2. Ensure that the biodiversity, heritage and landscape values of all sites are 
conserved and developed

We will work with partners to ensure that we preserve the distinctive character of our landscapes, enhance 
and enhance existing areas of biodiversity and contribute to climate change by aligning with the key objectives 
of the Leicestershire Environment Strategy.

Goals:
• Increase the biodiversity within our parks with a greater appreciation for developing appropriate habitats for 

plants, birds and other wildlife
• Identify and manage pressure points of high usage to ensure our heritage sites continue to be preserved
• Increase the sustainability of our parks by encouraging environmental practices
• Manage our heritage assets so that there is a greater appreciation of the value of heritage and conservation

Actions - how we will do this:
• Creating and enhancing pollinator habitats and species-rich environments
• Improving the local ecological networks through the preservation and development of wildlife corridors
• Raising public awareness of the importance of our biodiversity and how they can help to support its 

conservation
• Offering a programme of environmental activities and guided wildlife experiences

128



11  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

3. Ensure widespread engagement and participation of citizens, communities 
and partners

We want to create and deliver public value through volunteering, community engagement, consultation  
and partnership working. Therefore, we will work to improve the number of visitors and aspire to appeal  
and cater for diverse audiences. We will engage with communities and partners to attract and work with 
under- represented and hard to reach groups.

Goals:
• Develop our relationships with local communities and community groups to encourage greater participation 

and visitor diversity
• Increase the range of volunteer opportunities to build skills, create social cohesion and instil a sense of pride 

and ownership
• Develop strong links with Leicestershire schools and academies to work together to support learning
• Encourage participation in environmental activities of all abilities

Actions - how we will do this:
• Appoint a volunteer co-ordinator to increase volunteers
• Conduct consultation with interested groups and organisations
• Develop more educational activities with schools and park rangers
• Work more closely with communities and parish councils to identify needs and aspirations
• Develop activities to support health and wellbeing, such as park runs

129



12  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

4. Develop a sustainable financial model for growth

The council continues to face financial challenges and we remain as one of the lowest funded county councils 
in England. We will therefore adopt a more commercial approach to increasing income, review outdoor charges 
and licence fees. Our Leicestershire country parks will remain in council ownership, but we will explore funding 
through: income generation, funding, sponsorship and donations.

Goals:
• Identify new ways of funding
• Increase our commercial activities
• Obtain sponsorship for events and activities by working in partnership with local businesses
• Secure funding through Section 106 planning obligations
• Encourage donations and legacies

Actions - how we will do this:
• Developing our marketing and advertising
• Monitoring and keeping under review our café and catering offers
• Developing a programme of events to increase number of visitors and revenue
• Seeking opportunities for applying for local and national funding and grants
• Maximising social value opportunities from our key suppliers

130



13  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

8. Our parks

Destination parks 
Our major parks will be developed as a network of 
destinations, catering for the local community that 
they serve but also attracting residents and visitors 
from further afield.

1  Snibston Country Park

2  Beacon Hill Country Park

3  Broombriggs Farm & Windmill Hill

4  Watermead Country Park

5  Market Bosworth Country Park

6  Bosworth Battlefield Country Park

Secondary parks and open spaces
Our secondary parks and open spaces, whilst not  
having the same scope as our destination parks, are  
still a significant part of our green infrastructure. They  
will still be managed in accordance with the primary  
themes of the strategy but perhaps with them there will  
be even greater opportunity to involve and engage the  
local community and partners and they are therefore  
classified more as local parks than destination parks.

7  Donington Le Heath Country Park
8  Jubilee Wood
9  Sheet Hedges Wood
10 Burrough Hill Country Park
11  Sarah’s Wood
12 Donisthorpe Woodlands
13 Saltersford Valley Picnic Areas
14 Bagworth Heath
15 New Lount Nature Reserve
16 Oakthorpe Picnic Area
17  Ashby Woulds Heritage Trail
18 Brampton Valley Way

Locations of our 
country parks

A607

A47

A50

A6

A50

A6

A47

M1

M1

M69

ASHBY DE LA ZOUCH

LOUGHBOROUGH

 

HINCKLEY

LUTTERWORTH

MARKET 
HARBOROUGH

MELTON MOWBRAY

LEICESTER

COALVILLE

1
2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

14

15

18

1617
1213

131



14  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Snibston

Snibston Country Park comprises of an area of woodland and grassland on the old Snibston colliery site and 
includes the woodland and lakes of the Grange nature reserve. The country park lies immediately to the south 
of the Snibston industrial heritage area where the mining headstock is classified as a Scheduled Ancient 
Monument (SAM). Both the park and heritage area are included in the current Snibston development plans.

Objectives

• Redevelopment of the site with a new cycleway, mountain bike trails and café

• Provide a safe and accessible park

• Develop the site to balance the needs of a changing community

• Develop and improve existing facilities for walking, jogging and family cycling on the site

• Develop the site as a hub for the community 

132



15  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Beacon Hill

Beacon Hill takes its name from its history as a signaling point. Up until the early part of the 20th Century, 
Beacon Hill was part of the Beaumanor estate, owned by the Perry-Herrick family. In 1947, the site was 
purchased by Leicestershire County Council to protect its value as a public open space. In the early 1970s 
Beacon Hill was designated as a country park and has now become one of the premier visitor attractions 
in Leicestershire at the gateway of the National Forest. The heathland of Beacon Hill is an important site for 
wildlife, providing varied habitats for a wide range of plants and animals. Due to its ecological and geological 
importance, much of the country park is designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and areas 
around the summit are protected as a scheduled ancient monument (SAM).

Objectives

• Develop the park as a family destination

• Install more children’s equipment

• Develop the café as a focal point of community engagement

• Develop the Labyrinth as a children’s attraction

• Continue to manage the woodland and heathland SSSIs

133



16  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Broombriggs Farm

Broombriggs Farm was donated to Leicestershire County Council in 1970 by the Frear family. Their desire was 
to preserve its natural beauty as a typical Charnwood Forest farm so that it could be enjoyed by all visitors.

Today, the farm is still managed in traditional ways which help to retain its varied landscapes and fine views 
across the surrounding countryside. Arable crops are mainly grown in some of the lower lying fields on the 
farm. These have relatively good, fertile, easily worked soils. The fields are either sown with cereals such as 
barley, wheat or oats or with other arable crops such as turnips. The upper fields on the farm are used mainly 
to graze livestock. The farmland is interspersed with small woodlands and parkland trees creating an attractive 
landscape.

Objectives

• Continue to improve visitor access around the farm

• Develop farming practices to demonstrate conservation farming

• Expand the orchard and develop agro-forestry schemes

• Expand capacity for visitor car parking

• Utilise Broombriggs Cottage

134



17  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Watermead

Watermead Country Park covers an area of 100 hectares and comprises wetlands, grassland, meadows and 
marshland. Lying on the north edge of Leicester city, it is bounded by the large villages of Thurmaston, Birstall 
and Syston. It is in the valley of the River Soar and Grand Union Canal, an area which has been worked 
extensively for sand and gravel. It is a very significant “green lung”, with several ecologically significant areas 
including one of the largest Reedbeds in the county. Watermead provides visitor opportunities for walking, 
cycling, jogging, picnicking and bird watching. The park is managed in association with colleagues at the city 
council who look after the southern area of the country park.

Objectives

• Develop café/catering facilities

• Repair/replace the existing toilet block

• Introduce new children’s play facilities

• Rationalise car parking arrangements on satellite car parks (e.g. Mill Lane)

• Improve nature reserve habitats and develop opportunities for wildlife watching

• Enhance and protect biodiversity

135



18  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Market Bosworth

Market Bosworth Country Park contains a mix of open grassland, parkland and woodland. The park has 
facilities for picnics and barbeques, and a play area. The park contains a network of surfaced paths providing 
good access for all and an opportunity for walking and jogging. The park contains woodlands and other 
habitats that are ideal for bird watching and general nature study, and a visit to the wild flower areas in the 
spring can be rewarded with bluebells, fritillaries, ox-eye daisies, cowslips and primroses. The arboretum at the 
park contains a wide-ranging collection of exotic tree species including Coast and Dawn Redwoods, Himalayan 
Birches, Japanese Maples, Evergreen Oaks, Hemlocks and Eucalyptus.  

Objectives

• Continue to improve and develop the arboretum

• Integrate the former pasture land into the park’s parkland landscape

• Expand and improve visitor access

• Expand and improve children’s play facilities

• Develop and improve the Bow Pool lake and associated Stew ponds

136



19  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

Bosworth Battlefield

The country park includes a network of surfaced trails which radiate from the famous Bosworth Battlefield 
Visitor Centre around a wonderful farmed landscape, connecting with the Ashby Canal and the Battlefield 
Railway at Shenton station. The site of the Battle of Bosworth is of national significance and international 
interest. It is infamous as the place where King Richard III lost his life and crown to Henry Tudor, and the 
beginning of the powerful Tudor dynasty.

Objectives

• Improve interpretation on the country park to reflect the landscape and wildlife of the area

• Improve the system of car park charging/replace obsolete pay and display machines

137



20  Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2017 - 2020

9. Communicating the strategy
Once the strategy has been approved by Cabinet, it will be available on our website. Following the publication 
of the strategy, officers will work to complete plans for individual sites which shall also be available.

10. Funding our strategy
Our aspirations are set against a backdrop of financial challenge and to deliver the strategy we will need to 
work in new and innovative ways. As we deliver the detail of our plans, we will seek to develop a financial 
model that will not only pursue grants and funding but will also welcome legacies and donations as well as 
sponsorship, advertising and gifts of social value aligned with the corporate responsibility strategies of local 
businesses.

11. Monitoring and review
The broad outline strategy is intended to shape the future planning, design, management and maintenance 
of our country parks and open spaces. Once the strategy has been agreed by cabinet a more detailed plan 
will be developed and individual management plans for each of our main destination parks. The plans will be 
monitored, reviewed and updated on an annual basis.

12. Summary
In summary, our country parks and open spaces are an asset that we want existing and future generations 
to enjoy. They are not a statutory service or a council priority, but they are a key asset that can be used to 
support and enable many of the council’s strategic objectives. The strategy is intended to set out a direction of 
travel and provide a framework within which we can work across departments and with partners, citizen and 
communities to provide great parks for the citizens and visitors of Leicestershire.

The strategy is set out to express ambition, but it must be set within the context that the council continues 
to face financial challenges and remains as one of the lowest funded county councils in England. We will 
therefore need to adopt a more innovative approach to increasing income and working in partnership with 
partners and communities to explore funding, sponsorships and donations as well as developing a more robust 
approach to volunteering. This strategy sets out a framework for how we are going to make it happen and we 
hope that you will participate in delivering and supporting it.

138



T0
57

0

139



This page is intentionally left blank



A 
 

 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 27 JANUARY 2020 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
HS2 THROUGH LEICESTERSHIRE 

Purpose of report 

1. The purpose of this report is to:  

 provide members with an update on the Government’s proposals for high speed 
rail through Leicestershire including the forward programme, subject to the 
Government review of the High Speed 2 (HS2) rail project;  

 provide information on the Council’s approach to achieving the maximum 
benefits for Leicestershire from HS2;   

 provide an overview of the Government hybrid Bill process; and highlight why it 
is important for the County Council to have a voice in the development and 
delivery of HS2 to realise its benefits. 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

2. In March 2016, the Cabinet considered the outcome of joint work undertaken by the 
Council, Leicester City Council and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership (LLEP) to develop a draft ‘The Leicester and Leicestershire Rail Strategy’ 
(including HS2) and approved an engagement exercise on the draft Strategy. At the 
same time, it resolved to revise the Council’s position on HS2 through the County to 
one of support in principle, subject to certain caveats. 

3. In October 2018 the Cabinet received a report outlining the future requirements of the 
development of HS2 Phase 2b route through Leicestershire and the implications this 
might have for the Council.  The Cabinet agreed that the County Council would take 
a full proactive approach to engage with HS2 Ltd and provided a dedicated resource 
to seek mitigation from the new railway’s impacts.  The Cabinet also agreed to 
authorise the Director of Environment and Transport, following appropriate 
consultation, to respond on behalf of the Council to requests and consultations from 
HS2 Ltd. 

Background 

4. High Speed 2 (HS2) is currently the largest rail infrastructure project in Europe and is 
a key piece of new rail infrastructure for the UK. Intended to be the backbone of the 
rail network, it will directly connect eight out of ten of Britain’s largest cities and is 
expected to create numerous economic benefits for the UK. The railway is being 
developed in phases: Phase 1 will connect London with Birmingham; Phase 2a will 
connect Birmingham with Manchester and Phase 2b will connect Birmingham with 
Leeds (Appendix A). Part of Phase 2b passes through Leicestershire. 

141 Agenda Item 13



 

5. HS2 Phase 1 was given Royal Assent in February 2017, and in late 2019 enabling 
works (such as ecological mitigation, archaeological investigations, ground surveys 
and site clearance) were at an advanced stage. Subject to the Government HS2 
review, the award of main work contracts for this phase is imminent.  

6. The Secretary of State for Transport confirmed the HS2 Phase 2b route in July 2017, 
30km of which passes through Leicestershire in the north west of the county as 
shown in Appendix B. 

7. In October 2018, HS2 Ltd consulted on a working draft Environmental Statement and 
a working draft Environmental Impact Assessment. Under delegated powers 
approved by Cabinet, later in October 2018, the County Council response to this 
consultation was submitted in December 2018. 

8. A hybrid Bill for HS2 Phase 2a is passing through the Parliamentary process. The 
Select Committee’s hearings of petitions were paused due to the General Election; at 
the time of writing this report, the Phase 2a hybrid Bill process remains paused.  

9. In June 2019, The Secretary of State for Transport announced a route refinement 
consultation. The design realignment proposals included changes that would affect 
Leicestershire.  This route refinement consultation was considered by the Cabinet at 
its meeting on 25 June 2019. A County Council response was submitted under 
delegated powers by the Director of Environment and Transport to the Government 
ahead of the 6 September consultation closure, and the response is published on the 
County Council website.  

10. On 21 August 2019, the Government announced an independent review into HS2 
programme. The review led by Douglas Oakervee (former HS2 chair 2012 to 2014, 
Crossrail director 2005-2009) is known as the Oakervee Review. The review is to 
provide evidence to facilitate an informed Government decision on how (or not) both 
HS2 Phase 1 and Phase 2 should proceed.  

11. Should the Government decide that HS2 will proceed, it is anticipated that the hybrid 
Bill for HS2 Phase 2b will be deposited with Parliament in the summer 2020. The 
construction and commissioning of Phase 2b of the new railway is currently 
scheduled to take place between 2023 and 2033. At the present time, HS2 Ltd are 
not able to provide exact timescales for when the building works will pass through 
Leicestershire. However, the County needs to be prepared for the estimated 7 years 
of main civil engineering construction phase, that is likely to cause significant 
disruption in Leicestershire.  

Leicestershire HS2 Vision 

12. HS2 is possibly the most significant transport infrastructure project in Leicestershire 
since the M1 and East Midlands Airport opened in the mid-1960s.  Construction of 
the new railway will bring many economic benefits and growth opportunities both 
during construction and once opened. It will also have an impact on local 
communities such as loss of homes, businesses and disruption to local travel routes 
and delivery of services covering all walks of life. Its construction has the potential to 
severely impact on virtually every service that the authority provides, to disrupt many 
aspects of wider public service delivery and impact on local communities and 
businesses. 

142



 

13. Leicestershire County Council is seeking out opportunities that come with the 
introduction of HS2 for the benefit of Leicestershire as a whole. This therefore 
requires different levels of engagement and interaction with stakeholders to enable 
the communities of Leicestershire to minimise the impacts of the new railway and 
benefit where possible from the investment that this construction project will bring. 
The Council is currently engaging regularly with regional stakeholders through the 
East Midlands Councils HS2 Partnership. 

14. The East Midlands HS2 Partnership was set up in response to HS2 proposals. 
Subsequently the East Midlands Growth Strategy (published September 2017) set 
out objectives to produce a delivery focussed programme of work whose governance 
spans across the key councils impacted by HS2 within the East Midlands region 
(Appendix C).  

Leicestershire HS2 Objectives 

15. Reflecting the County Council strategic outcomes and considering these alongside 
the aims of the East Midlands HS2 Growth Strategy, officers have developed four 
key objectives as follows: 

 Mitigation  

 Economy  

 Communication  

 Sustainability. 

16. These objectives aim to assist the County Council to achieve maximum benefits for 
Leicestershire from HS2 Phase 2b and to minimise the impacts of the rail line during 
construction and longer-term operation. Further detail on how Leicestershire will 
prioritise work activities in relation to these objectives is detailed in Appendix E. 
More detail on how these objectives can be delivered is set out below. 

Delivering these objectives 

17. As mentioned above in paragraph 3, the decision to allocate a dedicated resource for 
a proactive approach to HS2 was made by the Cabinet in October 2018. The Cabinet 
agreed to fund a dedicated team to work across all Departments, lead negotiations 
with HS2 Ltd, engage with wider county and regional stakeholders and steer the 
Council through the forthcoming hybrid Bill process. This level of engagement was 
recommended by other county councils (such as Warwickshire and 
Buckinghamshire) which have been through the hybrid Bill process as part of phase 
1 of HS2. The County Council’s internal governance structure for HS2 is set out in 
appendix D. 

The hybrid Bill 

Legal process  

18. Hybrid Bills are used to combine elements of public and private bills which means 
they apply generally but also have an effect on specific groups of people or specific 
places. They are generally used to secure powers to construct and operate major 
infrastructure projects of national importance. These bills have been used in the past 
on projects such as the Channel Tunnel rail link, Cross Rail and the Severn Bridges.  

143



 

19. HS2 Ltd (the developer) will use a hybrid Bill to acquire the powers to build the new 
High Speed Railway in the UK. They are currently working towards deposit of a 
hybrid Bill for Phase 2b in Parliament in the summer of 2020. They are following a 
process of consultation with key stakeholders such as the County Council ahead of 
this Bill deposit; the County Council has provided formal responses to consultations 
in 2018 and 2019. HS2 Ltd’s current timeframes for the HS2 Phase 2b hybrid Bill 
process are set out below:  

 

 2020   Summer: Hybrid Bill deposit expected 

 2023   Royal Assent (design fixed) 

 2023    Site clearance and construction start 

 2025 to 2031  Main civil engineering works  

 2031 to 2033  Commissioning and testing of rail infrastructure  

 2033   First passenger trains operate. 

 

20. However, it should be noted that:  

 the exact date of Bill deposit is unknown and the County Council will receive no a)
advance notification of this from HS2 Ltd,  

 although there was a draft environmental statement consultation in 2018 and b)
HS2 Ltd has been developing its designs with key stakeholders since that time, 
the Council will not see the final Environmental Statement prior to its 
submission. 

21. When the hybrid Bill is deposited in Parliament this follows a formal process as set 
out below in Appendix F. 

22. The hybrid Bill will contain within it all the design proposals and supporting 
documentation on how HS2 Ltd proposes to build the railway (similar to an outline 
planning application). The first reading triggers a consultation period which typically 
lasts eight weeks. At this point the documents will be released and as described 
above this will be the first time the Council has full sight of their content. Any queries 
or issues that the Council has as a potential petitioner (for the purposes of the 
Parliamentary process the Council is known as a petitioner) with the design 
proposals, can be highlighted to HS2 Ltd and negotiations may be undertaken to 
resolve some of these issues.  

23. This eight week consultation period closes with the consideration of the Bill at the 
second reading stage. This then triggers the petitioning period, although there may 
be a slight gap between the second reading and start of the petitioning period due to 
other parliamentary business. Advice from neighbouring authorities involved with 
phase 1 of HS2 (London to Birmingham) is that this period typically lasts four weeks 
(timescale defined within the second reading). The second reading will establish the 
principles and key features of the Bill that cannot be petitioned. During the four week 
petitioning period petitioners must establish and submit which issues they wish to 
resolve with the developer through petition. These will then be considered by 
Parliament by a Select Committee.  

144



 

24. The Select Committee process timeframes are currently unknown but expected to be 
lengthy (possibly up to four years). The hybrid Bill process goes through both the 
House of Commons and the House of Lords. It is an iterative process depending on 
any new issues raised. The length of the process allows a petitioner to, if so advised, 
respond to any changes HS2 might make, e.g. revised designs.  

25. As described above, the outcome of the HS2 hybrid Bill process is an Act of 
Parliament that as legislation will give HS2 Ltd the power to construct the new railway 
and associated infrastructure. The process also generates a series of ‘Assurances 
and Undertakings’ that govern the way that the new infrastructure is implemented. 
Assurances are akin to planning conditions, whereas Undertakings are legal 
obligations to do something very specific or provide a financial contribution akin to a 
s106 Agreement. Any issues that are agreed between HS2 Ltd and the County 
Council, either informally during consultation or formally by the Select Committee, 
form the Assurances and Undertakings.  

26. The type of subjects Assurances and Undertakings are likely to cover include: traffic 
management control; replacement of lost assets; restrictions on construction 
activities; restriction on traffic flows, construction and heavy goods vehicles; seeking 
appropriate funding for HS2 monitoring activities; seeking assurance that main 
contractor consults in design matters; provision of specific features or mitigation 
measures; provision of resources to deal with planning, highway and other consents 
required for HS2; that HS2 Ltd appoint community engagement personnel; specifying 
how HS2 Ltd manage and mitigate changes to the natural environment (e.g. 
biodiversity, heritage and landscape matters). 

27. For HS2 Phase 1, there were around 2,800 Assurances and Undertakings secured 
through the hybrid Bill process. There were 275 ‘general Assurances and 
Undertakings that covered route wide / general issues – i.e. more than one 
organisation had sought that assurance. Taking the two most comparable county 
authorities affected, Warwickshire County Council (with approximately 35km of HS2 
Ph1) secured 57 specific Assurances and Undertakings, and Buckinghamshire 
County Council (with approximately 70km of HS2 Phs1) secured 129 specific 
Assurances. These Assurances are published by the Government on the internet.  

Ensuring the County Council’s objectives are met - petitioning 

28. In order to be heard at the hybrid Bill process stage, an individual or organisation 
must ‘petition’ the hybrid Bill.  The meaning of petition in this instance is to make a 
formal request for something. petitioning is a requirement of the legislative process in 
order to subsequently be able to have representation at the hybrid Bill stage, and to 
secure Assurances and Undertakings as outlined above28. If the County Council 
does not petition and secure appropriate Assurances and Undertakings during the 
hybrid Bill process, there is no later opportunity to shape and influence the HS2 
proposals and how they are delivered.   

29. From reviewing previous proceedings, it is likely that the select committee will only 
hear from petitioners that are specifically and particularly affected. This effectively 
means that a body can only petition on matters where they are the statutory body or 
where land ownership/or a service they provide is directly affected.  

30. The Council’s approach to the hybrid Bill and its requirements to be included in any 
petition need to be agreed by the full Council. This is to comply with section 239 of 

145

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/formal
https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/request


 

the Local Government Act 1972. This requires that “A resolution of a local authority to 
promote or oppose a Bill…. shall be passed by a majority of the whole number of the 
members of the authority at a meeting of the authority held after the requisite notice 
of the meeting”  

31. Consideration by the full Council cannot take place before the hybrid Bill is deposited 
in parliament. Though anticipated (subject to the current review process) that this will 
be Summer 2020, the precise date of the deposit is not known, and may not be 
known until a week beforehand. In addition, before the full Council meeting is held, 
ten clear days’ notice must be provided by advertisement in the local press (a 
minimum of one local newspaper circulating in the area of the authority).  This notice 
must be given in addition to the ordinary notice required to be given for convening a 
full Council meeting.   It is hoped that this anticipated timing will fall in line with 
planned full Council meetings, but this may not be the case, and a special meeting 
may be needed.  

32. To prepare members for this tight timeframe and the possibility of a special full 
Council meeting, a report will be submitted to the Cabinet in May 2020. This report 
will further detail the Parliamentary timescale known at that time and seek delegated 
powers to the Director in conjunction with other appropriate Chief Officers to develop 
the County Council Assurances and Undertakings that the Council proposes to 
include in its petition, should they not be included within the design that accompanies 
the hybrid Bill. The report will also seek delegated powers to negotiate with HS2 Ltd, 
to secure outcomes highlighted later in this report (see ‘Financial Implications).   

Select Committee 

33. The Council will not be given the dates of when they will appear before the 
Committee until after the petition period has concluded. The County Council 
proposes to use specialist lawyers (Parliamentary Agents) to assist Legal Services 
with regard to the petition and to support any attendance by Council officers before 
any Select Committee.  

Next steps  

Preparing for the hybrid Bill process 

34. In order to prepare for hybrid Bill deposit officers are drafting a broad list of 
requirements for the HS2 proposals which will form the Council’s ‘Assurances and 
Undertakings’. This list will include items such as mitigating the impacts of the 
construction of the railway line on local communities affected; reducing the impact on 
local roads e.g., from HGVs involved in the construction process and ensuring vital 
links to local amenities are maintained at all times. The Council’s dedicated HS2 
team is currently working across all Departments within the Authority to scrutinise 
previous design consultations and ensure all aspects of the railway development 
have been covered within this list. The list will also include all requests and 
comments to HS2 Ltd from the Council’s previous consultation responses. 

35. Having a comprehensive list of requirements ready ahead of the hybrid Bill deposit 
will best prepare the County Council for the restricted timeframe before the 
petitioning period closes. It must be emphasised that if the Council has not prepared 
a petition with the required Assurances and Undertakings the opportunity to influence 

146



 

HS2 will be lost. The list will allow officers to follow a check list of requirements and 
identify quickly and efficiently those that are not included in HS2 proposals.  

36. In January 2020 Council officers are working with North West Leicestershire District 
Council to deliver a series of hybrid Bill awareness sessions to parish councils and 
residents associations affected by HS2 proposals. These awareness sessions are to 
highlight the hybrid Bill process so they are better prepared if they chose to petition 
and to clarify that the County Council cannot petition on their behalf. 

Engaging with the hybrid Bill process 

37. The prior preparations outlined in paragraph 34 will equip council officers to engage 
with the hybrid Bill process including representing the Council through appearance at 
Select Committee when required, negotiations with HS2 on Assurances and 
Undertakings, seeking Additional Provisions (to amend the design during the bill 
process) continued liaison with partners and stakeholders. Whilst attendance at 
select committee may be a handful of weeks over the three year hybrid Bill process 
period, negotiations with HS2 Ltd over various Assurances and Undertakings will 
continue in parallel in the background. 

During construction 

38. Subject to the Assurances and Undertakings secured, the County Council will have a 
regulatory role approving proposals and designs for elements of the HS2 project 
where the County Council is the statutory body. This could include, for example, 
traffic management plans and roadwork methodology and duration, drainage design 
and works methodology for temporary and permanent works affecting ordinary 
watercourses, detailed design and material specification for new and amended 
highways. 

Financial Implications 

Benefits 

39. It is expected that by having proactive engagement with HS2 Ltd, a number of 
significant benefits could be realised. These might include, for example: 

 Making the most of HS2 Ltd skills and training programmes, to seek that a)
these programmes are rolled out through Leicestershire education providers. 

 Ensure that Leicestershire Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) have b)
opportunities to win HS2 related contracts. This is being facilitated by close 
working with the East Midlands Chamber. 

 Working with ecological and environmental partners, to enhance the natural c)
environment and minimise impacts on climate change, and seek additional 
measures beyond the HS2 base-provision where possible. 

 Highway infrastructure enhancements to facilitate HS2 construction and reduce d)
the impact of construction traffic on county roads. For example, temporary 
north-east facing slip roads added to A42 J14, which is expected to help 
remove construction traffic from villages in the vicinity of this junction.  

147



 

 Avoiding 12-month long road closures on key county roads (as originally e)
proposed by HS2 Ltd). Traffic modelling work shows that over £5m economic 
dis-benefit will be avoided. Working with HS2 Ltd to ensure that any road 
closures are kept to an absolute minimum, and that adequate advance 
notification of disruptive work is given. 

 Seeking a ‘classic compatible’ connection of the Midland Mainline at the f)
proposed high-speed rail station at Toton, giving more journey choices for 
Leicestershire residents and businesses.  

 In connection with the above, continuing to make the case for full g)
electrification of the Midland Mainline. This will give ‘classic compatible’ high 
speed trains direct access between the Midland Mainline and the high-speed 
rail network, avoiding the need to change trains at Toton. This will facilitate 
direct trains from Leicestershire stations to northern stations connected to the 
high-speed network.  

 Seeking infrastructure investment in the Ivanhoe Line to help clear the way h)
for possible future permanent use that could help bring back passenger 
services. 

 Ensuring damage caused to County maintained infrastructure (by HS2 works i)
contractors) is swiftly repaired, and that altered and new highways do not leave 
a legacy maintenance burden on the County Council.  

 Seeking continuity of the public rights of way network both during j)
construction, and that future altered routes provide the same or better 
community and recreational links that exist today. 

 Ensuring the proposed Ashby Canal restoration route is protected, avoiding k)
the need for future additional infrastructure costs (i.e. locks to navigate the 
canal under the new HS2 line). In response to Leicestershire representations, 
HS2 Ltd have amended their design to allow for this. Work will continue to seek 
further measures that will benefit the future Ashby Canal restoration.  

 Providing for the continued operation of County Council owned premises l)
(in particular at the Westminster Industrial estate in Measham where a number 
of start-up industrial units are earmarked for demolition under HS2 proposals) 
and seeking longer term development opportunities (subject to normal planning 
processes) arising from HS2 construction. 

 Making the most of additional grants and funds associated with HS2, m)
either directly by the County Council or by signposting partners and other 
stakeholders to these opportunities.  

40. Where possible, these benefits will be monetised over the development and delivery 
of the HS2 project. The aim is to secure around £1million additional benefit per 
kilometre of HS2 track (approx. £30million), over and above that which would have 
been provided by the HS2 project, had the County Council not taken a proactive 
approach.  

148



 

Costs 

41. At its meeting on 16 October 2018, the Cabinet resolved to adopt a proactive 
approach to HS2 proposals and budgeted £400,000 to facilitate this.  This budget 
provides for responding to Government HS2 consultations, providing input to future 
work to develop the proposals in more detail (including input into the Parliamentary 
process) and dealing with the associated impacts such as highway infrastructure 
changes and construction implications.  

Timescales 

 

 January 2020:  Parish Councils hybrid Bill awareness sessions 

 27th Jan 2020: Scrutiny Commission 

 22nd May 2020: Cabinet (planned) 

 June 2020: Hybrid Bill deposit (anticipated) triggers 8 week Petitioning 
Process   

 Summer 2020: Petitioning considered by Full Council 

 Winter 2020:  Select Committee process begins (anticipated). 

Conclusions 

 
42. This report outlines the work required for the process of engaging with the HS2 

hybrid Bill. 

43. For the reasons outlines in this report It is important for the County Council to have a 
voice in the development and delivery of HS2. This voice is needed whether or not 
members support or oppose the HS2 proposals. In order to have this voice a majority 
vote of Full Council will be required to enable formal petitioning to take place.  

Background papers 

 
County Council – 20 February 2013 – HS2 Notice of Motion: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3720&Ver=4 
 
Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 28 November 2013 – 
HS2 Consultation: Proposed response on Implications for Leicestershire: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=3889&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet – 15 January 2014 – High Speed Rail (HS2) Phase 2: West Midlands to Leeds 
HS2 Consultation: Proposed response on Implications for Leicestershire: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3986&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet – 1 March 2016 – Development of a rail strategy for Leicester and 
Leicestershire: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4600&Ver=4 
 
Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 9 June 2016 – Draft Rail 
Strategy for Leicester and Leicestershire: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4482&Ver=4 
 

149

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3720&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=3889&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3986&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4600&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4482&Ver=4


 

Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 19 January 2017 – HS2 
update: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4929&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet – 10 February 2017 – Development of Rail Strategy (including HS2) for Leicester 
and Leicestershire 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4858&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet – 10 October 2017 – Delivery of Leicester and Leicestershire Rail Strategy 
(including HS2) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4864&Ver=4 
 
East Midlands HS2 Growth Strategy 
https://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/East_Midlands_HS2_Growth_Strategy_-
_September_2017.pdf  

 
HS2 Phase 2b consultation on Working Draft Environmental Statement (WDES) and 
Working Draft Equalities Impact Assessment (WDEQIA) consultation – October 2018 
WDES: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-
environmental-statement-volume-2-community-area-reports 
WDEQIA: https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-
equality-impact-assessment-report 
 
Cabinet – 16 October 2018 – HS2 Phase 2b 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5184 (item 211) 

 
LCC response to WDES & WDEQIA consultation – December 2018 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/high-speed-two-hs2/our-decisions 
 
Cabinet – 25 June 2019 – HS2 Phase 2B Design Refinement Consultation 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5604 (item 296) 
 
County Council HS2 webpage (including Design refinement consultation response  
www.Leicestershire.gov.uk/HS2. 
 
HS2 Ltd – Phase 2b working draft Equality Impact Assessment Report consultation 
outcome summary – June 2019 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-equality-impact-
assessment-report 
 
HS2 Ltd – Environmental Impact Assessments consultation outcome summary – June 
2019 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-environmental-impact-
assessment-scope-and-methodology-report 
 
Government published HS2 Phase One register of undertakings and assurances: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-speed-rail-london-west-midlands-bill-
register-of-undertakings-and-assurances 
 

Officers to Contact 

Ian Vears, Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 

150

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4929&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4858&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4864&Ver=4
https://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/East_Midlands_HS2_Growth_Strategy_-_September_2017.pdf
https://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/East_Midlands_HS2_Growth_Strategy_-_September_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-environmental-statement-volume-2-community-area-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-environmental-statement-volume-2-community-area-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-equality-impact-assessment-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-equality-impact-assessment-report
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5184
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/high-speed-two-hs2/our-decisions
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5604
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/HS2
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-equality-impact-assessment-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hs2-phase-2b-working-draft-equality-impact-assessment-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-environmental-impact-assessment-scope-and-methodology-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2b-environmental-impact-assessment-scope-and-methodology-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-speed-rail-london-west-midlands-bill-register-of-undertakings-and-assurances
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-speed-rail-london-west-midlands-bill-register-of-undertakings-and-assurances


 

0116 3057966 
ian.vears@leics.gov.uk 
 
Bernard Evans, HS2 Programme Lead 
0116 3056834 
bernard.evans@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jenny Allen, HS2 Project Manager 
0116 3057931 
Jenny.allen@leics.gov.uk  

Relevant Impact Assessments 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
44. HS2 Ltd carries out its own Equalities and Human Rights impact assessments which 

can be found on its website. As part of the working draft environmental statement 
which was consulted on in December 2019 the County Council submitted comments 
to HS2 Ltd on its equalities documents.  
 

45. Officers continue to work and advise with HS2 Ltd with any local equalities 
knowledge and to ensure that their data and research covers all aspects in the 
impacted parts of Leicestershire. 

 

Environmental Implications 

 
46. HS2 Ltd has carried out its own Environmental Impact Assessments which the 

County Council had the opportunity to comment on as part of the Working Draft 
Environment Statement consultation in December 2018.  
 

47. The County Council continues to work with HS2 Ltd to advise on and champion local 
environmental strategies and objectives; and where possible use mitigation of the 
railway development to enhance and support the natural environment. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
48. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted in the preparation of this 

report and has advised regarding the explanation of the hybrid Bill Parliamentary 
process. 
 
 

151

mailto:ian.vears@leics.gov.uk
mailto:bernard.evans@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jenny.allen@leics.gov.uk


 

Appendix A: Plan of HS2 
 

  

152



 

Appendix B: HS2 through Leicestershire  
 
 

 
  

153



 

Appendix C: East Midlands HS2 Partnership governance structure – taken from the East 
Midlands HS2 Growth Strategy. 
 

 
  

154



 

Appendix D: Leicestershire Internal HS2 Governance 

49. In order to realise the County Council HS2 objectives, Leicestershire County Council 
has an internal governance structure in place. This has an overview of Leicestershire 
activities relating to HS2. It brings together expertise from across the organisation to 
consolidate a single County Council approach to HS2, and to ensure Leicestershire 
gains the maximum benefits out of the railway development whilst reducing the dis-
benefits during the construction period. 

50. This governance structure (Figure 1.) also facilitates effective proactive engage with 
HS2 Ltd and helps support our partners through linkages to the wider East Midlands 
HS2 Governance.  

Figure 1: Leicestershire County Council - internal HS2 Governance 

 

51. As planning for the new railway through Leicestershire will affect all departments 
within the Council, a central LCC (HS2) Programme Board is essential to steer 
various activities and make or escalate decisions as appropriate. This Board has a 
representative from each department who is able to report relevant information into 
their DMT for cascade down to the appropriate service areas and teams to action as 
and when necessary. This mechanism ensures information is disseminated as 
appropriate whilst allowing the Board to make decisions centrally. The Board is 
chaired by the Assistant Director (Development and Growth) of the Environment and 
Transport Dept. Individual work streams and projects feed into this Board, update on 
progress and take decisions for discussion and agreement. 

  

155



 

52. The County Council facilitates and manages the LCC (HS2) Programme Board 
through a dedicated team. The funding of this team was given Cabinet approval on 
the 16 October 2018. The HS2 team is hosted by the Environment and Transport 
Department (E&T) and reports into the E&T Directorate with an escalation route to 
the Chief Executive when needed.  

53. In recognising the importance of HS2, the Cabinet has a nominated Lead Member for 
Growth and Infrastructure with a specific remit for HS2.  This Lead Member can 
advise Cabinet when decisions or updates are necessary.  

54. The Board disseminates information up through the E&T Directorate and Lead 
Member to the relevant external governance structure already in place in the East 
Midlands for HS2.  

Leicestershire County Council HS2 staffing resource 

55. The costs outlined in paragraph 41 cover both direct County Council staff costs and 
additional consultancy support costs that will be required from time to time 
throughout HS2 development, such as specialist technical advice and support from 
Parliamentary Agents though the hybrid Bill Select Committee process. This resource 
will also be closely involved in finalising the required the Assurances and 
Undertakings. In the longer term the resource will also coordinate and provide good 
communication about HS2 activities in the run up to, and during construction.   

56. Officers in the HS2 team have been in post since 1st February 2019. Tasks beyond 
the above are to facilitate the Leicestershire governance model; to co-ordinate the 
Leicestershire response to the HS2 rail proposals; and to deliver the County Council 
HS2 objectives. This is being done whilst working alongside partners, residents, 
communities and businesses to achieve maximum benefits for Leicestershire and the 
wider East Midlands area. These officers will continue to work with HS2 Ltd to 
minimise dis-benefits of the construction impacts and the finished rail infrastructure 
by seeking appropriate mitigation measures.  

57. These officers co-ordinate the expertise already within the County Council to ensure 
a unified and consistent position on the HS2 proposals. They take a lead role in 
facilitating communication channels between partner organisations, wider 
stakeholders and HS2 Ltd to provide collaborative responses to requests for 
information and responses to consultation. Where necessary - and in response to 
HS2 Ltd requests - the team will commission additional expert technical resource to 
support the County Council’s response to these proposals. 

 

156



 

Appendix E 

Leicestershire County Council’s key objectives in response to HS2 

MITIGATION: to proactively seek mitigation of the impacts caused by HS2 during 
construction and in operation of the new railway 

58. Construction of HS2 will include loss of homes and business premises along the line 
of the proposed route. The Council will provide information and guidance to 
residents, businesses and partners in the community areas affected by the HS2 
works, to make them aware of the potential impacts caused by the construction 
process and where there are longer term legacy impacts of the future railway.  

59. There will be destruction of habitats (such as woodland, hedgerows) causing impacts 
on the local environment and landscape. However, the new railway line will also 
create opportunities for some new habitats through planting and landscaping works. 
The Council will work with HS2 Ltd to ensure there is no net loss of habitat and 
ensure that net gain for biodiversity is achieved where possible; new habitat creation 
is appropriate for the existing Leicestershire environment; and that where possible 
enhancements to existing habitats are implemented.  

60. The Council will work with HS2 Ltd to protect, investigate and promote 
Leicestershire’s heritage, including historic buildings, buried and earthwork 
archaeological remains and historic landscapes. On-going assessment will continue 
to build upon an existing understanding of the historic environment, while mitigation 
measures will provide for its protection and, where appropriate, prior investigation, 
recording, archiving and public accessibility and interpretation. 

61. The Council will work with HS2 to seek to minimise the carbon impacts of the 
construction and operation of the railway to support the commitments within the 
Council’s climate emergency declaration.  

62. The construction process will cause significant disruption to transport networks near 
to the line. This will include closure of roads and diversions which will affect business, 
employment and personal travel. It will impact on peoples’ daily lives including 
accessibility to vital services such as health care and education. In addition there will 
be significant increased construction traffic on local road networks to bring and 
remove materials to and from site. There will also be the influx of a transient 
workforce to undertake the building works, many of which are likely to take up weekly 
residency in Leicestershire near to the main works.  

63. The Council will work proactively with HS2 Ltd to seek to minimise the impacts of the 
construction process on road networks as much as possible. We are working with 
HS2 Ltd to input local knowledge and expertise to their plans which will help with 
scheduling and operating necessary traffic management during the construction 
process. We will also work with HS2 Ltd to influence decisions which will reduce 
impacts of the future operational railway on the road network as far as possible. We 
will also work to influence any provision of temporary worker accommodation – 
including its location and provision of necessary services to its workforce where 
appropriate.  

157



 

64. The disruption caused by construction and operation of the new railway may also 
have an effect on people’s health and wellbeing due to the large scale change in 
some local communities caused by the new railway. The Council will support 
communities and Parish Councils to try and influence HS2 Ltd to consider this during 
their planning phase and provide the appropriate mitigations for those affected by the 
process.  

ECONOMY: facilitating and enabling housing and economic growth for 
Leicestershire 

65. The new high-speed rail infrastructure is expected to act as a catalyst for economic 
growth, particularly in areas radiating out from new stations. For the East Midlands 
the new HS2 station is located in Toton (east of M1 J25, in South Derbyshire) which 
has the potential for good connectivity to Leicestershire. For the west midlands there 
will be a new interchange station in Birmingham providing the link to London. This will 
have wider economic benefits possibly extending into the south of the County.  

66. The Council will to work with its partners to support the wider regional aims to draw in 
the economic benefits expected from HS2, e.g. developing skills and training within 
the region which may be needed to support the new infrastructure. The County 
Council will work to ensure that these benefits are maximised to their full potential for 
the residents and businesses of Leicestershire.  

COMMUNICATION: facilitating wider communication on HS2 

67. The Council aims to provide support to its partners and service users through 
strengthening the communications network between Leicestershire and HS2 Ltd and 
acting as a conduit between wider regional groups and local partnerships.  

68. The Council will provide guidance to Parish Councils and local communities to assist 
them in their communications with HS2 Ltd and to prepare for the hybrid Bill process. 

69. The Council will also provide a leadership role for Leicestershire - consolidating the 
view of the Council, its Partners, Leicestershire’s businesses and local communities 
to provide a pro-active and co-ordinated approach to high speed rail proposals and 
seeking to maximise the level of mitigation that HS2 Ltd will provide. 

SUSTAINABILITY: building on the legacy of HS2 and ensuring future generations 
benefit from it positively 

70. The Council seeks to be assured by HS2 Ltd that the works undertaken to deliver 
HS2 are sustainable, in terms of:- 

 any future maintenance is achievable without causing the Council, its a)
Stakeholders and residents’ additional costs or responsibility outside that which 
has been previously agreed with HS2 Ltd; 

 ensure that HS2 does not have a negative impact on the road network capacity; b)
allows for growth where appropriate as a result of HS2 being a catalyst for 
development; and that it does not physically constrain planned future long-term 
growth within the County and surrounding areas;  

158



 

 ensure that HS2 does not have a negative or constraining impact on the c)
capacity of the existing rail network, and that HS2 complements this where 
possible; 

 ensure that negative effects on the built and natural environment are minimised d)
and suitable mitigation measures are implemented; 

 the legacy of HS2 will develop skills and expertise in the region, enhance the e)
local economy in a sustainable manner and be appreciated by future 
generations. 

  

159



 

Appendix F 

B
ill

 D
ep

os
it

 
Fi

rs
t 

R
ea

di
ng

Se
co

nd
 

R
ea

d
in

g
Pe

ti
ti

on
in

g 
Pe

ri
od

Se
le

ct
 

C
om

m
it

te
e

Pu
bl

ic
 B

ill
 

C
om

m
it

te
e/

C
om

m
it

te
e 

o
f t

he
 

W
h

ol
e 

H
o

us
e

R
ep

or
t 

an
d 

Th
ir

d 
R

ea
d

in
g

B
ill

 in
tr

o 
&

 
Pe

ti
ti

on
in

g 
Pe

ri
od

Se
co

nd
 

R
ea

di
ng

Se
le

ct
 

C
om

m
it

te
e

C
om

m
it

te
e 

o
f 

th
e 

W
ho

le
 

H
o

us
e

R
ep

or
t 

&
 T

hi
rd

 
R

ea
di

ng

C
om

m
on

s 
C

on
si

de
ra

ti
on

 o
f 

Lo
rd

s 
A

m
en

dm
en

ts

R
oy

al
 A

ss
en

t

C
o

m
m

o
n

s

Lo
rd

s

Pl
us

 s
up

po
rt

in
g 

d
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
A

ut
ho

ri
se

s 
Pr

in
ti

n
g 

o
f 

B
ill

Es
ta

bl
is

he
s 

Pr
in

ci
p

le
s 

&
 K

ey
 

Fe
at

ur
es

 t
ha

t 
ca

n
n

o
t 

b
e 

pe
ti

ti
on

ed

Le
ng

th
 d

ef
in

ed
 

af
te

r 
Se

co
n

d
 

Re
ad

in
g

H
ea

rs
 

p
et

it
io

n
e

rs
 a

n
d

 
de

ci
de

s 
on

 
m

at
te

rs
 r

ai
se

d
 

in
 p

et
it

io
ns

M
P�

s 
m

ay
 t

ab
le

 
am

en
d

m
en

ts

H
o

u
se

 c
o

n
si

d
e

rs
 B

ill
 

an
d 

m
ay

 a
m

en
d 

or
 

re
ve

rs
e 

co
m

m
it

te
e 

ch
an

ge
s

In
tr

o
d

u
ce

d
 t

o 
th

e 
Lo

rd
s 

A
s 

ab
o

ve
Fu

rt
h

er
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

fo
r 

o
b

je
ct

o
rs

 t
o 

ap
p

ea
r 

b
ef

o
re

 S
e

le
ct

 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

Fu
rt

h
er

 
am

en
dm

en
ts

 
ca

n
 b

e 
m

ad
e

A
s 

ab
o

ve

 

160


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2019.
	8 Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2023/24.
	Appendix A - 2020-24 MTFS summary (002)
	Appendix B - Corp  Central Items  2020-21 revenue budget (002)
	Appendix C- Earmarked Funds Policy
	Appendix D - Insurance Policy
	Appendix E - Capital Prog 2020-24 (002)
	Appendix F - Capital Strategy

	9 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2023/24 - Chief Executive's Department.
	CE MTFS Appendix A
	CE MTFS Appendix B
	CE MTFS Appendix C

	10 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2023/24 - Corporate Resources Department.
	CR MTFS Appendix A
	CR MTFS Appendix B
	CR MTFS Appendix C
	CR MTFS Appendix D

	12 Country Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2019 - 2020.
	Country Parks Appendix A
	Country Parks Appendix B

	13 HS2 through Leicestershire.

